Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia: From dilemmas to strategies

Yvonne Clark

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

June 2017



SCHOOL OF PSYCHOLOGY

UNIVERSITY OF ADELAIDE
SOUTH AUSTRALIA

Declaration

I certify that this work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in my name, in any university or tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text.

In addition, I certify that no part of this work will, in the future, be used in a submission in my name, for any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution without prior approval of the University of Adelaide and where applicable, any partner institution responsible for the joint award of this degree.

I give consent to this copy of my thesis when deposited in the University Library, being made available for loan and photocopying, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

The author acknowledges that copyright of published works contained within this thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of those works.

I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library Search and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

Yvonne Clark

14/06/2017

Abstract

This thesis critically examines the concept of lateral violence in the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia. Lateral violence describes how members of oppressed groups direct their dissatisfaction inward, toward themselves and those less powerful within their community. Lateral violence is believed to be an issue within Indigenous communities in Australia; however there is limited research to verify this as lateral violence is a relatively under researched area. Moreover, this term has been applied to Indigenous communities in Australia with little consultation. This research draws on theories of oppression, racism, stigma, social representation, coping, and identity to critically analyse and evaluate the concept of lateral violence (see chapter 1). In order to understand lateral violence in the local South Australian context and listen to Aboriginal people's voices on the topic, two studies were conducted for this research utilising an Indigenous methodology as a guiding framework with a mixed methods approach combining quantitative and qualitative methods (see chapter 2).

Study 1 draws primarily on interviews with 30 local Aboriginal participants examining their understandings and ideas about lateral violence. Prior to the interviews most participants (n=21) completed two wellbeing scales. These were the Kessler-5 (K-5) which measured levels of psychological distress over the preceding four weeks, and the Negative Life Events scales (NLES) which measured the levels of negative stressors for a person over the previous 12 months. These scales were utilised to gain insight into participants' wellbeing and association with experiences of lateral violence. A thematic analysis was utilised to draw out participants' themes on lateral violence.

The results from the wellbeing scales indicated that overall participants were moderately distressed with just under a third (29%) scoring in the high to very high category of psychological distress. Those who scored high on psychological distress corresponded with a high number of life stressors. Further, many participants with high distress levels relayed traumatic and distressing extracts of lateral violence and were exposed to a number of negative life events. Interviews with participants identified 16 overall themes that were drawn upon when talking about lateral violence. This can be grouped into three broad recurring themes that included: perceptions and labelling of lateral violence; detrimental effects of lateral violence; and coping strategies and prevention of lateral violence. These broad themes correspond to chapters 3, 4 and 5 respectively.

Study 2 was an evaluation of six *preventing lateral violence* workshops conducted in five organisations, predominantly in Adelaide from March to June 2014. The evaluation incorporated two phases with phase 1 utilising a quantitative pre, post and three-months post survey with 72 participants attending the workshops. The quantitative questionnaires were analysed utilising SPSS with descriptive and non-parametric statistics. The results for the survey demonstrated a significant increase and/or maintenance of participants' knowledge, understanding, and prevention strategies for lateral violence. In phase 2 of the study, follow-up qualitative interviews were conducted with seven participants three months after the workshop. Thematic analysis identified five recurring themes in the interviews in relation to improvements to workshops and strategies to prevent lateral violence. Study 2 incorporates chapters 6 and 7.

It is hoped that by increasing awareness of lateral violence and its effects, this research will contribute to the prevention and reduction of the incidence of lateral violence within

Indigenous communities in Adelaide and elsewhere in Australia. Given that many participants drew on a number of coping strategies to deal with lateral violence, it is anticipated that such information will benefit individuals, community, governments and funding agencies to support future research, education and community services in order for Aboriginal people to heal and to prevent lateral violence.

Acknowledgements

Undertaking this thesis was by far one of the biggest challenges in my life. It was a process that seemed endless, but I am glad there were many patient and supportive people urging me past the finish line.

First I want to acknowledge that this research was supported by the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) in receiving a grant *Building capacity in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health research* as a stipend for the first two and half years of my PhD. For this I would like to thank the lead investigator, Professor Robyn McDermott for enabling the beginnings of my PhD process.

To Martha (Professor Martha Augoustinos), my principal supervisor and colleague. There was no other option of a supervisor since you had been my supervisor in my Honours and Masters of Clinical Psychology 20 years prior. Having a trusted and supportive supervisor was essential to feel confident and capable to complete the thesis. Thank you for your academic prowess, friendship, humour, emotional support and encouragement.

To Merridy Malin, who picked up the supervision halfway through my thesis and quickly engaged in the process as my second supervisor. I have so much admiration for you and the work that you have done in the Aboriginal community. Your support to me has been priceless in this endeavour and I look forward to future collaboration.

To Jenny Baker, who began as a secondary supervisor, but unfortunately the timing wasn't right, and you retired soon after. Your insight into Aboriginal and post colonialist discourse

and literature is amazing and I feel privileged that you were able to spend time helping me get started.

To the many participants that engaged in this research, I wish I could name you all in this thesis, as you own it as much as I do. However, I ensured you that the process was confidential. When I see you I will let you know in person of my appreciation.

To significant others who supported, encouraged me along the way, provided feedback and listened to my rants. Thank you to my University Aboriginal peers. Thank you Jenny Caruso, Christopher Davis, Dylan Coleman, Michael Colbung, Terry Dunbar. Thank you to those outside the University Stephen Meredith, Karen Glover and Veronica Arbon

To the Co-facilitators and the Research assistant of the 'Preventing lateral violence' workshops. I could not have provided the workshops and the evaluation without your assistance and expertise. Thank you Stan Butler, Karen Glover and Joanne O'Connor.

To my large family, my two beautiful children, Treena and Jackson, and husband Stan who continuously inspire me to achieve but unfortunately had to put up with my grumpiness to finish.

I would like to thank Dr Diane Brown who edited earlier versions of journal articles for publication and the final draft of my thesis in accordance with the *Australian Standards for Editing Practice* (2013, 2nd edition.) and national guidelines for editing/proofreading higher degree research theses.

Thesis structure

This thesis is formatted as a *thesis by publication* which is permitted under the guidelines of the University of Adelaide Graduate Centre.

There are five analytical chapters written in manuscript format. Two of the articles have been published in journals and one is currently under review. The manuscripts differ slightly to the published articles (see appendices 10 and 11).

Each analytical chapter has its own detailed methodology and research approach. Therefore there is not an overall methodology section in this thesis. The methodology discussed in chapter 2 relates to the principles of an Indigenous methodology.

For improved flow of the overall thesis, the references (in-text citations and footnotes) will be accumulative rather than specific to each chapter. A final reference chapter is included towards the end of the document.

I have chosen this format because I wished to share my work in relevant journals with peers and the Aboriginal community as soon as practical. I was encouraged to pursue this topic by many in the Aboriginal community who assisted in providing feedback and support.

Publications

Work contained in this thesis has been published elsewhere, as follows:

Clark, Y., & Augoustinos, M. (2015). What's in a name? Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia. *The Australian Community Psychologist*, 27(2), 19-34.

Clark, Y., Augoustinos, M., & Malin, M. (2016). Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide: It affects our identity and wellbeing. *Journal of Indigenous Wellbeing: Te Mauri-Pimatisiwin, 1*(1), 43-52.

Clark, Y., Augoustinos, M., & Malin, M. (in press). Coping and prevention of lateral violence in the Aboriginal community in Adelaide.

A *statement of authorship* will precede each of the five chapters which indicate the publication status of these chapters.

Conference presentations

Clark, Y. (2014, July). Exploring lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, SA. Electronic poster presentation, International Congress of Applied Psychology (ICAP), Paris.

Clark, Y. (2015, October 01). Lateral violence in the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, SA: From dilemmas to strategies. Symposia, Working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities. The Australian Psychological Society (APS) conference, The Gold Coast, Queensland.

Clark, Y. (2015, November) A journey towards preventing lateral violence with the Aboriginal community in SA. Healing Our Spirit Worldwide (HOSW) conference, Hamilton, New Zealand.

Terminology

Cultural descriptors: Aboriginal, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and Indigenous are typically used interchangeably within Australia.

How this terminology is used in this thesis is described below.

The term Aboriginal is predominately used in this research about Aboriginal people in Adelaide, South Australia. From experience, many people use this term rather than Indigenous to describe themselves in South Australia.

Furthermore, the term Aboriginal is used in many documents as either a stand-alone term which implies that the information relates to Aboriginal people only, or it is used generically to encompass both Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander is used to describe both Australian groups and this thesis will use these categories when referenced by another source. More recently, the term Indigenous has replaced Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander as identity categories.

Indigenous is the international word used by the United Nations to describe collective groups. Hence this term will be used to describe both groups in the thesis.

Regional names are often used to collectively identify Indigenous people. For example: Koori (NSW); Murri (Southern QLD); Noongar (WA, South-West); Nunga (SA); and Anangu (central regions – SA/NT). These terms are mainly used by Indigenous people and not generally by non-Indigenous people. These terms will be used in this thesis when referenced.

Aboriginal people will also use their or other local language group names such as Kokatha, Kaurna, etc. These names will be used in this thesis when referenced.

In this thesis, terminology for those other than Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander is non-Aboriginal or non-Indigenous, Anglo-Celtic or "white" people depending on the context of use.

Table of contents

Declaration	i
Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	v
Thesis structure	vii
Publications	viii
Conference presentations	ix
Terminology	X
Table of contents	xii
List of tables	xvii
Chapter 1: Literature Review	1
Overview of lateral violence	1
Characteristics and behaviours of lateral violence in Indigenous communities	3
Naming and dissemination of lateral violence in Australia	4
Where lateral violence is located in Australia	6
Related and central features of lateral violence	7
Triggers for lateral violence	15
Detrimental effects of lateral violence on wellbeing	17
Resilience, coping and support for lateral violence	18
Resilience and coping with stress	18
Individualist vs collective coping	19
Forgiveness and punishment	21
Coping with racism	22
Support	23
Bystander support/non-support	24
Addressing lateral violence	25
Healing, empowerment and identity	25
An appeal to address lateral violence	26
Personal and community strategies for dealing with lateral violence	27
Policy and legislative solutions	29
Therapeutic interventions and counselling	30
Aboriginal healing programs	30
Cultural competence and safety	31
Specific lateral violence healing and training programs	33

Evaluations of healing programs and workshops for lateral violence	34
The challenge of evaluating Aboriginal educational/awareness programs and in Australia	_
Research aims	36
Chapter 2: Indigenous methodology	39
Overview	39
Background	39
Understanding the terminology of an Indigenous methodology	40
Tensions between paradigms and methods in Aboriginal research	41
Central features of an Indigenous methodology	43
Incorporating the three Rs	43
The positive and solution focused nature of Indigenous research	45
Vulnerability in Aboriginal research	46
Positioning myself in the research	47
Introducing myself	47
Paradigm orientation	49
My associations with the topic of lateral violence	49
The fit between my research and an Indigenous methodology	51
Summary and conclusion	56
Statement of Authorship	57
Chapter 3: What's in a name? Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in South Australia.	
Abstract	58
Introduction	59
Research approach	67
Indigenous framework	67
Procedure	69
Analysis	70
Findings	70
Demographic information	70
How the term 'lateral violence' is spreading	71
Themes from interviews	72
Summary and discussion	81
Statement of Authorship	84
Chapter 4: Lateral Violence in the Aboriginal community in Adelaide: It affects ou and wellbeing	•

Abstract	85
Introduction	86
Lateral violence	86
Features related to lateral violence	87
The present study	90
Research approach	91
Indigenous framework	91
Participants	92
Materials: Wellbeing scales	92
Procedure and analysis	93
Findings	95
The wellbeing scales	95
Themes from interviews	97
Summary and discussion	107
Statement of Authorship	110
Chapter 5: Coping and prevention of lateral violence in the Aboriginal community in Adelaide	111
Abstract	111
Introduction	112
Lateral violence and disempowerment	112
Healing, training and empowerment	113
Coping, resilience and support	114
The current study	120
Research approach	120
Indigenous framework	120
Participants	121
Procedure and analysis	122
Findings	123
Themes from interviews	123
Discussion	140
Overview	140
Implications for health policy intervention and further research	142
Statement of Authorship	145
Chapter 6: Evaluation of the preventing lateral violence workshop in Adelaide, South Australia: Phase 1 survey responses	146

Abstract	146
Introduction	147
Lateral violence and related concepts	147
Development of the Preventing Lateral Violence workshops in SA	150
Evaluations of interventions for lateral violence	151
The challenge of evaluating Aboriginal educational/awareness programs and work in Australia	_
The current evaluation study	153
Methodology	155
Indigenous evaluation approach	155
Indigenous research approach	156
Procedure and recruitment	156
Analysis and questionnaires	159
Results	161
Survey results (quantitative)	161
Qualitative information from the questionnaires (post and three months post)	171
Discussion and conclusions	174
Overview	174
Recommendations	176
Limitations of the study	177
Areas for further research	177
Statement of Authorship	178
Chapter 7: Evaluation of the preventing lateral violence workshop in Adelaide, SA: Pha	ase 2
qualitative aspects	179
Abstract	179
Introduction	180
Overview of the preventing lateral violence workshops and results from phase 1	180
Overview of concept of lateral violence	181
Racism, oppression and trauma	182
Resilience and support	183
Bystander/silence	184
Types of coping	185
Cultural competence and safety	187
The current evaluation study	188
Research approach	189

Indigenous methodology	189
Participants	189
Procedure and analysis	190
Results and discussion	191
Themes from interviews	191
Discussion and conclusions	204
Overview	204
Limitations of the study	206
Areas for further research	206
Chapter 8: Overall conclusions	207
Overview of research	207
Findings and outcomes in relation to the research aims and hypotheses	211
Major implications and recommendations of the research	216
Limitations	218
Further research	219
References	222
Appendices	257
Appendix 1: Study 1. Invitation flyer to participants	257
Appendix 2: Study 1. Information sheet	258
Appendix 3: Study 1. Wellbeing scales	260
Appendix 4: Study 2. Invitation letter to Organisations	262
Appendix 5: Study 2. Information sheet	263
Appendix 6: Study 2. Pre questionnaire	265
Appendix 7: Study 2. Post questionnaire	267
Appendix 8: Study 2. Three months post questionnaire	271
Appendix 9: Study 1 and 2. List of counsellors.	274
Appendix 10: Study 1. Published article 1	278
Appendix 11: Study 1. Published article 2	279

List of tables

Table 3.1: Age distribution of participants71
Table 4.1: NLES frequency and percentage of each item in the last year (n=21)96
Table 6.1: Total sample demographics (n= 72)162
Table 6.2: Comparison of means of pre, post and three month post evaluation according
to the demographics for PLV (n=72)163
Table 6.3: Comparison of means for pre and post evaluation of PLV workshops (n=58)
Table 6.4: Comparisons of means for pre, post and three month post evaluation of PLV
workshops (n=23)168
Table 6.5: Comparison of means for post and three months post evaluation of PLV
workshops (n=23)170
Table 8.1 Overall qualitative themes from studies 1 and 2210

Chapter 1: Literature Review

Overview of lateral violence

There are many forms of interpersonal violence that have existed and still exist in the world today amongst all members of society (World Health Organisation [WHO], 2014). Violence has been defined as "the intentional use of physical force or power, threatened or actual, against oneself, another person or against a group or community, that either results in or has a high likelihood of resulting injury, death, psychological harm, mal-development or deprivation" (WHO 2002, p. 5). Violence can have specific labels depending on the type displayed. These commonly include physical assaults, threats, sexual violence, family violence, domestic violence, suicide and bullying to name a few. Lateral violence, a recently applied label, describes violence and disruptive practices within oppressed groups and directed toward each other (Roberts, Demarco, & Griffin, 2009).

The concept of lateral violence originated in the early literature on colonialism from Africa (i.e. Fanon, 1963, 1967) and from Latin America (i.e. Frere, 1970). It was broadly argued that colonial practices were oppressive and were used to de-power and control the original or first nation people. Fanon (1963) argued that white colonialism imposed a false and degrading existence on its black victims, and as such power and control ensured conformity and an inferior status. Thus internalisation of this inferior status created an *inferiority complex* which resulted in *infighting*. Furthermore infighting became apparent when the colonised groups attempted to mimic the oppressor and took on the values and behaviours of the oppressors, and in turn adopted the violent behaviours amongst members of their own group (Fanon, 1967).

Divide and conquer was also a well-known strategy used by imperial and colonial powers to control and weaken empowered and collective people by enabling mutual mistrust, and this approach was used particularly towards Indigenous people (Posner, Spier & Vermeule, 2009).

Over the past three decades the concept of lateral violence was adopted within the nursing industry to describe their experiences of infighting and disruption. Other labels used in nursing to describe the same concept include *horizontal violence* (Roberts et al., 2009; Roy, 2007) and *eating their young* (Stanley, Dulaney, & Martin, 2007; Stokes, 2010). Some of the behavioural manifestations amongst nurses include bullying, disruption and negativity with the effects of: psychological distress and threats to patient safety; and decreases in nurse morale and retention (Walrafen, Brewer & Mulvenon, 2012). Such behaviour has had implications for patient safety and health care.

Indigenous communities in Canada have described lateral violence as the manner in which people in positions of powerlessness covertly and overtly direct their dissatisfaction toward each other, themselves and those in powerless positions (Native Counselling Services of Alberta [NCSA], 2008). Lateral violence has been linked to the oppressive experiences of residential schools: many Canadian Indigenous people were removed from their homes and placed in residential schools where they were subject to violence and abuse. Lateral violence was hidden and has only recently been exposed via recent research and discussion. In a report exploring student-to-student abuse within Canadian residential schools, it is argued that "it is good medicine to begin to look at and publish some of the 'hidden' or 'difficult' or 'silent' legacies of residential schools experience in a safe way in order to gain a better understanding of some of the challenges facing First Nations, Inuit and Metis communities" (Preface by Garnet Angeconeb in Bombay, 2014, p vii).

In Australia lateral violence is linked to the oppressive and intergenerational situation of colonisation. Through domination, racism and oppression, all aspects of Aboriginal people's lives and culture were fragmented, disrupted, and controlled. Resistance to this cultural dislocation was met with further disempowerment that has become multigenerational and continues to be evident today (Australian Human Rights Commission[AHRC], 2011a, 2011b; Glover, Dudgeon & Huygens, 2005; Gorringe, Ross & Fforde, 2009; Langton, 2008; Milroy, Dudgeon & Walker, 2014; Watson, 2009). To attempt to overcome the damaging effects of colonisation, processes of decolonisation are now a priority for Indigenous people. According to Strelein and Tran (2013) "the business of decolonisation involves engaging with former colonial laws, policies and practices in order to create a 'space' for Indigenous peoples to express their unique identities, cultures and ways of knowing" (p. 19). In Australia it is also about understanding systemic oppressive processes and the consequences, which in turn affirms the legitimacy of a people's ancestral culture and therefore encourages cultural renewal and potentially social transformation (Glover et al., 2005).

Characteristics and behaviours of lateral violence in Indigenous communities

Derrick (2006) highlights three key characteristics of lateral violence amongst Indigenous people of Canada: firstly, that Indigenous people can repeat the *original* oppression they experience by oppressing those around them; secondly, there is a focus on the negative in another Indigenous person or group; and thirdly, the use of collective cooperation to attack or undermine another person or group is common. Some of the specific behavioural manifestations include gossip, jealousy, bullying, shaming others, exclusion, ignoring, sabotage, verbal attacks, family and organisational feuding, blaming others, financial

greediness, and physical and sexual attacks (Bombay, 2014; Derrick, 2006; Equay-Wuk, 2012). Even though overt violence such as physical violence is included, the most commonly described behaviours associated with the term lateral violence include covert forms in Australia (AHRC, 2011b; Wingard, 2010). Coffin et al. (2010) has shown that covert behaviour such as bullying is rife amongst Aboriginal people in some communities in Midwest Western Australia, particularly amongst children. They found that in semi-structured and non-directional interviews, people of all ages chose to discuss the bullying of Aboriginal children by other Aboriginal children, rather than by non-Aboriginal children.

Naming and dissemination of lateral violence in Australia

It is uncertain whether the term or label of lateral violence is an accepted one to use for and by Indigenous people to describe infighting or *intra-cultural violence* in Australia. The prominence of the term coincides with the attendance of many Indigenous people from Australia at the Healing Our Spirit Worldwide (HOSW)¹ conference in Alberta in 2006 where lateral violence within Canadian Indigenous communities was discussed, and in which many Australian Indigenous people participated. Yet, the label appears to have been applied with little consultation about whether it fits the Australian context.

The social psychological process of labelling a social phenomenon, such as lateral violence, can be understood within a social representations framework. Moscovici (1988) argued that the need to classify, compare and explain persons, objects and behaviours and to objectify them as part of their social background is a fundamental human cognitive process (Moscovici, 1988). People naturally *anchor* unfamiliar, new or strange ideas/ concepts into existing ideas or social

¹ HOSW is an international conference for Indigenous peoples of the world to discuss issues and initiatives for health and healing.

4

representations. This is done by attributing meaning to concepts from existing and culturally accessible information. In other words people strive to make the unfamiliar familiar. Once a concept becomes familiar it is then transformed into a *concrete*, *tangible* and *common sense* reality (Augoustinos, Walker & Donoghue, 2014). This concept/idea can also become less visible over time and people reach a point where there is longer differentiation between the objects with which we align concepts (Moscovici, 1988). In other words, objects, perceptions, events and behaviours become normalised once they have become socially represented and consensually shared (Augoustinos et al., 2014).

Thus when this process is applied to the labelling of lateral violence, the label becomes familiar when it is compared to existing information about infighting, it is then conventionalised and becomes common sense. However, if the label doesn't fit with existing information or is unsuitable, such as a label associated with the word *violence*, other suitable labels may be found to rectify the information or its meaning until it fits. Once a common sense or tangible label is applied to a concept it can open doors to greater awareness and learning which in turn can lead to change, improvements and progress. However, if the concept of infighting is normalised in the community without the expression of a new label it can remain hidden with little change.

The terminology of lateral violence has thus far been disseminated within Indigenous communities via various methods including workshops, articles, research, Facebook, emails, conversations, and the sharing of information at both national and community levels.

Information about lateral violence has appeared in various news mediums such as the *Koori Mail* (Coyne, 2011); AHRC e-news (Gooda, June 2011; Oct, 2011); various websites such as *Lateral love* Australia, *Koorreen enterprises* (2015), *and Creative spirits* (2016). The

information and messages have been predominately instigated by Aboriginal leaders and/or elders identifying lateral violence as a problem that needs to be identified and addressed within Indigenous Australian communities. Furthermore the previous Aboriginal Social Justice Commissioner Mick Gooda formally named lateral violence as a significant issue within Aboriginal communities (AHRC 2011a; 2011b, 2012).

Where lateral violence is located in Australia

The literature on lateral violence suggests that it is pervasive within the Aboriginal community – that it is everywhere such as in the home, community, schools and workplace. Lateral violence is believed to exist amongst Aboriginal men, women and children, including the vulnerable and the powerful (Langton 2008). Bennett (2014) argues that it is rare for Aboriginal participants to be living in an environment without lateral violence.

Lateral violence has been identified in places that include: Facebook, which has become a tool of scrutiny and surveillance in which both lateral violence and racial vilification are prevalent (Montgomery, 2014); the native title process where Aboriginal people can turn against each other for valuable land resources and access to traditional lands (AHRC, 2011b; Gooda, 2011a, 2011b); Aboriginal community corporations where internal disputes constituted the third most prevalent class of Indigenous corporate failure (Office of the Registrar of Indigenous Corporations (ORIC), 2010); the arts industry where lateral violence has potentially been perpetrated in three areas including (a) among individual art practitioners and managers (b) within the organisational governance structure, and (c) Indigenous funding bodies (Cook, 2012); and Australia's university sector, between Indigenous academic, professional and general staff (National Indigenous Unit of NTEU, 2011). The pervasive nature of lateral

violence means that lateral violence is inescapable, intense and chronic within Indigenous communities and industries and can thus become normalised.

Related and central features of lateral violence

Racism and oppression in Indigenous communities

The main form of oppression directed towards Indigenous people is racism. Racism has been conceptualised as operating at three levels: *Institutional* racism is when there is differential access to goods, services and opportunities in society by race which is normalized, sometimes legalized and often manifests as inherited disadvantage; *individual or personal* racism is about prejudice and discrimination; and *internal* racism is described as the acceptance by members of stigmatized groups of negative messages about their own abilities and intrinsic worth. Racism manifests as an embracing of *whiteness*, self-devaluation (i.e. racial slurs as nicknames), resignation, helplessness and hopelessness (Jones, 2000). All these forms of racism continue to exist in Australia toward Aboriginal people. Studies that look at experiences and perceptions of racism suggest that Aboriginal people experience racism everyday via verbal and/or physical behaviours, discrimination, cultural domination and rejection from mainstream society (Dudgeon, 2000; Glover et al., 2005; Mellor, 2003).

Societal or institutionalism racism has recently been examined through the concept of whiteness which looks at power and privilege from white dominant spheres within society and how such privilege is used to maintain the status quo. By ignoring white privilege within society disadvantaged and/or minority groups continue to be oppressed and blamed for their circumstances (Riggs, 2007). Another form of blaming the victim through racist societal processes is denial. Babacan (2008) indicated that the denial of racism fails to validate victims'

experiences and transfers the blame from the perpetrator to the victim. This sense of blaming has major consequences for the self-worth and wellbeing of victims. Once these and other forms of racism are internalised by Aboriginal people the consequences can be dire. Dudgeon (2000) indicates that "aggression turned inwards" can lead to acts of suicide, self-mutilation, alcohol abuse and depression within the Aboriginal population and contributes to intra-cultural violence (lateral violence), which means that Aboriginal people hurt the people closest to them (p. 69).

The most recent Reconciliation Barometer in 2014 found that "more Indigenous people, than non-Indigenous people experienced racial prejudice in the last six months with the most common being verbal abuse or physical violence". Reconciliation Australia indicates that this significant gap in daily realities underlines a key stumbling block in the relationship and impediment to reconciliation (Reconciliation Australia 2015a, p. 15).

Reconciliation between Aboriginal people and the general Australian population has been a salient political issue in the last two decades (AHRC, 2011a). For example, the 2014 Reconciliation Barometer indicated that 96% of Indigenous people and 64% of non-Indigenous people believe the relationship between these cohorts is important (Reconciliation Australia, 2015a). One example of relationship building is the National Roundtable on Racism (2009).² This was a forum to assist in combating racism (see also Dudgeon, Milroy & Walker, 2014a). Hence relationship building is extremely important as research on racism in Australia has

-

² On 1st and 2nd June 2009, over 40 leading researchers and academics from across Australia met at the University of Western Australia Boatshed in Perth, for a roundtable discussion focused on research concerning racism towards Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians. The roundtable was instigated by Dr Pat Dudgeon, who saw it as one way to renew the momentum for combating racism. They developed the Boatshed Racism Roundtable Declaration (National Roundtable on research and racism toward Indigenous Australians, 2009).

highlighted major adverse effects that racism has on Indigenous health, wellbeing and mental health (Awofeso, 2011; Paradies, 2006b).

Trauma and the intergenerational effects of normalisation

The type of trauma experienced by Indigenous people in Australia is generally referred to as intergenerational trauma (Atkinson, 2002) and/or collective trauma (Krieg, 2009; Ratnavale, 2007). In the Native American context, it is generally referred to as historical trauma (Evans-Campbell, 2008; Willmon-Haque & BigFoot, 2008). In all cases, this trauma is described as a process that started from colonisation, and is prolonged, cumulative and intergenerational. Furthermore such trauma means that Indigenous people are continuously vulnerable and at risk to new trauma on an everyday basis (Krieg, 2009; Ratnavale, 2007). Ratnavale (2007) indicates that some of the behavioural effects of collective trauma are: loss of connection to self, surroundings and other people; deep mistrust of self and others; and violence and abuse at many levels. Such violence and abuse can have significant trauma reactions and can become normalised in communities. For example, in Canada, Bombay (2014) indicates that constant exposure to trauma and abusive behaviours amongst Aboriginal students at residential schools contributed to the modelling and normalisation of abuse that affected generations of children and adversely impacted their return to their communities. Research by Coffin, Larsen and Cross (2010) in Aboriginal communities in Midwest Western Australia exemplifies how intergenerational effects of trauma manifested as bullying and can become normalised. The research found that for Aboriginal children and young people, bullying was attributed to learned behaviour. This was passed down from parental trauma, which impacted on their capacity to care for their children and inappropriate modelling at home through the behaviour of older siblings, or by observing domestic violence. This can create an environment where

Aboriginal children oppress other Aboriginal children within a cycle of interpersonal violence and bullying (Coffin et al., 2010).

Identity

Indigenous identity appears fundamental to Indigenous people (Clark, 2000). However, it is complex, multifaceted, and aligned with socio-historical constructs and discourses (Paradies, 2006a). Indigenous identity has been constructed and used throughout Australia's political history to help direct government policies and actions toward Aboriginal people. Aboriginal people, for example, were categorised into blood quantum of *full blood*, *half caste*, *quarter caste*, *quadroons* or *octoroons* in order to direct certain government policies or practices, often with devastating outcomes. For instance, under the Assimilation policy, those not categorised as full blood were those reportedly removed from family and culture and expected to merge with mainstream society.

Aboriginal identity continues to be on the political and legal agenda with the questioning of Aboriginality and authenticity common in a context of racism and oppression within Australia. For example, Andrew Bolt (Australian journalist) publically questioned the authenticity of many light skinned Aboriginal people. He indicated that "white Aborigines" are "people who, out of their multi-stranded but largely European genealogy, decide to identify with the thinnest of all those strands and the one that's contributed least to their looks" (Bolt 2009, p. 1).

Despite his assertions and quest for freedom of speech, his comments were judged to be in breach of 18c of the *Racial Discrimination Act*, as Justice Bloomberg was satisfied that fair-skinned Aboriginal people were likely to be offended, insulted, humiliated or intimidated by the insinuations in newspaper articles (Quinn, 2011). Gelber and McNamara (2013) indicate that the political and public ramifications of the Bolt case are that it reproduces

mischaracterisations of a *real Aboriginal*, which is about skin colour and disadvantage. These mischaracterisations of identity have also been framed in terms of a *deficit discourse* that originated during colonisation, tied to notions of deficiency rather than how Aboriginal people saw themselves (Fforde, Bamblett, Lovett, Gorringe, & Fogarty, 2013).

This view of the real or ideal Aboriginal person is not only represented by non-Aboriginal people but also by Aboriginal people and is at the heart of debates around the authenticity of identity and lateral violence within Aboriginal communities themselves (Gorringe et al., 2009). It follows that if Aboriginal people do not conform to this ideal view, they can be undermined in many ways, such as social exclusion or being insulted. For example, Gorringe et al. (2009) indicate that words or phrases such as *coconut*³ and/or *textbook black*⁴ are commonly used to undermine someone's identity.

Moore (2008) refers to this ideal or stereotypical view of Aboriginality as *identity politics* where Aboriginal culture is represented as typical, traditionally oriented, internally homogenous, linked to the past and where its members are in solidarity. Moore is critical of leadership structures that propose cultural loss and discrimination as the major cause of social dysfunction within communities, and that the solution is to "re-affirm, revitalise, recover and remain true to the monolithic originary culture and self" (2008, p. 652). The ideal view ignores and does not recognise the contemporary Aboriginal person, who may be cosmopolitan, tertiary educated, works with or is associated with government and has assets; yet they are not assimilated and have a comfortable Aboriginal identity (Moore, 2008). This corresponds with statistics that reveal many Indigenous Australians fail to conform to such an idealised view of

_

³ Calling or referring to another Aboriginal person as a *coconut* means you are accusing them of being black on the outside and white on the inside. This corresponds to having white or mainstream values and behaviours.

⁴ Calling or referring to another Aboriginal person as a *textbook black* means that you are accusing another Aboriginal person of being too educated to be an Aboriginal person.

Aboriginality. For example, about 90% of Aboriginal people do not speak an Aboriginal language as the main language spoken at home, yet over half (63%) identify with a particular clan, tribal or language group or mission (AIHW, 2015). Moore (2008, 2009) concludes that Aboriginal people who adhere to the discourse of the idealised Aboriginal may not embrace life with all its multiplicity, ambiguity and dynamism, choices and identities. Thus, failing to address identity politics in the context of finding solutions to Aboriginal issues is maintaining dysfunction and the status quo.

One's identity can also be confirmed or undermined via social media such as Facebook or other cyber activities, an avenue that is dominated by young people. It is the most used form of communication between youth aged over 13 and around half of all youth between 8 and 11 years access and use some form of social media (Radoll, 2014). Facebook has many positive aspects and can enhance and affirm Aboriginal identity by establishing connectedness and cultural belonging through networking aspects of pre-contact culture, such as language, sharing of practical rituals, information about kin or mobs that have been lost, photographic displays and so on (Lumby, 2010). However, Facebook was also viewed as a destructive tool among Aboriginal youth, as it provides an avenue to question Aboriginal authenticity by imposing penalties for the actual or perceived *faking* of Aboriginal identity (Lumby, 2010).

Silencing and stigma

According to Freire (1970), exhibiting a *culture of silence* is common in oppressed groups. This culture is believed to be destructive as it inhibits its members from critically looking at their world or collaborating with others. Hence oppression can operate to silence Indigenous people, communities and or suppress sensitive topics. The silencing of particular issues avoids scrutiny and criticism from the dominant community who can be quick to judge and/or blame

the victim. In this sense silencing methods are a way of self-preservation and protection because once information is made public, then an individual or group can become vulnerable to outside influences (Gorringe et al., 2009). Others argue that silencing isn't only about the fear of vulnerability but also about maintenance of power that is hidden and firmly embedded within its own structure (Bennett, 2014; Cook, 2012).

Violence appears to be one of the sensitive topics in the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, in which a code of silence is prevalent. This has also been seen in family violence (Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission [HREOC], 2006) where women's voices, that speak out against family violence have been silenced, not supported (Smallacombe, 2004) or ostracised (Price, 2009) from their Aboriginal communities. An Aboriginal person who speaks up about sensitive topics, such as violence, in a public forum can be subject to reprisals which are similar to those against whistle blowers (Gorringe et al., 2009). Even if the silence is broken and people speak out, these issues may not be listened to particularly when being addressed at official and political levels (Sutton, 2001). As such, speaking up may be a deterrent. Despite this code of silence, Gorringe et al. (2009) suggest that "naming the elephant in the room" and having the courage to call bad behaviour out is critical to addressing sensitive issues such as violence and abuse (p. 10).

However, once information or a particular label of violence reaches public scrutiny it becomes prone to stigmatisation and prejudice. Link and Phelan (2001) indicate that processes of stigma expose social differences that are often applied to certain individuals and concepts. For example, colour difference of one's car is not important, but one's skin colour is of significance. Categorisations and labels apply to stigma and once a label is applied, a person can be linked to a set of undesirable characteristics, stereotypes and experience status loss.

Further, labels can also signal a separation of *us and them*. Link and Phelan (2001) conclude that stigma exists when elements of labelling, stereotyping, separation, status loss, and discrimination occur together in a power situation that allows stigmatisers to prosper. This power, referred to as *stigma power* (Link and Phelan, 2014) can be hidden and misrecognised processes that serve the interests of stigmatisers, as part of a privileged social system.

In a study Phelan, Link and Dovidio (2008), indicated that stigma and prejudice are shown to be the same concept when linked to the labelling of concepts and phenomena. This means that once the labelling of a concept, an individual or group has occurred differences are established and the social salience to those differences becomes evident with power distinctions (Green, Davis, Karshmer, Marsh, & Straight, 2005). Thus applying labels to violence and lateral violence can mean that Aboriginal violence is differentiated from mainstream Australian violence and therefore stigmatized. Aboriginal people are victim blamed, seen as deficient, further problematized and depowered. Such labelling of violence can then attract the attention of the media, can be misrepresented and further stigmatised. Therefore how information is framed and problematized by the media can compromise inequitable health and living outcomes by the process of victim blaming which can excuse societal responsibility and assistance. Hence masking or labelling issues as only Aboriginal problems will simply maintain the status quo (McMurray, 2011). For example, violence against women and children in Aboriginal culture attracts disproportionate media attention, situating the problem as one of Indigenous culture, which is not only racist but compromises future planning (McMurray, 2011).

Triggers for lateral violence

Conflicts and differences in communities

Lateral violence appears to be triggered by many internal tensions within communities which cause further trauma by dividing individuals, families and communities (Gorringe et al., 2009). Derick (2006) suggests these triggers are based on differences in communities including one's socio-economic status, education level, physical appearance, sexual orientation, gender, and culture. To illustrate, blood quantum and biological/genetic differences in eyes, hair, and skin colour are often used by Aboriginal people to determine one's authenticity to identify and Aboriginality. Coffin et al. (2010) indicate that children can turn on each other for being different such as being too light skinned or having pronounced Aboriginal features. Thus they can be seen as not being Aboriginal enough, or too Aboriginal and as such, can get picked on. Bennett (2014) indicates that difference in skin colour for Aboriginal people with light skin attract both lateral violence from Aboriginal people and racism from the broader population. She argues that lateral violence for Aboriginal people is about the justification of their skin colour and identity, and at times non-acceptance, which can result in lack of tolerance and exclusion. This can provoke feelings of confusion, hurt, and disappointment about having to prove your Aboriginality to your own community. This may be even more anxiety producing if the "light skinned" Aboriginal person knows little about culture or family and/or were part of policies that assisted in separating the family from community. Racism from non-Aboriginal people is about disbelief, if one is not physically recognised as Aboriginal. However, once Aboriginality is understood by non-Aboriginal members they receive the judgement and antagonism, as do other Aboriginal people via racism.

A similar phenomenon to that described above is the acting white syndrome. This has been described in the African American context as part of oppositional cultural theory (Fordham and Ogbu, 1986). The theory is about the concept of acting white via derogatory accusations by other black peers when a black person is perceived to have adopted white norms, values, attitudes and behaviours. In other words having "sold out" or abandoned their cultural heritage (Burrell, Winston & Freeman, 2012). This is a form of race-based bullying (Grantham & Biddle, 2014). There has been much research in educational settings that suggest that Black students will underperform academically, so as not to be accused of being white and that is at the heart of the Black-white achievement gap (e.g. Fordham & Ogbu, 1986; Grantham & Biddle, 2014). However, this phenomenon is controversial. Examples by Lundy (2003) suggest that black students are not trying to resist acting white but rather attempting to express their African essence. This is deemed a positive trait but unfortunately their grades suffer as a consequence in a white oppressive educational system. Tyson, Darity and Castellino (2005) indicate that dilemmas of high achievers aren't specific to a particular cultural group. They suggest that oppositional cultural theory overlooked important similarities between the experiences of their informants and those of white students in which the burden of high achievement is a common experience.

Differential access to resources, power and privilege

Social determinants, such as low socio economic status, create division and difference which contributes to bullying behaviour (Coffin et al., 2010). As a disadvantaged and impoverished group, Aboriginal people fight for resources for survival. These resources can include access to education, employment, finances, and assets. Coffin et al. (2010) indicate that jealousy over possessions was of real concern. For example, Aboriginal people who are employed and well

educated can be pulled down by the community in a way that is similar to the *tall poppy*⁵ syndrome, described in the wider Australian community.

Access to power is also central to lateral violence. Power is inherent in systemic structures which legitimatise and perpetuate social inequalities. Langton (2008) indicates that Aboriginal people are often the victims of the system, which she calls "victims of vertical violence, and are entrenched in unequal power relations". Aboriginal people will display "anomie and rage" from vertical violence and will then use this rage and frustration against themselves as an oppressed group, to turn on themselves and violate each other (Langton, 2008, p. 3). The power imbalance within Aboriginal communities is exhibited as "aggrandisement" by perpetrators (Langton, p.1). Gorringe et al. (2009) exemplify power in terms of entitlement, privilege, and money.

Detrimental effects of lateral violence on wellbeing

From the review of the literature thus far, it is clear that lateral violence is detrimental to the Indigenous community in Australia (see AHRC, 2011b). Overall health and wellbeing (Gorringe et al., 2009; Langton, 2008; Wingard, 2010) and psychological equilibrium (Kelly, Dudgeon, Gee, & Glaskin, 2009) are severely compromised by lateral violence. Yet the specific psychological effects of lateral violence have not been explored in detail. Some of the effects of lateral violence from a Canadian Indigenous perspective include feelings of shame, blaming and judging others, and a lack of trust in others (Derrick, 2006). Physiological signs such as sleep disorders, weight loss or gain, and depression (NWAC, 2015) also seem to be implicated.

_

⁵ Tall poppy syndrome, an Australian cultural expression, describes a "disease" that feeds on the belief that anyone who appears to represent success, high ability, or admirable qualities must be attacked, demeaned, and cut down to the common level (Peeters, 2003, 2004).

Racism as a form of oppression within the Aboriginal community in Australia has been shown to be a contributing factor to wellbeing and mental health issues (Awofeso, 2011; Paradies, 2006b). Racism has served to disempower and control Aboriginal people. Hence feelings of powerlessness and dependency have been linked to poor health and life outcomes for Aboriginal people (Milroy et al., 2014). In contrast, having a sense of control over one's life has been linked to better health outcomes.

Resilience, coping and support for lateral violence

Resilience and coping with stress

Aboriginal people are socially resilient and are celebrated as one of the oldest, continuous living cultures in the world. Yet Aboriginal people's survival is rarely recognised in the literature as a significant source of resilience (Merritt, 2007). Aboriginal people continue to be resilient and have many resources that can protect them against risk factors. Protective factors include connection to land, culture, spirituality, ancestry, and family and community (Social health Reference Group [SHRG], 2004). However, multiple risk factors, such as unresolved grief and loss, trauma and abuse, domestic violence, removal from family, substance misuse, family breakdown, cultural dislocation, and racism and discrimination can psychologically overwhelm people who then struggle to cope and are likely to exhibit higher psychological distress (Kelly et al. 2009). The statistics for Aboriginal people indicate a proportionally high incidence of mental health (AIHW, 2015) and psychological distress (Australian Bureau of Statistics [ABS], 2016). There is a clear pattern whereby Aboriginal people with high to very high psychological distress levels reported a significantly higher than average number of life stressors than those with low or moderate psychological distress levels. Furthermore

Indigenous Australians have consistently shown a higher incidence of psychological distress than their non-Indigenous counterparts, ranging from 50% to three times higher (AIHW, 2009).

Therefore, the way Aboriginal people cope with psychological stress, racism and lateral violence is vital for survival, in building resilience towards wellbeing and mental health.

Coping can be both at an individual and collective level. However, there is limited research which looks specifically at coping and support for Aboriginal people in Australia and certainly none that focuses specifically on stressors associated with lateral violence.

Individualist vs collective coping

Coping can be both at an individual and collective level. Hofstedt (1980) mapped 53 countries on four dimensions and found the most widely used dimension in differentiating cultures to be individualism-collectivism. However there are differences in individualistic and collectivist coping styles. Individualistic cultures value independence and autonomy where the target of control is likely to be situated outside of the person. This means that individuals aim to change or control the external environment to cope. In collectivist cultures there is emphasis on group cohesion, interdependence and a connected sense of self where individuals have a desire for maintaining harmony and conforming to group norms. Thus individuals in a collectivist society aim to change themselves (their minds, emotions or behaviours) to fit the environment and to protect it (Chun, Moos & Cronkite, 2006; Weisz, Rothbaum & Backburn, 1984).

Much of the coping research and literature has been dominated by individualistic Western cultural paradigms (Kuo, 2011; Yeh, Arora & Wu, 2006) with four broad coping styles: active or problem focused coping (i.e. confronting the problem); denial-disengagement or emotion focused coping (i.e. withdrawal); social support seeking; and positive reinterpretation (Mellor,

2004). Research on collective coping emphasises *cultural* and *social* mechanisms as underlying the stress and coping process (Kuo, 2013). Australia as a whole has been seen as a highly individualistic culture (Hofstedt, 1980). Yet some subcultures in Australia are collectivist, such as Aboriginal people, where individuals are held together through kinship systems involving a shared sense of identity, responsibility, care and control (Milroy et al., 2014).

Collective coping responses can be: value-driven strategies (e.g. forbearance and fatalism); interpersonal based strategies (e.g. family and social support); culturally conditioned emotional/ cognitive strategies (e.g. acceptance and avoidance); religion and spiritually grounded strategies (Fischer, Ai, Aydin, Frey & Haslam, 2010); respecting authority figures (e.g. elders, authority figures and traditional healers) and relational universality (e.g. belonging, reciprocal sharing, interconnecting and identifying with others) (Yeh, et al., 2006). Thus collective coping is conceptually broader than social support (Kuo, 2013).

Individuals will generally use a range of collective and individualistic coping strategies in their daily lives, whether they are from an individualist or collectivist society. Some forms of coping are deemed more functional than others. For example, Yeh et al. (2006) indicate that active and internal coping, which attempts to deal with problems by seeking support, taking concrete action or reflecting on possible solutions is deemed as functional and seen to result in positive consequences. In contrast, dysfunctional coping includes withdrawal, denial or repression, controlling feelings and having a fatalistic attitude, all of which result in negative consequences. However, Yeh et al. (2006) point out a bias towards problem-focused coping and personal agency which are concepts highly valued in individualistic cultures and therefore claims of functionality appear culturally based.

Forgiveness and punishment

Some researchers have suggested that another form of coping is forgiveness (Strelan & Covic, 2006). It follows that after individuals have been hurt they need to handle the aftermath. One possible response, among many, is to forgive the perpetrator. The forgiveness process can be enacted in relation to other forms of coping. For example, a study by Strelan and Wojtysiak (2009) of 170 Australian university undergraduate psychology students, found that students were more likely to use the approach coping strategies (i.e. problem solving) for general stressful events; and used approach and avoidance strategies (i.e. cognitive avoidance) for interpersonal hurtful events. In the study avoidance coping strategies were utilised earlier in the forgiveness process (impact stage) when there is an emotional upheaval, and approach coping strategies (i.e. reframe transgression or make plans to get over it) in the middle and later stages of forgiveness when things have settled. Moreover, a victim may decide to forgive when an offender does something constructive (i.e. make amends, apologise, show remorse, etc.). The victim will then re-evaluate the situation in order to recognise the value in their relationship which is deemed integral to forgiveness (Strelan, McKee, Calic, Cook & Shaw, 2013). However, sometimes victims want some form of justice such as punishment. The preferred form of punishment in order to forgive is *just deserts* for the perpetrator, rather than revenge or retaliation and counter revenge, in which forgiveness is less likely to occur (Strelan & Van Prooijen, 2013).

This punishment process is different for *payback* processes within some Aboriginal communities, which is often translated as a vendetta or feud. When it is used appropriately, payback is a community sanctioned process that is part of customary law. It has very specific rules and is constituted by cultural reciprocity (Finnane, 2001). Therefore payback aims to expiate wrong doing and facilitate restitution. However, Finnane (2001) argues that payback

can become a confusing cultural process in communities and areas where collectivist responsibility has eroded to individual grudges involving violence and the community has little power to stop it. Despite this, Australian Courts now have a greater understanding and recognition of payback, particularly when it's about restorative justice.

Coping with racism

Aboriginal people in Australia have had to endure and cope with racism for over 200 years. Mellor (2004), who interviewed a number of Aboriginal people about how they deal with racism, identified three broad styles of coping with racism which he labelled *defensive*, *controlled* and *attacking*. The *defensive* style (defend or protect the self) is a mix of strategies that include: passive behaviours (defeatist attitudes or resignation of the situation); active behaviours (avoiding future encounters or individuals, venues or situations); reinterpretation of the event (to lessen the impact of racism); social support, denial or not mentioning Aboriginal status in certain situations for equal treatment; and as a way to strengthen children to help them cope with racism in the future. *The controlled* style is primarily about maintaining self-control, that is, individuals can actively make choices not to be around or expend psychological energy on racism and thus may ignore racism. Finally *attacking* (control the environment/perpetrator) is about contesting racist behaviours, confrontation of some kind (i.e. educating the perpetrators through factual information), asserting identity and pride, or seeking external controls (i.e. calling on authorities, including supervisors or others deemed to have relevant power or knowledge to help sort it out).

Support

Support is significant in coping and is defined as resources provided to people in the context of formal and informal relationships usually made within an individual's social network (Gottlieb and Bergen, 2010). The most common form is social support which is categorised as bonded and bridging support. Bonded relationships are those that occur between intimate associates and are often from homogenous backgrounds; and bridging relationships are between less intimate associates and are usually from heterogeneous backgrounds. A well-developed social network (Gottlieb & Bergen, 2010) or social capital (Brough, Bond, Shannon & Schubert, 2006) needs to include both bonded and bridging relationships in order to ensure adequate support to function. Social support via networking on Facebook has become popular, particularly among Aboriginal youth and the urban Aboriginal population. However, as discussed above, although it has become a site for kinship activity and continuity, it has also become a significant source of distress (Lumby, 2010; Montgomery, 2014).

A qualitative study with Aboriginal people in metropolitan Perth has reaffirmed the importance of bonded relationships within that community (Waterworth, Pescud, Braham, Dimmock & Rosenberg, 2015; Waterworth, Rosenberg, Braham, Pescud & Dimmock, 2014). Bonded relationships have many protective features and promote connectedness, identity, belonging, improved wellbeing and positive health outcomes (Brough et al., 2006; Waterworth et al., 2014). Kinship connections which are akin to bonded relationships are protective and lessen the physical and psychological burden of being part of a large group (Brough et al., 2006). Although bonded relationships are extremely important and they are maintained by family obligation, they can also be psychologically stressful. Hence, Aboriginal people can withdraw from bonded connections, such as immediate family, to protect themselves from potential physical or emotional harm (i.e. domestic violence). This withdrawal can contribute to

fragmented kinship affiliations, isolation, and a lack of social support and reduced opportunities to maintain and develop new bonded relationships. In terms of social engagement with non-Indigenous people (i.e. bridging relationships), there are also positive effects but it is often deemed as less important within the Aboriginal community. Such support is rarely incorporated outside of the Aboriginal community, unless it is via organisational support (Waterworth et al., 2014), but even this can be hindered by discrimination and negative stereotypes of Aboriginal people.

Bystander support/non-support

Bystander behaviour is linked to the literature on support. The bystander effect is understood as an individual's intervention or lack thereof in emergency situations. An individual is less likely to respond to someone in crisis when large numbers of people are present, or if an individual responds she or he may have an extended delayed response. Yet, individuals may intervene if there is only one person present or when it's an especially dangerous situation (Fischer et al, 2011). The reasons for this effect have been explained by several factors including diffusion of responsibility, pluralistic ignorance and or audience inhibition (Machackova, Dedkova & Mezulanikova, 2015). An Australian study of bystander responses to racist behaviours toward Aboriginal people by Neto and Pedersen (2013) indicated that the intention to engage in bystander anti-racism was significantly associated with: age (i.e. older people have higher levels of bystander anti-racist intentions and are more likely to intervene); political preference (i.e. people with right wing attitudes have lower levels of bystander anti-racist intentions and are thus less likely to intervene); gender (women are more likely to intervene); national identity (a stronger Australian identity is associated with less likely to intervene); prejudice (less likely to

intervene); anger (more likely to intervene); and fear (less likely to intervene which may be due to fear of being judged by colleagues).

The bystander effect is also evident in the cyber world which means that when there are multiple witnesses to bullying there is less support or intervention for a victim. For example, Machackova et al. (2015) indicated that the effect was the same whether it was three or 10 or many more witnesses. Thus even a small virtual audience can influence one's behaviour.

According to Thomas and Pederson (2015), bystanders are deemed as a potentially good resource to avert racism, especially when it is benign, or disguised as racist jokes or just having a laugh. Neto and Pedersen (2013) suggest educational interventions for young people, in particular, about how to effectively communicate with others about issues surrounding racism, to instil confidence in responding to bystander anti-racism and increase empathetic concern.

Addressing lateral violence

Healing, empowerment and identity

Healing and empowerment for Aboriginal people is necessary to address lateral violence. Healing for Aboriginal people has been described as a holistic process of physical, cultural, psychological and/or spiritual renewal to heal the wounds (Mackean, 2009). According to Milroy et al. (2014) healing and redress for Aboriginal people need to include processes of empowerment for self-determination and community governance; community resilience and restoration; and reconnection and community life. Importantly, reclaiming the history of the group and creating ancestral and community stories of connections to family and country can help to restore a sense of cultural continuity.

Healing and empowerment can occur at various levels with the most critically important starting point being individuals clarifying and or redefining their values and norms, which filter throughout the community for collective healing and goal setting (Dudgeon et al., 2014b). Furthermore empowerment needs to be strength based and on the premise that resources are available within communities. This is in opposition to health professionals and policy makers who attempt to "fix up" rather than channel strength from within Aboriginal communities and spaces (McCalman & James, 2006, cited in Dudgeon et al., 2014b). On an individual level, a strong sense of cultural identity, with strong family connections and knowledge about heritage are protective factors against the development of psychiatric morbidity (McKendrick, Brooks, Hudson, Thorpe & Bennett, 2013). An example of cultural renewal and identity on a community level in Adelaide is the cultural and language reclamation of the Kaurna language. This has meant the resurgence of identity and culture for the Kaurna people that enabled them to define themselves and transform their society in their own way rather than be defined by others (Amery, 2016).

An appeal to address lateral violence

An appeal to address lateral violence in Australia spurred the Australian Human Rights Commission (AHRC)⁶ to address Indigenous disadvantage within the National Human Rights Agenda by rebuilding relationships at three levels: between Indigenous people and the broader Australian community; between Indigenous people and governments; and within Indigenous communities (AHRC, 2011a). Racism is at the core of the first two levels with the third focusing on lateral violence, and on rebuilding and improving relationships specifically within Indigenous communities (AHRC, 2011a, 2011b).

_

⁶ The former Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner was Mick Gooda.

The literature suggests that Aboriginal people themselves (AHRC, 2011a, 2011b; BearPaw Media Productions, 2006; Gorringe et al., 2009; Langton 2008) rather than governments are best placed to fix lateral violence, and the internal conflicts and negative relationships within Indigenous communities. Aboriginal people have continually identified that what they need and want is to heal themselves and their communities. Communities need preventative and holistic healing processes that promote strong, resilient communities that focus on restoring social and emotional wellbeing (Dudgeon et al., 2014b). However, it is important that governments have a supporting role in providing structures and funding for necessary healing programs as well as removing existing structural and systemic impediments to healthy relationships within Aboriginal communities (AHRC, 2011a; 2011b). However, it is believed that funding opportunities over the last year have been compromised under the Indigenous Advancement Strategy⁷ (IAS) which appears to have disheartened many Indigenous people in addressing such issues (i.e. Brooks, 2015; Kerin, 2015; McInerney, 2015; Morgan, 2015; NACCHO, 2015; Peterson, 2015) A report after 12 months of deliberations and hearings indicates that the funding initiatives have been deeply problematic (NACCHO, 2016).

Personal and community strategies for dealing with lateral violence

Various articles have highlighted personal, professional and community strategies by Aboriginal people to deal with oppression, racism, trauma and lateral violence. Rebuilding relationship strategies, suggested by AHRC at the policy level, include zero tolerance to any type of abuse within Aboriginal communities and organisations such as bullying, harassment, intimidation and violence (AHRC, 2011b). Some articles advocate conversations, education

-

⁷ The Indigenous Advancement strategy is where many individual programmes and activities have been streamlined into five broad categories in order for organisations to deliver important services in communities (Australian Government, 2015).

and community awareness of lateral violence (Atkinson, 2002; Bennett, 2014; Gorringe et al., 2009). For example, when working with trauma Atkinson (2002) believes education is fundamental to healing and utilizes a healing circle and the *dadirri*. The dadirri, which was first presented by Ungunmerr-Baumann (2002), is to listen deeply and connect with one's inner spirit and soul. Coffin et al. (2010) indicate that the education system needs to cater for Aboriginal children, families and communities in Midwest Western Australia, in addressing bullying in the schoolyards, by providing peer support to parents and caregivers to assist in tackling the intergenerational impacts of trauma. Further, the authors advocate that systemic processes are needed to foster a community consciousness to reject violence and bullying as well as to address Aboriginal disadvantage.

Langton (2008) highlights some of the personal and collective tactics for lateral violence by women, particularly when bullied by men in work and community settings where "big bunda" (a lot of money) politics is linked to power. For example, strategies by women include holding meetings at places and at times that are inconvenient for men to ensure their limited attendance. Among Aboriginal men the Inteyerrkwe statement⁸ (2008) was developed and highlights their future roles as caring figures and apologizes to Aboriginal women for the hurt and suffering they have caused. It asks for support from the women to assist in moving forward together (Aboriginal Male Health Summit, 2008).

0

⁸ The Inteyerrkwe statement was developed at the first Aboriginal male health summit in Alice Springs in 2008 by Aboriginal men.

Policy and legislative solutions

Lateral violence as a concept does not appear to have legal standing. However, bullying which is considered part of lateral violence has a number of avenues for complaints and redress. For example, action can be pursued under workers' compensation legislation, anti-discrimination and harassment legislation, industrial legislation, occupational health and safety legislation and common law causes of action in contract and tort. The creation of the Fair Work (FW) antibullying jurisdiction now provides readily accessible external intervention into workplace bullying without applicants having to exhaust internal organisational processes. The literature on workplace bullying generally recognises bullying as "unreasonable behaviour that is repeated and highly detrimental and harmful to a person's safety and wellbeing" (Worth & Squelch, 2015, p. 1016). On an individual level, the most common complaints associated with the effects of workplace bullying include stress, depression and lowered self-esteem, as well as physical symptoms such as muscular tension, headaches, nausea and stomach upset. At the more serious end, post-traumatic stress, trauma and suicide have been associated with workplace bullying (Worth & Squelch, 2015). Yet, Mellor (2004) indicates that the Indigenous people in his study were reluctant to use regulatory or legislative bodies for their complaints as they were seen as ineffective.

Online or cyberbullying has been an increasing problem and cyber safety is a growing concern, particularly for young people (Radoll, 2014). Now under the *Enhancing Online Safety Act* 2015, the Children's e-Safety Commissioner was established as a complaints system for cyberbullying targeted at children and can direct large social media companies to remove offensive material (Young et al., 2016). However, defining and stopping bullying, whether in law, policy or research remains a challenge, despite good intentions (Worth & Squelch, 2015).

Therapeutic interventions and counselling

In order to cope and heal, Aboriginal people may seek counselling or therapy (group or individual) for a variety of social and emotional wellbeing issues. Within the Aboriginal community controlled sector there are a range of both Indigenous (50.9%) and non-Indigenous (49.1) counsellors providing counselling, support and advocacy (AIHW, 2016). Various types of therapies and techniques are utilised to engage Aboriginal people in counselling. These therapies can include narrative therapy which enables a process for clients to tell their story that is akin to storytelling in Aboriginal culture (Fredericks, 2006; Pratt, 2007). Another type is an adapted form of cognitive behaviour therapy (CBT) in which preliminary research is deemed to be suitable with Aboriginal people (Bennett-Levy et al., 2014). However, the suitability of CBT is still being reviewed and monitored (Dudgeon & Kelly, 2014). Art has also been considered a valuable tool in non-verbal therapeutic approaches in dealing with emotional and physical trauma for Indigenous people (Cameron, 2010); and Aboriginal traditional healing which incorporates physical and mental health has also been advocated. For instance, in Western Australia traditional healers work with the ngarlu (spiritual life force located in the stomach) on the premise that it has been weakened by colonisation and changes to lifestyle, which have contributed to dispossession, disempowerment, alcohol and drug use (Roe, 2010). In South Australia, traditional healers (Ngangkaris) provide similar healing in remote, rural and urban areas (in Adelaide) via a two way health care model (with Ngangkari and the health professional) (Panzironi 2013).

Aboriginal healing programs

Other national examples of healing and educational initiatives by Indigenous people for Indigenous people and community include: The *We-Al-Li* program (Atkinson, Nelson & Atkinson, 2010) to help heal trauma; The *Seven Phases to Healing* to work with loss and grief

and heal, anger and violence (Wanganeen, 2014); Aboriginal men's healing such as the *Red Dust* healing initiative (Powell, Ross, Kickett & Donnelly, 2014) and the *Mibbinbah Spirit* healing program (Bulman & Hayes, 2011) to address issues of racism, trans-generational trauma, and loss of culture and identity, and endeavours to create safe spaces for men to heal. Women's healing initiatives include the many Aboriginal family violence programs around Australia to safeguard and empower Aboriginal people such as the *Nunga Mi:Minar* service in South Australia (Snell & Small, 2009). A comprehensive review of Aboriginal healing programs has also been undertaken by the Aboriginal Healing Foundation (McKendrick et al., 2013).

Cultural competence and safety

Given the lack of specific and tailored resources for Aboriginal people's healing, there is often reliance on mainstream health and mental health services which often fail to understand and address many Aboriginal healing issues. The effectiveness of therapeutic interventions conducted by mainstream services depends on the level of cultural competency, cultural safety and relationship building provided within the service.

As a response to cultural diversity in many countries, models of cultural competency have been developed in order to foster change at both individual and institutional levels. A model that has been used by the Australian Indigenous Psychologists Association (AIPA) for their positively evaluated cultural competence training for non-Indigenous therapists (AIPA, 2016) is the cultural development model (CDM) (Wells, 2000) consisting of six stages along a continuum. The first three stages are cognitive phases which incorporate learning and cultural knowledge acquisition. The latter three stages are based on affective processes of self-reflection, understanding and experience. These stages are: *cultural incompetence* which signifies a lack

of knowledge about cultural implications of health behaviour; *cultural knowledge* which is learning about the fundamentals of culture and their role in shaping and identifying health care behaviour; *cultural awareness* which is about distinguishing and understanding the cultural implications of behaviour; *cultural sensitivity* which integrates cultural knowledge and awareness into individual and/or organisational behaviour; *Cultural competence* which defines the routine application of culturally relevant interventions and practices; and *cultural proficiency* which is the integration of all the components of the CDM model into the organisational culture, and for individuals it is the mastery of cognitive and affective practices.

Cultural safety is a broader concept or framework and can include cultural competency. It extends beyond cultural awareness and sensitivity as it empowers individuals and enables them to contribute to positive outcomes (Bin-Sallik, 2003). Many organisations have embedded cultural safety (or alternatively, cultural respect) frameworks into their systems. One example is the Victorian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (VACCHO) which has embedded a cultural framework by including cultural competency training and principles for government and non-Aboriginal human service organisations (Frankland, Lewis & Trotter, 2010). Internal to VACCHO is a framework about taking responsibility for accessing Aboriginal rights to cultural safety which will lead to increasing the resilience of Aboriginal children, families and young people. What this means is that everyone has the right to feel good about themselves and their identities and to access their culture safely as Aboriginal people. Significantly, one of the key foundational issues for VACCHO with cultural safety is tackling lateral violence (Frankland et al., 2010).

Specific lateral violence healing and training programs

Programs specifically targeting lateral violence are common in the nursing industry in the United States. These are designed to empower nurses via forums through education, training, workshops and conflict resolution sessions (Ceravolo, Schwarz, Foltz-Ramos & Castner, 2012; Dulaney, Jacobs & Zager, 2010). Education and training is also provided in some undergraduate nursing programs in America to prevent lateral violence pervading the sector (Blair, 2013). In a similar vein, training programs on lateral violence appear to be increasing within Aboriginal communities in Canada and Australia and surfacing on websites. For example, in Canada Chameleon Strategies (2016) provide lateral violence workshops; and kweykwayconsulting (2016) uses restorative approaches for community wellness to prevent lateral violence. In Australia, examples include: Aboriginal cultural workshops (Ryan 2015) which conduct lateral violence workshops called the *black poppy syndrome*; and *Koorreen* Enterprises (2015) in Victoria which specialises in awareness and train-the-trainer workshops that counteract lateral violence called *Lateral Healing*. In Adelaide, local examples include: Kornar Winmil Yunti (2016) which provides opportunities, engagement and training about lateral violence for Aboriginal men; Lateral Love (2014) which provides information and regular newsletters and emails about lateral violence and lateral love; and Preventing Lateral Violence (PLV) workshops which is a one-day awareness and empowerment workshop delivered to various Aboriginal organisations in Adelaide (Clark, Glover & Butler, 2014).

Evaluations of healing programs and workshops for lateral violence

Evaluations of Aboriginal programs are important to ensure good practice which is what all evaluations strive to achieve (Markiewicz, 2012). The importance of program evaluation becomes especially relevant when it is requested, owned and undertaken by Indigenous people (Hurworth & Harvey, 2012). At present there appear to be limited published evaluations for policy and programs concerning Indigenous people (Hunter, 2016; Productivity Commission, 2012). Further, there does not appear to be published evaluations of lateral violence interventions pertaining to Indigenous peoples in Australia. Yet, several published evaluations of lateral violence workshops have been conducted in the nursing field in the United States. One such example is by Dahlby and Henrick (2014), who conducted an evaluation of nurses from two nursing units before and after attending a one and a half hour training workshop on lateral violence. The instrument utilised was a modified version of the Lateral Violence in Nursing Survey (LVNS) (developed by Stanley, Martin, Michel, Welton & Nemeth, 2007b). There were 29 pre- and 25 post-test responses with the results indicating that the workshops resulted in a decrease in the frequency of lateral violence in the nursing units, better understanding of the causes and effects of lateral violence and assisted in developing healthier relationships within work units. Dahlby and Henrick (2014) suggest that these findings support other evaluations in the literature which find that awareness raising and teaching methods to combat lateral violence can be effective in decreasing the frequency and intensity of behaviours which constitute lateral violence.

The challenge of evaluating Aboriginal educational/awareness programs and workshops in Australia

Evaluation research for healing programs and interventions targeting Aboriginal people is not well-documented in Australia, in particular those that address social and emotional wellbeing (Healing Foundation, 2012)). Many evaluations are also being conducted by non-Indigenous academics with an outsider's evaluation framework, which can limit insider experience and knowledge (Price, McCoy & Mafi, 2012).

For example, Day and Francisco (2013) undertook a systematic review of interventions that had the potential to improve the social and emotional wellbeing of Indigenous people in Australia, from the available published research. However, they indicated that from 8,000 papers published only a small number of evaluations involved Indigenous participants and/or communities. The selected social and emotional wellbeing evaluations were then identified for screening for quality by the Maryland Scientific Methods Scale – a ranking system for research design according to strength of internal validity. Scores on this scale generally reflect the level of confidence that can be placed in the conclusions about cause and effect or certainty that any observed change is actually caused by a particular program or service. In the evaluations primarily those with quantitative methods scored a satisfactory rating on the Maryland scientific methods scale. Those programs that were evaluated using primarily qualitative methods were viewed as being low to very low on scientific rigour. Day and Francisco (2013) concluded that it is not currently possible to determine what might be considered evidence based practice for these interventions. Furthermore they acknowledge there are legitimate concerns about defining evidence in terms of criteria linked directly to quantitative evaluation methods, as they may not capture the holistic nature of Indigenous healing. This is a quandary; if interventions and evaluations are not conducted in a prescribed way by funding bodies they

may not be funded or supported. This does not allow for real change to happen within communities (Healing Foundation 2012).

Research aims

The quantity of published literature on lateral violence in Indigenous communities in Australia is limited with much of the available research being reported in the grey literature and accessed for this study.

The Grey Literature Network Service (2016) defines grey literature as

"a field in Library and Information Science that deals with the production, distribution, and access to multiple document types produced on all levels of government, academics, business, and organisation in electronic and print formats not controlled by commercial publishing, i.e. where publishing is not the primary activity of the producing body" (home page).

Grey literature constitutes a sizeable chunk of information pertaining to Indigenous people in Australia. This is in part due to limited journal publications by Aboriginal people and services in Australia. Instead Aboriginal people have extensively published their views in the grey literature category and as such material is rarely found in mainstream library collections (Rosewarne, 2009). The overriding aim of this thesis is to bridge the research and literature gap of explanation of the complexity and relational nature of lateral violence among Indigenous people in Australia, and to ensure that Aboriginal violence and perspectives are readily available to the widest possible audience.

Five specific aims that form the cornerstones of the current research are described below.

- The research literature on lateral violence specific to the Australian Aboriginal context is minimal. Hence it is important to review the existing literature on this topic that is both published and in the grey literature. It is anticipated that this will add to the body of knowledge (conceptual, theoretical and experiential) on lateral violence in an Australian, and particularly South Australian, context.
- The research in this thesis is specifically designed to examine how Aboriginal people themselves orient to the topic of lateral violence and understand the meaning of this concept. For example, does it resonate with their experiences, or is the concept simply another name for existing notions of community or family violence, or domestic abuse? Significantly, this thesis is designed to listen to the voices of Indigenous people themselves rather than focus solely on *expert* knowledge in this area.
- Recent research has linked psychological distress and wellbeing in the Aboriginal
 community with racism and poor physical health. This thesis will explore the potential
 relationship between the experiences of lateral violence and psychological distress and
 wellbeing.
- Whilst there are healing and/or educational programs and workshops for Aboriginal people in Australia there are only a few that focus on lateral violence. Furthermore Aboriginal training and healing programs are rarely evaluated let alone published. Hence it is important to review the literature on this topic in order to understand an evidence base of best practice and effective intervention strategies. As part of this process, Adelaide local and current *preventing lateral violence* workshops will be evaluated to understand their usefulness as an intervention tool to prevent lateral violence over time.

• Lastly this thesis will recognise Aboriginal people's resilience and strength by identifying successful strategies utilised by Aboriginal people in their everyday lives to deal and cope with lateral violence. It is hoped that by sharing and disseminating this knowledge for others to consider, lateral violence can be curbed within Aboriginal communities.

Chapter 2: Indigenous methodology

Overview

This chapter has been written for many purposes. As this thesis is by publication, the stand alone methodology in each analytic chapter is sufficient to fulfil the requirements of the thesis. However, the limited space in these chapters/ articles does not allow a thorough discussion about Indigenous methodology. Nor does it allow a space for my own critical reflections as an Indigenous researcher, which is central to an Indigenous methodology. Hence, this chapter will briefly detail some of the principle features of Indigenous research and methodology along with my positioning and critical self-reflexivity as a researcher.

Background

There has been a long history of oppressive research conducted on Indigenous people in Australia utilising dominant Western frameworks. Fredericks (2007) indicates that some of the research on Aboriginal people has been invasive to Aboriginal people's lives and communities. This has been particularly relevant in psychology where oppressive research was used to inform various policies and practices that impacted on Indigenous mental health in Australia (Dudgeon, Rickwood, Garvey & Gridley; 2014). Indeed, as Smith (1999) points out, "research is one of the dirtiest words in the Indigenous world's vocabulary" (p. 1). In order for research to be accountable and respectful of Indigenous people's culture and knowledge, many Indigenous researchers have challenged dominant Western approaches. This challenge has progressed to a research paradigm that is inclusive of Indigenous knowledges and worldviews with the intent to guide Indigenous research and researchers into the future.

A significant literature on Indigenous methodologies has developed over the past 20 years that has originated from North America, New Zealand and Australia (e.g. Arbon, 2008; Kovach,

2009; Martin, 2003; Nakata, 2007; Rigney, 1999a, 1999b; Smith, 1999, 2005; Wilson, 2008). This is summed up best by Rigney (1999b) who points out that Indigenous researchers have been very active in seeking ways to disrupt the "history of exploitation, suspicion, misunderstanding, and prejudice" of Indigenous peoples (p. 117). In contrast alternative methodologies and approaches to undertake research that privilege Indigenous knowledges, voices, and experiences have emerged that reflect the social, material and spiritual conditions of Indigenous people's lives.

Many of these Indigenous scholars have produced doctorate dissertations based on Indigenous methodological research. Indigenous methodologies as a guiding tool may not only be used for Indigenous research, but is potentially accessible to a range of audiences – both Indigenous and non-Indigenous people – as long as there is a grasp of the process. Even Indigenous scholars are not locked into utilising an Indigenous methodology and can choose to use other methodologies. For example, knowledge produced by mainstream positivist methods utilised by Indigenous researchers may still be crucial in the research process, as long as there is an acknowledgement that it is not the only way of knowing the world around them (Wilson, 2008). Thus Indigenous methodology is important because it can influence policy and shape practice in various contexts. Previously it was Western forms of knowledge that shaped the political arena rather than Indigenous knowledges or forms of inquiry (Kovach, 2009).

Understanding the terminology of an Indigenous methodology

In this section it is important first to clarify some of the terminology used in Indigenous approaches. For example, a paradigm seems to have many interchangeable words such as standpoints, worldview, framework, conceptual framework or epistemological framework and methodology – all of which can mean the same or mean different things depending on the

author and the context of the material. In general these words signify an overarching research approach that makes visible the way the world is seen. They represent the theoretical knowledge system that governs the research and gives researchers the tools to show how their methods are being aligned with a particular way of knowing (Kovach, 2009). A methodology also encompasses the integration of the knowledge system, the methods (tools, techniques and processes) and the purpose of the research. Smith (1999) indicates that an Indigenous methodology is made up of an Indigenous ontology (i.e. assumptions about the nature of reality), axiology (i.e. the nature of values), and epistemology (i.e. ways of knowing reality), that must be acknowledged and embraced. For Indigenous people, diversity (i.e. of language groups and of differences in the way they see the world, organize themselves in it, the questions they ask and the solutions they seek as Indigenous people) is also important to embrace. Wilson (2008) indicates that part of an Indigenous methodology and axiology is that we are mediators in the growing relationship between the community and whatever it is being researched. Another consideration for an axiology is that the community needs to own and lead its own research.

Metaphors can assist in further understanding Indigenous methods. For example, Wilson (2008) suggests that an Indigenous research paradigm is like a road map which signifies where you want to go: the method is the particular tools that you use to gather the information (the method of transport, i.e. the car, the bus, etc.). Fredericks (2007) indicates that the research methodology is about "laying out a path" (structure or plan) for the research which is found in an "external landscape" whereas the self is part of the "internal landscape" (p. 15).

Tensions between paradigms and methods in Aboriginal research

Indigenous research has largely been qualitative in nature and linked to the many forms of
qualitative inquiry developed by critical, feminist, and postcolonial theories (Kovach, 2009). In

psychology, qualitative research is seen as both a method and a wider epistemological framework for conducting research. Within the broader framework, qualitative research considers multiple realities and a contextual integration of that knowledge in which meaning rather than measures is the central focus. There is a recognition that subjectivity is central to people's views, perspectives, and frameworks for making sense of their world, their politics and their passions and carries over into the research process which is seen as a strength rather than a weakness (Braun & Clarke, 2013). Researchers will often integrate forms of qualitative inquiry in a multi-perspectival, multi-theoretical, multi-methodological approach or eclectic approach to social inquiry. This is considered as *bricolage* research which is slowing becoming accepted by the mainstream as well (Rogers, 2012). For example, in positioning herself in Aboriginal research, Dudgeon (2007) considers her research as "bricoleur" in nature as she is positioned between various paradigms (i.e. constructivism, feminist inquiry, and Aboriginal educational research) within a qualitative approach (p. 92).

Although qualitative enquiry is often positioned within an Indigenous methodology, it may not be a straightforward fit, especially if there is a tension between Indigenous and Western concepts. For example, Kovach (2009) indicates that she had difficulty when trying to fit tribal (localised Canadian Indigenous) epistemology into Western cultural conceptual rubrics. Many Indigenous scholars refute the need for a complete rejection of Western empirical approaches: rather, there is a need for deconstructing and decolonizing these dominant approaches (Smith, 1999). The tension appears paramount at the methodological level between Aboriginal worldviews and Western worldviews, particularly positivist views, rather than with research methods per se (i.e. qualitative and quantitative). To exemplify this tension, Roy (2014) indicates that positivism has an emphasis on decontextualisation that leaves little room for the concept of relatedness that is at the core of Aboriginal ontologies. The constructivist ontology of relativism, that argues that reality is socially constructed and that multiple standpoints on

reality can simultaneously exist, is somewhat more amenable to the Aboriginal ontological premise of relatedness.

Many authors argue that methods of qualitative and quantitative inquiry can be used simultaneously. However the suitability of approaches will depend on many factors such as the questions being asked within an Indigenous methodology (Roy, 2014), or the alignment with counterhegemonic work such as that undertaken in feminist methodologies, cultural and anti/postcolonial studies, critical race theory, and other critical approaches (Smith, 2005). It seems that suitability of methods needs to encompass openness, flexibility and be contextual and accommodating to Aboriginal perspectives and purposes (standpoints) (Roy, 2014; Weber-Pillwax, 2001). Furthermore some scholars (e.g. Botha, 2011; Cameron, Andersson, McDowell & Ledogar, 2010) suggest that the use of mixed or multiple methods enables a more comprehensive insight into the complexities of most issues in the social sciences.

Central features of an Indigenous methodology

Incorporating the three Rs

Accountability of the three Rs of respect, reciprocity and relationality, is at the forefront of an Indigenous methodology (Arbon, 2008; Martin, 2008). It follows that the researcher has a vested interest in the integrity of the methodology (respect) and also needs to form a respectful relationship with the ideas being studied (e.g. how and why I decided to study this topic, and some of the factors that influenced my point of view). This respectful relationship is realised if the results are reciprocated (reciprocity) for discussion and deliberation in the community.

An Indigenous paradigm comes from the fundamental belief that knowledge is relational and should be shared with all creations (i.e. people, animals, land, and the cosmos). Relationality

also conjoins time and logic which are all circular within an Indigenous context. This is in contrast to a linear form of time and logic central to Western worldviews which are considered illogical to Indigenous understandings. Identity for Indigenous people is grounded in their relationships with the land, with ancestors, past and present, and with future generations who come into being on the land. Thus relationship accountability or axiology is the accountability to the community and the universe. Therefore the research and researcher must be connected or be part of a community and set of relationships (Wilson, 2008). Martin (2003) indicates that the necessity of our relationship or relatedness with our ancestors and the people around us every day is important; even if we don't know them, we still need to relate to them. This relatedness enables trust with people and community when conducting research, especially when one is using a research framework in which relational ontology, epistemology and methodology are necessary conditions.

Relationality also applies to the relational balance between Western systems and Indigenous ways of knowing, being and thinking. For example, Wilson (2008) indicates the relational nature of particular qualitative methods means that questions, quotes and themes should not be removed from their context as the themes need to be relational. Wilson (2008) adds that it is not always possible to know both the context and definition. The closer you get to focusing on an idea, you can lose the context and the more you pay attention to the context, you lose the definition or focus. Thus it is important to make the two relational and both accountable.

The relational nature of the research enables an *insider* approach which is the enabling of the positioning and understanding of relationality of Indigenous researchers (Weber-Pillwax, 2001; Wilson, 2008). An insider approach is the understanding of subjectivity in research where there is a lifetime of learning, experiences and analysis. The *outsider* approach is in line with an objective or an "Other" stance whereby outsider interpretations are constituted through a different lens or perspective. Indigenous people have a long history of being studied by

outsiders and an outsider approach is one in which expert knowledge of the "Other" is presumed (Smith, 2005, p. 87).

For an Indigenous methodology an emphasis on learning by watching and doing is salient. This means that participant observation can be an ongoing process in various settings such as the home, work and community. It is about building rapport and trust; relational accountability; and reciprocal and respectful relationships. In contrast, Western approaches using observational techniques use unobtrusive methods for objectivity which are believed to not influence those being observed or the context. This separates the researcher and the researched, resulting in disconnect between the research, the participants and the topic. The researcher must be accountable and build upon the relationship between the ideas and participants (Wilson 2008). Relationality also attributes to a shared sense of ownership of the research project.

Although the researcher can claim that it is his or her project, one cannot claim ownership when there have been many contributors and relationships that progressed it (Wilson, 2008).

The positive and solution focused nature of Indigenous research

In Australia, Indigenous people are viewed within a deficit or problematic discourse (Fforde et al., 2013). An Indigenous methodology rejects such an approach and attempts to focus on empowerment and capacity building, especially in mentoring and creating spaces and support for new approaches to research and new examinations of Indigenous knowledge (Smith, 2005). Wilson (2008) adds that it is not necessary to dwell on Indigenous struggles or the powerlessness to change situations, but rather to focus on assertion and achievement. Moreover, it is acceptable to acknowledge the struggles but to focus on "where do we go from here to get over the negative stuff" (Wilson, 2008, p. 107). This means that Indigenous methodologies are cumulative and look for solutions to problems (Martin, 2003). For example,

focusing on health rather than illness can be contrasted to Western research practices that emphasise deficits, critique, and deficiencies (Wilson, 2008).

This appears especially in literature reviews within a Western paradigm based on critiquing and finding fault with another's work, which in turn is believed to lift your own work. Wilson (2008) argues that it is not culturally appropriate to criticise or judge other people's work (i.e. research paradigms, methods or techniques) as all ideas are judged through relationships, and one cannot know other's relationships, therefore all ideas are equally valid. He further adds that this is a form of lateral oppression which is when you oppress other's ideas to lift your own, and it can contribute to tearing people apart. This notion corresponds with the current research on lateral violence in Adelaide in which oppression nurtures difference and fault finding, which in turn contributes to infighting within communities. Thus by helping build upon strengths, ideas and relationships between people (within and between groups), there is room to overcome some of the differences and discrepancies.

Vulnerability in Aboriginal research

A sense of isolation and vulnerability is somewhat common for Indigenous people in academia and research. Kovach (2009), for example, revealed her struggle to balance an oral based knowledge system with the academic world. She felt vulnerable when conducting and defending her research. She also felt vulnerable disseminating and publishing her work in the academic world. Nevertheless, Kovach (2009) concluded that the more awareness you have about Indigenous knowledge, the richer your own experiences become and you contextualise your own experiences which lessens the sense of isolation.

Vulnerability is intrinsic to understanding ethical standards. Smith (2005) suggests that Indigenous perspectives challenge researcher reflection in two significant ways: first, Indigenous communities share with other marginalised and vulnerable communities a collective and historically chronic experience of research as the Object; and second, researchers also share the "research as expert" representation of who they are. It is an experience that Indigenous communities associate with colonialism and racism, with inequality and injustice (p. 101).

Furthermore, there may be vulnerability in relation to how Indigenous knowledge is represented by Indigenous people. Smith (2005) indicates that currently an Indigenous way of knowing may be different to that of ancestral ways of knowing, several hundred years ago, yet presently it is still a valid way of knowing. It provides access to a different epistemology, an alternative vision of society and an alternative ethic for human conduct. Research should therefore not be an interrogation of whether the way of knowing is *pure* or *authentic* but whether it is the means through which Indigenous people have made sense of their lives and circumstances.

Positioning myself in the research

Introducing myself

It is important to provide a voice about who I am. I have many identities but my Aboriginal identity is central to and relates to my other identities as a woman, mother, aunty and wife. I am an Aboriginal woman with cultural ancestry of Kokatha and Wirangu language groups on the West Coast and in the desert regions of South Australia (hereafter SA). My Aboriginal ancestry stems from my mother's side and my father's side is Anglo-Celtic heritage – original

descendants from Britain in the late 1800s who resided in Tasmania as free settlers and convicts. I live in two worlds and consider myself bi-cultural, yet my identity is Aboriginal as I grew up within my Aboriginal culture and large kinship structure. My mother, grandparents and great-grandmother were attached to Koonibba mission. This is a Lutheran mission on the West Coast of SA where Aboriginal people were placed from surrounding areas as part of various policies, directed at Aboriginal people in SA.

My father, as a non-Aboriginal man, was a friend and advocate for many Aboriginal people. He was well respected by both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people in Andamooka, the town in which he spent most of his adult life. My father met my mother in the context of hanging out with Aboriginal people in Port Augusta, South Australia. I see this as my father coming into Aboriginal culture rather than my mother leaving Aboriginal culture. I was born in Port Augusta and have spent most of my life (from 1975 to today) in Adelaide on Kaurna country. Adelaide is my home and is a place where much of my immediate family live. I have seven siblings, many cousins (who are also my siblings), two biological children, a husband, many step children and several who call me nana. My grandparents, uncles and aunties, all bar one aunty, have passed on and our one surviving aunty is a family treasure. My generation is now becoming the family elders and taking responsibility for passing on cultural knowledge. I continue to have a strong sense of family and connection and try to ensure the younger ones are culturally informed, and connected to each other as well as culture and the environment. I am now in my early 50s and from the moment I left school at 18 my various forms of employment have been to service the needs of the Aboriginal community. This has been to assist people into employment and education and as a clinical psychologist to assist Aboriginal people's psychological wellbeing. As a researcher and lecturer I continue to assist with education and in providing a service to primarily other Aboriginal people with my research.

Paradigm orientation

As an Aboriginal researcher I have links to various paradigms such as constructionism, feminist approaches, and cultural studies to name a few. These paradigms overlap and advocate for multiple realities which are socially, experientially constructed realities (ontology), and where the researcher and researched are interactively linked as well as share the perspectives of those who have been oppressed within society. Like Dudgeon (2007), I may be undertaking research that is bricoleur or eclectic, even if my main goal has been to undertake an Indigenous research paradigm. However a bricoleur approach within qualitative research is typically described as multi-perspectival, multi-theoretical and multi-methodological (see Rogers, 2012). My method within this research is mixed methods, utilising both quantitative and qualitative approaches to collecting and analysing data. Various authors (i.e. Botha, 2011; Cameron et al., 2010) suggest that multi-method approaches are suitable within an Indigenous methodology depending on the questions asked.

My associations with the topic of lateral violence

Lateral violence is a phenomenon that I have experienced all my life within the Aboriginal community, but it was normalized and hard to see. It was present under many different names within my local Aboriginal community such as *black politics* or *big bunda* (big money) politics (see Langton, 2008). I was told when I was younger that "this is the way we do business". Yet I was uncomfortable even then about the *business* but who was I to question it? It came to my attention as a significant issue within our community when I heard it discussed at the Healing Our Spirit Worldwide (HOSW) conference, in Alberta, Canada in 2006. The discussions were led by many Canadian Indigenous leaders who were seeking to challenge and prevent lateral violence. The concept resonated with me, along with some colleagues at the HOSW

conference, and we felt compelled to share the information with the Aboriginal community in Adelaide. The sharing began as informal yarns and transgressed to a formal process of undertaking workshops for the Aboriginal community in Adelaide in 2007. Initially the workshops were developed in collaboration with the Cooperative Research Centre for Aboriginal Health (CRCAH) (now called the Lowitja Institute). Although this national affiliation ceased, the workshops continued in Adelaide. Delivery of the preventing lateral violence workshops (PLV) has been conducted by two Aboriginal facilitators on each occasion (current facilitators: myself [Yvonne Clark], Karen Glover⁹, and Stan Butler¹⁰). Currently the workshops have continued by demand and have expanded interstate.

These workshops have been positively appraised via local community feedback and will be the subject of formal evaluation as part of this thesis. Prior to the start of the evaluation process of the research in 2014, 15 preventing lateral violence (PLV) workshops were delivered in Adelaide catering for approximately 300, primarily Aboriginal participants. Prior to the evaluation, the workshops generated conversations about lateral violence, and the gaps and need for resources to name a few. The pursuit of a PhD was a natural consequence of these initial workshops and productive conversations with the local Aboriginal community. I wanted to listen, learn, document and formally represent the views of others and provide sufficient resources to the community in the form of journal articles, and improved educational practices such as the refined workshops. Further recommendations from participants will also be pursued as part of this research.

-

⁹ Karen Glover is a Ngarrindjeri woman. She attended the HOSW conference in 2006. She co-developed the information sessions and workshops and co-facilitates many sessions.

¹⁰ Stan Butler is an Arrernte /Gurindji man living in Adelaide and assists with facilitation of the workshops.

The fit between my research and an Indigenous methodology

In a similar fashion to other Indigenous researchers I have felt a sense of vulnerability during the duration of my PhD. This has been primarily related to the research itself, the methodology or paradigm; the sensitivity of the topic of lateral violence; public exposure of my reflections; and publishing articles in the world of academia. Yet accountability is paramount and I wanted to ensure that my methodology would be accountable.

The notion of decolonizing the mind (Ngugi, 1998; Smith, 1999, 2012) which conveys that the conquerors not only imposed control over the country, but also on the minds of its subjects which continues to be evident today. Hence the need for decolonizing processes. In his writings, Ngugi (1998) indicates that Imperialism distorted African realities by turning normality upside down. Thus I have continually reflected upon this dichotomy of the colonizing–decolonizing process and asked myself where my normality or reality is placed and has it been distorted? I can potentially draw on many examples, but one from the previous discussion about "how we do business" is when I viewed lateral violence as a normal part of Aboriginal community life. I do not want to dwell on this perception, but I want to balance my two current worlds in which one is part colonizer and the other part colonised and how this is reflected in my research. Whether or not I am successful with this balance is uncertain. However, I feel secure in my knowledge about my Aboriginal community and culture and confident to conduct my research with an Indigenous methodology as a guide.

I am a clinical psychologist and a lecturer in psychology. In gaining such qualifications I learned about empirical epistemologies and methods in my undergraduate years. I am not opposed to such approaches and will utilise them when needed, but there was an intuitive pull towards qualitative methods within a constructivist approach. This appears to fit with

Indigenous methodologies. Thus for this process of reflection, it is important to intertwine academic with personal knowledge which is instrumental in an Indigenous methodology. The language of knowledge production has been confusing (i.e. epistemology, axiology, ontology etc.). And yet, I have grasped many of the central features of an Indigenous methodology in which I have attempted to ground my research. As I continue to learn about an Indigenous methodology, my future research may be somewhat different to the research contained in this thesis.

I believe I have brought a holistic approach to the topic of lateral violence. I have attempted to do this by incorporating both quantitative and qualitative methods of analysis to ensure I capture the complexity of the topic. As with academics who write on the topic of Indigenous knowledges I can certainly feel the tension and squirm as I try to balance the different methods into an Indigenous framework of relatedness. The quantitative approach utilises wellbeing scales that have been validated with Aboriginal groups in Australia to measure their health status. I will also use a quantitative time series (pre, post and three months post) surveys to measure the outcome of the preventing lateral violence workshops. The survey has also been refined over time as part of previous feedback sheets completed by participants involved in the (PLV) workshops in Adelaide. The questions asked in these surveys relate to changes in understanding and putting in place strategies to prevent lateral violence over time.

This method was specifically chosen in order for quantitative data to represent the study and to use it to *talk to* those who subscribe to an objective and quantitative measures approach to research, and whom may influence or control resources to support community intervention.

This is also complemented by qualitative interviews and a thematic analysis in order to draw out more information and contextualise the quantitative data. Both methods (quantitative and

qualitative) incorporate a process that provides a bigger picture of the story of lateral violence in Adelaide.

Further consideration of the thematic process of analysis was whether I am decontextualising material when drawing on themes and reproducing dominant western forms of knowledge in which relatedness is omitted (Martin, 2003). My aim and emphasises of a thematic approach is to understand and convey Indigenous participants' worldviews, meaning, and diversity as well as ensuring the voices of Aboriginal people are prominent in the research. Although presenting themes involves extracting excerpts from interviews I have attempted to always contextualize this back to the individual's story, which contributes to a collective and relational story about lateral violence in Adelaide.

The importance of Indigenous processes, knowledge and voices to drive the research, such as the voices of Aboriginal participants, research assistant, researcher and PLV workshop facilitators have been undertaken. Thus in applying respect, reciprocity and relationality, participant's voices will be privileged, listened to, reflected upon and interpreted appropriately with an *insider* rather than *outsider* or *other* approach. It has been important that I engage in research with Aboriginal people, provide cultural safety and respect, relevancy and thus context to the material (Rigney, 1999a). I believe I have achieved this based on the level of trust I have received from participants to move forward with the personal stories they have shared. I asked participants if they wanted to see their transcripts, or have further involvement in the research, to which some replied: "I trust you to do it". Similar to Martin (2003), I am amazed at the level of trust I established with my participants when I was conducting my research. I largely attribute this to the relational ontology, epistemology and methodology used in this research.

The pseudonym process can also be a contentious one. Dudgeon (2007) chose to identify participants by a letter of the alphabet in her thesis rather than providing pseudonyms, "a pretend name", which is reminiscent of colonial oppressive practices of replacing Aboriginal names with European names (p. viii). Wilson (2008) points out that ethics within a dominant system generally disallows the naming of participants. He suggests that it can be unethical to not name participants, particularly if they are an elder whose role is to pass on information. Wilson (2008) further adds that this is a form of disrespect regarding the relationship that was built with the elder and their knowledge. Wilson utilizes dialogue between various Indigenous scholars to share knowledge. In response to naming people in research "Stan" indicates that using their real names depends on the nature of the knowledge, and it should not be a blanket yes or no. Therefore we need to make a decision about appropriateness and be accountable (Wilson, 2008, p. 116). From my research perspective I felt it was appropriate to use pseudonyms as a way to portray participants as people rather than numbers or letters. This way of naming also enabled participants to discuss a sensitive and personal topic without being identified and participants in the study accepted this. On reflection, perhaps I should have provided more choices. It might have been better, for example, to ask participants how they wanted to be portrayed and if they wanted to be identified, given that some participants were in an elderly age category. A dilemma for me was that I could not formally acknowledge participant contributions by name. I still feel obliged to let people know of my appreciation for their contributions to the research, partnering with me and educating others on the topic of lateral violence within the community. I could not have written this thesis without their assistance which encompasses a shared sense of ownership. Yet, this was a sensitive topic and I believe confidentiality empowered people to have their say about the topic and in this instance would continue to abide by the dominant ethical rules.

A central feature of an Indigenous methodology is ensuring that there is a positive or solution focused emphasis to the research. Although I reiterate and acknowledge Indigenous disadvantage and further discuss the effects of trauma, racism, colonisation and lateral violence, it is in the context of finding solutions and drawing on participant's resilience and empowerment. A further consideration is the literature review process. I did not undertake a systematic literature review for a number of reasons. Firstly, there was limited information in the literature about lateral violence and it was disguised under many names in the past and potentially hard to search with library tools. Secondly, I wanted to tell a story about lateral violence and follow wherever the literature took me. This is a subjective process which, as discussed earlier, is relevant for an Indigenous methodology. Furthermore in telling a story in the literature, I did not overly critique others work, as information is accumulative. I was not comfortable with a critical approach and, as explained by Wilson (2008), criticizing others to lift your own work is a form of lateral oppression. Given that my thesis is on lateral violence, I did not want to display hypocrisy by oppressing others within the literature. I preferred to engage in a story about where lateral violence came from and where it has taken us, and how we help solve it and utilize a naturalistic process of digging around for information. And besides, the digging process was necessary, given there is dearth literature on lateral violence. My last point is how I intend to reciprocate my research back to the Aboriginal community in Adelaide. My research did not have a reference group, nor was I accountable to a particular community and thus it has been difficult to feed information back to a consistent group. I have attempted to feed research outcomes back to those involved in the research and whilst this has been useful; many participants have been transient and therefore unable to be reached over time. I have built a relationship with many involved in the research and they have provided great feedback and encouragement. Reciprocity has been and will continue to be on a broader level of education, continuing to provide resources to the community via quality articles and

refined workshops. I chose to do a thesis by publication in order to provide immediate resources to the community. It is also hoped that the refined workshops and evaluation will also assist in attracting new resources that will in turn benefit the Aboriginal community in Adelaide.

Summary and conclusion

In conclusion, although the literature on Indigenous methodologies was sometimes confusing, once a path was cleared the process began to make sense. On self-reflection I came to understand that I have intuitively followed an Indigenous methodology in much of my past work and have pursued this methodology in my current research. The process of unpacking an Indigenous methodology and linking it to various aspects of my own research has enabled me to appraise my strengths and understand the areas in need of improvement. As I continue to research and further understand the concepts involved in Indigenous methodologies, any future research may be undertaken differently from the research reported in the present thesis.

Statement of Authorship

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	What's in a name? Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia	
Publication Status	Published ☐ Accepted for Publication	
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style
Publication Details	Clark, Y.,& Augoustinos, M. (2015) What's in a name? Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia. The Australian Community Psychologist, 27(2), 27-42.	

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Yvonne Clark
Contribution to the Paper	Performed the literature review, called for and collected data (interviews with participants) interpreted data, wrote manuscript and acted as corresponding author.
Overall percentage (%)	85%
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.
Signature	Date 20/11/2016

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Professor Martha Augoustinos
Contribution to the Paper	Supervised the development of the work, gave advice on data interpretation and manuscript preparation and submission
Signature	Date 20 11 2016

Name of Co-Author	NIV
Contribution to the Paper	
Signature	Date

Please cut and paste additional co-author panels here as required.

Chapter 3: What's in a name? Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia¹¹

Abstract

This chapter presents a thematic analysis of the naming and framing of lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia. Lateral violence is a relatively under researched area within the Aboriginal community, yet this term has been applied with little consultation. Interviews with 30 Aboriginal participants examining their understandings of lateral violence identified five themes relevant to the labelling and acceptance of the term *lateral violence*. By drawing on theories of oppression, social representations, stigma and racism, many of the themes indicate the importance and relevance of an overarching label of lateral violence to describe the infighting behaviours that have been normalised within the Aboriginal community. Assurance of a label makes the concept of lateral violence tangible and therefore able to be addressed. Despite this labelling, awareness of the concept of lateral violence in Adelaide appears relatively low. Resistance and opposition from the Aboriginal community to lateral violence appear to be associated with the stigma and prejudice attached to "violence". Such a word can potentially render all Aboriginal people as intrinsically violent and therefore blameworthy, which can alleviate any responsibility for dealing with this chronic problem in broader society.

¹¹ The front page of the journal article published that corresponds with this chapter can be found in Appendix 10. The PDF has been inserted and can be accessed in the thesis when in electronic form.

Introduction

Recent understandings of *lateral violence* in Australian Indigenous communities have been largely influenced by Canadian Indigenous interpretations and experiences of lateral violence (AHRC, 2011b). The term is believed to exist within many Indigenous communities worldwide with the common causal explanations being oppression, colonisation, racism and intergenerational trauma (Bombay, 2014; Derrick, 2006; Native Women's Association Canada [NWAC] 2015). According to Native Counselling Services of Alberta (NCSA) (2008) lateral violence is described as the way powerless people covertly and overtly direct their dissatisfaction inward, toward each other, themselves and those less powerful.

Some of the behavioural manifestations of lateral violence include gossip, jealousy, shaming others, verbal and physical attacks, sabotage and bullying (BearPaw Media Productions, 2006; Derrick, 2006; Equay-Wuk, 2012; NWAC, 2015). Accordingly, such behaviours can be triggered by differing levels of money, social status and education within communities, one's *blood quantum* and links to culture and physical characteristics such as skin, eye and hair colour. The effects include feelings of shame, a blaming mentality, lack of trust in others, and negative judgments within communities (Derrick, 2006) as well as physiological outcomes such as sleep disorders, weight loss or gain, and depression (NWAC, 2015).

In the South Australian context this inward dissatisfaction and infighting within Aboriginal communities is referred to as lateral violence. The literature on lateral violence also signifies colonisation and oppression as contributory factors for lateral violence in the Aboriginal community (AHRC, 2011b; Gorringe, Ross, & Fforde, 2009; Langton, 2008; Wingard, 2010). Colonisation in Australia has resulted in the fragmentation of Aboriginal cultures and the disenfranchisement of Aboriginal people. Australia's history of colonisation was founded upon

draconian and racist laws and policies which acted to control Aboriginal people and render them powerless. These laws and policies have had detrimental, cumulative and intergenerational effects on Aboriginal people which continue to this day (Coffin, Larson, & Cross, 2010; Glover, Dudgeon & Huygens, 2005; Watson, 2009).

The concept of lateral violence originated from early theorists in Africa (e.g. Fanon, 1963, 1967) and from Latin America (e.g. Freire, 1970). They argue that colonial practices were oppressive and were used as a power base to control the original or Indigenous peoples. They suggest that colonised groups attempt to mimic the oppressor and take on the behaviours as well as the values of the oppressors and in turn adopt violent behaviours that can be used amongst members of their own group. Discussions on colonialism often correspond with discussions on decolonisation. For example, Fanon (1967) viewed his writing as a decolonising instrument for liberation with the possibility of making changes for the better for black people in Africa. In Australia a decolonisation process enables Aboriginal people to come to grips with the colonial past by better understanding its damaging effects and consequences of oppression by the dominant culture. According to Strelein and Tran (2013) the "business of decolonisation" is done by engaging "with former colonial laws, policies and practices in order to create a 'space' for Indigenous peoples to express their unique identities, cultures and ways of knowing" (p. 19). Glover et al. (2005) indicate that decolonisation is about understanding the systemic consequences which in turn affirms the legitimacy of a people's ancestral culture and therefore encourages cultural renewal and potentially social transformation (Glover et al., 2005).

It is uncertain when the term lateral violence was actually applied to Indigenous people in Australia. However, its introduction appears to have coincided with the attendance of many

Indigenous people from Australia at the Healing Our Spirit Worldwide (HOSW) conference in Alberta in 2006 where lateral violence within Canadian Indigenous communities was discussed. Many Australian Indigenous people participated in these discussions. Post conference the word about lateral violence appears to have spread amongst some Indigenous people and communities in Australia via various forums such as conferences, articles, websites, Facebook and emails. Furthermore the current Aboriginal Social Justice Commissioner Mick Gooda has formally named lateral violence as a significant issue within Aboriginal communities (AHRC, 2011b; AHRC, 2012; Gooda, 2011). In addition, information and awareness of lateral violence are being disseminated in South Australia via the Preventing Lateral Violence (PLV) workshops¹² and in other education forums presented nationally (i.e. Koorreen Enterprises, 2015).

The phrase lateral violence has also been used in the nursing industry over the past three decades. Other labels such as *horizontal violence* (Roberts et al., 2009; Stokes, 2010) and *eating their young* (Stanley et al., 2007; Stokes, 2010) also apply to the nursing industry. Lateral violence is believed to be rife amongst nurses and is the name given to disruptive practices that members of an oppressed group, such as nurses within the medical and health sector, engage in towards members of their own group (Roberts et al., 2009). Moreover, nurses deal with their feelings of powerlessness and frustration by directing their dissatisfaction towards each other. Such behaviour has had implications for patient safety and health care. Consequently, there has been much activity around education and strategies for prevention of lateral violence in the nursing sector, particularly in the United States of America. This includes prevention programs in some undergraduate nursing programs (Blair, 2013) and in

1

¹² Preventing lateral violence, one-day workshops, have been delivered predominately in Adelaide since 2007. The facilitators (Yvonne Clark, Karen Glover, and Stan Butler) have formed a consortium and deliver the workshops on an ad-hoc basis and on request.

other training and workshops on lateral violence and conflict resolution (Ceravolo et al., 2012; Dulaney et al., 2010).

Whether or not lateral violence is the most suitable or even meaningful label to be applied to infighting behaviours of Indigenous people in Australia is uncertain. Even though there are conceptual and behavioural parallels of lateral violence between those in the nursing industry to Indigenous peoples, there appear to be vast differences, most notably in the type of oppression. For Indigenous people racism is the most common form of oppression, whereas in the nursing industry it appears to relate to professionalism and sexism. Furthermore, the oppression faced by Aboriginal people has its roots in colonialism, is intergenerational and applied to Indigenous people in all contexts and not just in the workplace. This means that lateral violence is inescapable, intense and chronic within Indigenous communities.

The labelling of any concept, such as lateral violence, is a fundamental human cognitive process and can be understood within a social representations framework. Moscovici (1988) indicates that social representations involve the content of everyday thinking and ideas that give rationality to religious beliefs, political ideas and the connections that people create. Social representations then make it possible for people to classify, compare and explain persons, objects and behaviours and to objectify them as part of one's social background (Moscovici, 1988). He uses the term *anchoring* to describe a process which enables people to cope, accept a novel, *strange* or unfamiliar idea or perception that is incorporated within existing ideas or social representations (Moscovici, 1988). In other words, people strive to make the unfamiliar familiar by searching for meaning in what is already known. People also classify and name the unfamiliar by comparing it with existing information/ experiences that are familiar and culturally accessible. When made familiar an abstract notion, idea and/or

information are transformed into concrete and common sense realities (Augoustinos et al., 2014).

Once a concept or idea is objectified it becomes less visible and people reach a point where there is no longer a differentiation between the objects with which the concept was originally aligned and they become ordinary and common sense (Moscovici, 1988). In other words, people normalise objects, perceptions, events and behaviours once they have become socially represented and accepted (Augoustinos et al., 2014). Even though there is a need to turn the strange into something familiar (to objectify); there can be tensions within the unfamiliar and it is these tensions that prevent mental conditioning from taking over completely with the existing information, allowing readjustments to the information or model to occur. Tensions or discrepancies assist in reinvigorating and bringing new and different ideas to the surface (Moscovici, 1988).

Two further essential components to Moscovici's theory are that firstly, he proposes two types of realities: the reified, the world of science which is the logical and rational form; and the consensual which is the realm of common sense. These realities are about understanding different ways of viewing the world and how it is socially represented to construct reality (Moscovici, 1988). Despite this, scientific and expert knowledge is often seen as valid and therefore given precedence even though consensual reality is more accessible to people. Secondly, Moscovici's theory includes a slow germination of ideas, particularly if they are ideas or labels that have broader implications. He suggests that a longer period of gestation may be required before right or wrong inferences can be drawn (Moscovici, 1988). Thus we apply this process to the labelling of lateral violence; if the label is unfamiliar we may compare it to existing information about infighting, and if it fits we conventionalise it and it

becomes accepted and common sense. If the label doesn't fit with existing information we may search for other labels, or try and adjust the information or its meaning until it fits. Once a common sense or socially acceptable label is applied to a concept it can open doors to greater awareness and learning which in turn can lead to changes, improvements and progress. On the other hand, if the concept of infighting is normalised in the community without the expression of a new label it can remain resistant to change. Thus the importance of labelling in relation to change is vital.

Even though the naming and framing of concepts is inherent and perhaps consensual, it can be an issue, particularly if a label is associated with a word that has negative connotations such as violence. It has been well established that as a victim, perpetrator or witness, violence is an issue within Indigenous communities in Australia and occurs at an alarmingly high rate (ABS, 2008; Snowball & Weatherburn, 2008). The term violence can be confusing as it is often seen as physical violence rather than in its covert forms. According to the Australian Human Rights Commission, violence as it is referred to in lateral violence, also includes covert practices such as emotional, social, economic and spiritual violence (AHRC, 2011b). Furthermore labels with violence can attract the attention of the media. How information is framed and problematized by the media is of concern and can compromise inequitable health and living and enable a process of victim blaming. This can excuse societal responsibility and assistance, and may limit the linking of other risk and co-morbid factors influencing an issue. Therefore masking issues as Aboriginal problems will simply maintain the status quo (McMurray, 2011). For example, violence against women and children in Aboriginal culture attracts disproportionate media attention, situating the problem as one of Indigenous culture, which is not only racist but compromises future planning (McMurray, 2011).

The problematizing of Aboriginal practices and people has occurred since colonisation and continues to occur through current stigmatisation and labelling of various issues. Link and Phelan (2001) indicate that five components of stigma are labelling, stereotyping, separation, status loss and discrimination, all within the context of power differentials. Phelan, Link, and Dovidio (2008) established that stigma and prejudice are shown to be the same concept and therefore both linked to the categorisations and labelling of concepts and individuals. What this means is that once a label is applied, a person or situation can be linked to a set of undesirable characteristics, stereotypes and experience status loss. Further, labels can also signal a separation of *us and them*. The labelling process exposes social differences or power differentials which Link and Phelan (2014) refer to as *stigma power*. This power is often hidden – misrecognised processes that serve the interests of stigmatisers and part of a social system that gets them what they want.

Another related issue to labelling, stigma, prejudice and media influences is the silencing of the Aboriginal community when sensitive issues are discussed. Gorringe et al. (2009) posit that silencing of particular issues occurs to avoid scrutiny and criticism from the broader community. It seems that silencing methods may be a way of self-preservation and protection because once information is made public, an individual or group can become vulnerable to outside influences. Violence is a stigmatising topic and therefore a code of silence has developed around family violence (HREOC, 2006). Some women's voices, in particular, that speak out against violence have been silenced, or not supported (Smallacombe, 2004) or ostracised from the Aboriginal community (Price, 2009). According to Freire (1970) maintaining a *culture of silence* is common in oppressed groups and indicates that silencing is destructive as it inhibits its members to critically look at their world or to collaborate with others. He stresses that it is important for oppressed people to develop a critical consciousness

in order to recognise that this culture of silence is created to oppress. Despite this issue, even when the silence is broken and people speak out against violence in communities they may not be listened to, particularly when being addressed at official and political levels (Sutton, 2001), and as such speaking out may be a deterrent.

In summary, the labelling of lateral violence is important and essential in order to understand it and challenge the infighting behaviours within Indigenous communities. However potential stigmatisation and prejudice when using words such as *violence* could mean that violence (i.e. physical violence) may be seen as intrinsic and exclusive to Aboriginal people and therefore different to violence in other sectors of society, sanctioning further stigmatisation, oppression and depowering by the mainstream population.

Thus a label, such as lateral violence, could potentially provide unwelcomed social attention, which would be in addition to the everyday racism faced by many Aboriginal people in Australia (Mellor 2003; Reconciliation Australia, 2015b; Stolper & Hammond, 2010). To avoid such scrutiny some of the important issues which need to be discussed and addressed within Aboriginal culture could be silenced. Thus the Aboriginal community may not speak out against lateral violence as it will bring more disempowerment and oppression. Furthermore lateral violence could be reported as another *Aboriginal problem* and mask a broader societal problem and therefore alleviate any responsibility. The focus and blame on one sector in society can divert the attention away from other sectors of society.

There is a paucity of research specific to information on lateral violence in Indigenous communities in the Australian context. Much of the information is via websites and grey literature which is a useful starting point. Grey literature includes unpublished and informal

sources such as non- conventional or unpublished documents such as government reports, memoranda, conference proceedings to name a few. The Grey Literature Network Service (2016) defines grey literature as

"a field in Library and Information Science that deals with the production, distribution, and access to multiple document types produced on all levels of government, academics, business, and organisation in electronic and print formats not controlled by commercial publishing i.e. where publishing is not the primary activity of the producing body" (home page).

Grey literature constitutes a sizeable chunk of information pertaining to Indigenous people in Australia. This is in part due to limited journal publications by Aboriginal people and because Aboriginal people have extensively published their views in the grey literature category. This means that such material is rarely found in mainstream library collections (Rosewarne, 2009).

Thus the broad aims of this study are to draw on understandings of Aboriginal participants' knowledge and experience of lateral violence within Aboriginal communities in Adelaide and to add to a larger body of published information on lateral violence. A specific focus in this chapter is to discuss the labelling process of lateral violence and whether the term has resonated with Aboriginal people.

Research approach

Indigenous framework

Engaging in an Indigenous framework is important and needs to embrace cultural safety and respect, have relevance and incorporate Indigenous worldviews (Rigney, 1999a). It is also about acknowledging and embracing Indigenous people's ontology (i.e. assumptions about the

nature of reality), epistemologies (i.e. ways of knowing reality), axiology (i.e. the nature of values) and diversity (i.e. of language groups and of differences in the way they see the world, organize themselves in it, the questions they ask and the solutions they seek as Indigenous people) (Smith, 1999, 2012).

It has been well recognized that there has been a tension between Western and Aboriginal approaches to knowledge (Martin, 2003). However, this congruence has primarily been with Western positivist approaches rather than other approaches/ viewpoints/ paradigms which may be deemed more open, flexible and contextual to research (Roy, 2014). It seems that the suitability of an approach is dependent on the types of questions asked (Roy, 2014) or whether the paradigm is flexible enough to accommodate Aboriginal perspectives and purposes (Weber-Pillwax, 2001).

By understanding an Indigenous framework and accommodating a flexible approach, the participants in the study are the subjects of their experience and not the objects of this research. The research will convey the importance of an Aboriginal researcher to acknowledge Indigeneity and how this might influence the research. This is more than reflexivity, which is an essential approach that makes explicit deep-seated views and judgments that can affect the research process (Carpenter, 2010). In this process an Aboriginal researcher is not simply a *native informant*¹³ (Baker, 2012), but reflects their positioning and status, and how the information is understood, given Aboriginal cultural, community and family connections in Adelaide. Thus this is not a process of an objective researcher grounded in positivism but one whereby an Aboriginal researcher has an *insider* approach and lived the life of many of those

¹³ Baker discusses the notion of the native informant at length in her book and it has many contexts. A broad understanding is an Indigenous person who passes on information about Indigenous matters to the wider community as a 'go between' (Baker, 2012).

who are participants, and who will use this knowledge and experience to inform interpretations and therefore determine meaning with participants. At the same time *outsider* input via supervisory and collegial input of the material is vital and will assist in further rigor.

Procedure

Prior to commencing the research, ethical approval was received from both the Aboriginal Health Research Ethics Committee (AHREC) in December 2012 and from the University of Adelaide Human Research Ethics Committee in May 2013. Once approved an invitation flyer was circulated through word of mouth, post and email with a request to pass on the information creating a snowball effect via Aboriginal work and personal networks (see Appendix 1). An information sheet was distributed to those who enquired and/or volunteered to be interviewed. The information sheet provided background information on the researcher, the supervisors, the research, rights and responsibilities of involvement, risks, and incentives (see Appendix 2).

Prior to interviews participants were given information about counselling services (see Appendix 9) and reassured they would be assisted or encouraged to seek help, if they became distressed during or after their interview. Participants were interviewed about their experiences, understanding and knowledge of lateral violence. The interviews included the following broad questions: "What do you know about lateral violence?" or "What's your understanding of lateral violence?"; "Can you tell me about some of your experiences (individual, family or community) of lateral violence?"; "How has it affected you (family and community)?"; "What have you done to stop or curb lateral violence in the past?"; and "What would you like to see happen to make changes in the community?". The interview duration ranged from 15 minutes to an hour, and they were audio-recorded and transcribed. On request transcripts were sent back to participants to check and/or endorse. Brief demographic information, such as gender,

broad educational and age categories, were also collated on participants and utilized as part of the study.

Analysis

The transcripts were de-identified and participants given pseudonyms to maintain confidentiality and anonymity. The material was then coded using NVivo10 qualitative software and analyzed using a thematic process, which aims to report patterns and themes emerging from the interview data (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2013). Thematic analysis is regarded as a useful method for investigating an under researched topic (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2013) such as lateral violence. The underlying method of eliciting themes was via six -phases including familiarisation of the data, generating initial codes, searching for themes, reviewing themes, defining and naming themes and data analysis. The end result is a rich description of both recurring and unique patterns in the data set across all interviews in this study.

Findings

Demographic information

There were approximately 50 enquiries and expressions of interest for the project, resulting in 28 interviews with 30 Aboriginal participants who resided in Adelaide. Two interviews were with two participants who wanted to be interviewed together. The majority of participants were female (63%), and overall 47% of the participants had gained a university level education with 73% of females amongst those with the university level education. The ages of participants ranged from those in their early 20s to 60 and can be seen in Table 3.1 below. The most common age bracket was the 41-45 age category (40%) who were predominately female (75%). About 13% of participants were in the younger age bracket of 30 years and under. The

majority were over the age of 41 years (approximately 67%). There were three participants (10%) in an older age bracket (late 50s to middle 60s). Whilst this is not the formal age of an elder within the Aboriginal community, it is substantial given that there is an early and high mortality within this community (ABS, 2009).

Table 3.1. Age distribution of participants

Age	Male	Female	Total	%
bracket				
18-25	2	0	2	6.7%
26-30	1	1	2	6.7%
31-35	1	3	4	13%
36-40	2	0	2	6.7%
41-45	3	9	12	40%
46-50	0	2	2	6.7%
51-55	1	2	3	10%
56-60	0	2	2	6.7%
61-65	1	0	1	3.3%
Total	11	19	30	

How the term 'lateral violence' is spreading

Most of the participants had heard and were aware of lateral violence. However, just over a third (36%) were unfamiliar with or had become aware of the term only recently. For example, two participants indicated they first heard of lateral violence when they saw the project flyer and then made enquiries.

Many who were aware of lateral violence prior to interviews gained this understanding from local or national workshops, educational forums and/or social media outlets such as websites,

emails, blogs and Facebook. For example, many participants had received regular information on *lateral love* (described as the flipside of lateral violence) through social media posted by Brian Butler¹⁴ and associates.

The workplace was the most common site in which participants heard about lateral violence (approximately 47% of participants) via collegial communication and with access to resources. Unfortunately the workplace was also described as a place where many participants experienced lateral violence, particularly if they worked with other Aboriginal people.

Themes from interviews

Overview of themes

Although many themes emerged from the rich data gathered in interviews, this chapter focuses specifically on the themes and patterns of information about the labelling of lateral violence and whether the term resonated with participants' experiences of infighting: whether lateral violence is a suitable term to use. Five interrelated themes are presented and discussed, each capturing a distinct perspective regarding the labelling and acceptance of the term.

Understanding the concept before a label

Several participants described and identified a particular set of behaviours and attitudes associated with infighting within the Aboriginal community. They reported that once the label of lateral violence (or maybe even any label, as highlighted by Rachel below) was attached to

¹⁴ William Brian Butler & his niece Nicola Butler are the individuals behind the Lateral Love® & Spirit of Care for all Humankind 2012-2022 Campaign.

infighting it became real to them and validated their experiences. Some participants described a sense of relief to finally have a label to name these experiences. The examples below demonstrate this awareness and relief once the issue was actually categorised and labelled as lateral violence.

Rachel (age category 31-35): Yeah the term [lateral violence] but then when I did learn about it I thought 'oh my gosh this makes so much sense' and puts a name to what we already know ...so it doesn't matter how it's labelled really as long as it's labelled and to address it and maybe people will think twice about it, yep.

Eve (age category 31-35): So having that name for it [lateral violence] I guess has been helpful because I don't know what we sort of called it [before].

Judy (age category 41-45): I was fascinated by it [lateral violence]. I thought, like many, that it put a name to things we had experienced or participated in and felt a sense of relief.

These extracts suggest that without a label the concept of lateral violence was abstract and vague. Prior to the labelling participants may have been uncertain of what lateral violence actually was, or what to call it or whether it really existed. In these extracts we can see, as Moscovici's (1988) theory of social representations would suggest, how providing a name or label to a set of identified behaviours facilitates its representation and understanding in everyday common sense. The relief of having a name to identify the social problem also provided participants with the prospect that lateral violence can finally be addressed. The evidence here suggests how a once new and unfamiliar label (lateral violence) is anchored to a

familiar and existing repertoire of knowledge and experiences (infighting) that slowly come to represent and make concrete a social problem that needs to be addressed.

The label of lateral violence fits our experiences

Several participants alluded to the label of lateral violence resonating with their experiences. They typically indicated this by launching into a lengthy discussion of their own experiences of lateral violence within their communities. It appeared that many participants were comfortable with using the label and could show that it was a good fit for what is happening in the community, having integrated the term into their everyday descriptions and experiences of infighting within their communities.

Freda (age category 41-45): ...so that's when I first came across lateral violence – it started to get me thinking about [it]. We got the same issues here but it's just a normal sort of thing for Aboriginal people. We didn't have the term, didn't know anything about lateral violence...what is this and I thought "that is so true" about our mob.

Kelly (age category 41-45): I think we all have experienced lateral violence, either at home, or in our communities or at work.

Rita (age category 56-60): ...I found when I was considered as an equal [to a non-Aboriginal person in mainstream society] ... lateral violence showed it's ugly self through my own communities and my own industry, particularly in competition for positions ...and it's sad, it's really sad...first of all it was hard for me to acknowledge that that is what is happening because I'd like to, I like to think that our people were you know, loving.

Participants in these extracts actually describe how the unfamiliar term of lateral violence has now become familiar and tangible to those who use it. With such familiarisation, the label was used to describe many experiences of lateral violence leading to conversations about such experiences plus a realisation that it is destructive within family, communities and in the workplace.

A concern expressed by Freda is that lateral violence has become so normalised in Aboriginal communities that people don't even know they have committed, or been involved in lateral violence. Moreover the infighting behaviours are so ingrained that communities may be oblivious to these behaviours. As described by Moscovici (1988) the labelling or naming of a social phenomenon enables people to talk about it, and to generate new knowledge and understanding.

Bring it out in the open to start dealing with it

Participants argued that unless a social problem is named or made tangible it can't be dealt with. This argument is demonstrated in the extracts below.

Judy (age category 41-45)...I felt really excited and hopeful that it [lateral violence] was out and that it was a problem. Talking about the elephant in the room, so to speak.

Eve (age category 31-35): There was actually a name albeit wherever it [lateral violence] came from, but there was actually a name that we're able to sort of start sitting down and having conversations.

Russell (age category 36-40): ...But it [lateral violence] needs to be familiar, the wording, so if you had a campaign with that word[s] on it, and you know...

Rachel (age category 31-35): If I had a wish list I would make lateral violence more of a household name 'cos [we are] naming it. It's like domestic violence that gets a name; it gets a name and people understand well hang on yeah these things are happening, its domestic violence, it's not on.

In terms of a social representation process, by making the unfamiliar label of lateral violence familiar and tangible, it can now be addressed. There was a sense of excitement in the interviews that seemed to be about both the label and being open about addressing it within the Aboriginal community. As discussed above in the previous narrative the infighting had become normalised and accepted as everyday life. Consequently, participants may have felt trapped and labelling may have offered freedom to progress.

Silencing methods may have also ensured that infighting behaviours were hidden from the broader society. For oppressed groups silencing methods are common, and thus naming something that has been chronic and detrimental to the community may also be liberating for many. A labelling and awareness process can draw out everyday champions who want to address lateral violence and make a difference for healing and intervention.

We had our own labels before 'lateral violence'

Prior to the labelling of lateral violence some Aboriginal participants had used their own words to describe the infighting and oppressive behaviours within their local communities.

Paul (age category 41-45): It wasn't called lateral violence back then; it was just everyone turning on each other...um "defiance"... everyone fought each other...just "fucking up".

Ben (age category 18-25): Psychological warfare.

Leanne (age category 51-55): They have heard of [lateral violence] but they don't know it's here. So I have given the theme "above the line, below the line".

Rachel (age category 31-35): It's similar to the tall poppy syndrome that kind of, I guess the meanings associated with that term, somebody made it sound very similar and from what I've seen around just internalised depression, that sounds a bit similar as well [as] taking it out on each other as a first point 'cos we're like each other, we're like ourselves, we're each other.

Belle (age category 31-35): I always just referred to it as fighting crabs in a bucket type thing before I heard lateral violence.

In these extracts a number of labels were used to describe a similar concept of infighting such as "defiance", "fucking up", "jealousy", "psychological warfare", "above and below the line", "tall poppy syndrome", "internalised racism", and "fighting crabs in the bucket". The

participants represent diversity within the community in that they were from different age groups and generations, different language groups, and different locations within Adelaide and some were born in different states. Yet all were describing the same broad phenomenon with a local label. There is no doubt that many more labels would have been used. For example, in the 1980s the label of "black politics" comes to mind, particularly from a work environment in an Aboriginal context in Adelaide. Other labels noted are the "Black poppy syndrome" (Ryan, 2015). It appears that as soon as a common label was socially represented participants could readily tie the concepts (their old label and the new label of lateral violence) together. The initiative of one overarching label, or a common name that many can relate to, may ensure a broad level of understanding, involvement and action to curb or minimise infighting and promote more agreeable relationships and interactions.

No it doesn't fit – we need a 'proper' name for it other than lateral violence In contrast to participants who accepted and welcomed the label lateral violence, there was also some opposition displayed by some participants in some contexts. They indicated that the concept of lateral violence does not adequately fit community ideas and experiences of infighting. More specifically, participants who objected to the word violence held that position because of potential negative connotations for the community. This disapproval can be seen in the extracts below.

Lila (age category 56-60): People didn't like the word violence within [the government department the participant worked for]. I remember having the conversation and you [indicating me on a previous occasion] said "call it what it is" and to me it's violence.

Lila: For me it didn't matter what we called it. If the majority wanted to call it this or that or lateral violence I would go along with it 'cos for me it's about, I am not the only one whose gonna get abuse[d]. Hey it's not just me: the whole committee decided to call it [name of alternative to lateral violence deleted so as not to identify the participant or department] ... a consensus was made.

Rita (age category 56-60): But for us to stop doing that [lateral violence] I think we have to reintroduce it...introduce a very elementary ... word so that people can identify with it...see what I believe is there's a lot of people that still don't know what it [lateral violence] is... Well what would I suggest as another name? Well I haven't really thought about it, but more a name that I guess suggests that we need to identify it with something closer to home, you know, and even though it extends into some violent behaviour, that's not how it starts out.

Rita: ... it's a feeling right now, we need to put a name, a proper name to it, and they [the Aboriginal community] need to put a proper solution to it that we own, and that's really all I wanted to say.

Daisy (age category 46-50): I think it's good in that it gives people words to understand what's going on, and you know how divide and conquer can then become lateral violence... the marginalised people will attack each other but I think sometimes it's a bad thing 'cos it's negative wording... It therefore oppresses a marginalised people more; it's like a badge they wear... so it's not keeping it in the positive.

Although the labelling process of infighting was considered extremely important, precisely what the label signifies and represents and how it is used was considered equally important. In the extracts above, participants are oriented towards a concern that the label could potentially be used by mainstream society to further stereotype all Aboriginal people as violent. As Daisy explains there is always the risk that lateral violence becomes a "badge" that Aboriginal people wear, perhaps indicating "violent person". Clearly, Aboriginal people do not need to be further stigmatised for behaviours related to colonisation, oppression, trauma and disadvantage. A label such as lateral violence may then be seen as intrinsic to Aboriginal culture, enabling a victim blaming approach which in turn excuses mainstream society from any responsibility or culpability.

A label for infighting could be framed in a constructive way that captures some of the positive behaviours of Aboriginal people. From the first author's experience labels such as *intra-cultural respect* and *lateral respect* have been in circulation to describe positive approaches to prevent lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide and South Australia.

Both Daisy and Rita also wanted a label framed positively to capture the positive or "loving" side of Aboriginal people but they didn't offer any suggestions.

The responses above infer that a two-pronged approach to naming infighting might be preferable. Reference was readily made to lateral violence when participants talked about negative experiences of infighting (see for example Rita in theme 2) but they also used or wanted to use alternative labels that were more positive when they were oriented towards solutions. For example, within the lateral love website and campaign, infighting is still referred to as lateral violence and lateral love is used in a context for solution focused responses to

lateral violence. Similarly in Victoria the term *lateral healing* is used to counteract lateral violence (Koorreen enterprises, 2015).

Summary and discussion

This chapter has drawn on participants' understandings, concept formations and experiences of lateral violence in order to consolidate information and to add to a body of knowledge on lateral violence in the Australian context.

Many participants in this study welcomed the concept of lateral violence and described how the label was useful in making sense of their experiences. On the other hand, there were also participants who opposed the label and believed it didn't resonate with what was happening in their communities. This appeared to be related to the negative connotations associated with the word violence being attached to a label. Such a label could mean that Aboriginal people are further stereotyped.

Even though naming and categorising a social issue is an intrinsic human process; there are potential ramifications from the media and the mainstream population when a label has the potential to stigmatise and fuel any existing prejudice and racism. The awareness campaigns for domestic and family violence have been widespread, but these may have undergone the same process of uncertainty and scrutiny, particularly as society stereotypes the primary form of violence as physical. As with the definition of lateral violence, family violence includes a definition of psychological and emotional violence – not only physical violence. ¹⁵ The potential for stigma and prejudice toward Indigenous communities is of real concern despite

-

¹⁵ A definition of family violence accommodates the complex interlinking and intergenerational nature both within family and community. The violence includes physical, sexual, emotional, social, financial abuse (Lumby & Farrelly, 2009) and cultural and spiritual abuse (Australian Human Rights Commission, 2006).

the fact that violence and its many forms – whether it be intra- or inter-group violence – exist throughout the world. This potential for stigma and prejudice is likely to cause fear and uncertainty within Aboriginal communities. It is also a possible factor as to why awareness of lateral violence has been slow in proliferating in Aboriginal communities and action towards prevention, minimising or stopping lateral violence in communities has been rare.

To return to a previous question asked about whether lateral violence was the most appropriate label to describe infighting within the Aboriginal community, overall, the responses were generally "yes". This is despite the limitations and stigma discussed, as highlighting lateral violence experiences and making the label tangible was nonetheless deemed very important by participants. This also meant that lateral violence is no longer a secret and/ or normalised to individuals and Aboriginal culture. Before the label many participants gave lateral violence a convenient or local name to help make the infighting process concrete; but an overarching label, such as lateral violence, can ensure that Aboriginal people are consistent and work together to find effective solutions. Such a label is consistent with other labels such as domestic and family violence which are readily used within the Aboriginal community.

If lateral violence remains an overarching term there is nothing to stop local labels being used or to introduce other labels, particularly those associated with prevention and healing initiatives. The examples of lateral love and lateral healing have provided positive ideals to move towards preventing lateral violence. Thus perhaps two alternative labels can be used — lateral violence as the destructive force and lateral love or lateral healing (or an alternative positive label) — as the mending force.

Lastly, it is important to note that Aboriginal voices and literature were prominent and privileged in the study. The number of participant responses was both surprising and pleasing. This says something about the willingness for voices to be heard, despite lateral violence being a sensitive and perhaps hidden/reluctant topic within Indigenous communities. Recruitment was via contact with familiar networks and a snowballing effect which appeared to attract many highly educated females in the mature age category (41-55 years of age). This period of life is also considered an age of responsibility for many Aboriginal woman who take on a *grandmother* or overseeing role within the family and Aboriginal community. These demographics mirror the researcher's profile and this may have attracted participants from a similar background. Given the demographic profile of the participants, it should be emphasised that this research does not make any claims to generalisability of the sample.

The introduction of the term lateral violence in Aboriginal communities was relatively slow, from 2006 with its spread and uptake over approximately nine years. Moscovici (1988) indicated that some ideas take longer when there are associated implications. In this study approximately a third of participants were vague about or unfamiliar with the term lateral violence and its meaning. Thus this study may have empowered and been a voice for some people to find out and speak out about lateral violence in Adelaide and to not remain silent. Moreover, a process of comfort, confidentiality and anonymity may have also been a factor in participants' motivations to be part of the study, as they could speak out without being identified and therefore in relative safety. Furthermore a strength of the study was the insider approach by the primary researcher, which enabled connection and deeper understanding due to contextual knowledge and exchange. This approach is well considered in an Indigenous methodology.

Statement of Authorship

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide: It affects our identity and wellbeing.	
Publication Status	Published	C Accepted for Publication
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style
Publication Details	Clark, Y., Augoustinos, M., & Malin, M. (2016). Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide: It affects our identity and wellbeing. <i>Journal of Indigenous Wellbeing: Te Mauri-Pimatisiwin, 1 (1), 43</i> –52	

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Yvonne Clark	
Contribution to the Paper	Performed the literature review, called for and collected data (interviews with participants), interpreted data, wrote manuscript and acted as corresponding author.	
Overall percentage (%)	85%	
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.	
Signature	Date 20/11/2016	

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Professor Martha Augoustinos
Contribution to the Paper	Supervised the development of the work, gave advice on data interpretation and manuscript preparation and submission
Signature	Date 20/10/2016

Name of Co-Author	Merridy Malin
Contribution to the Paper	Helped to evaluate and edit the manuscript
Signature	Date 21/10/16

Please cut and paste additional co-author panels here as required.

Chapter 4: Lateral Violence in the Aboriginal community in

Adelaide: It affects our identity and wellbeing¹⁶

Abstract

The term *lateral violence* describes how members of an oppressed group direct their dissatisfaction inward. This paper reports on qualitative interviews with 30 local Aboriginal participants in Adelaide, South Australia. This was in order to explore understandings, awareness, experiences, and effects of lateral violence. Most participants completed two questionnaires (the Kessler-5 and Negative Life Events scales) to gain further insight into their wellbeing and its association with experiences of lateral violence. Overall, four major interpretative themes emerged from interviews: the predominantly covert and insidious nature of lateral violence; the relationship between racism and lateral violence; challenges to identity as acts of lateral violence; and the destructive effects of lateral violence on wellbeing. The wellbeing scales indicated overall that participants' psychological distress was in the moderate range, with 29% scoring in the high/very high psychological distress range. Many of the participants with high distress levels relayed traumatic narratives of lateral violence and were exposed to a number of negative life events. It is hoped that by increasing awareness of lateral violence and its effects, this will assist in preventing the incidences of lateral violence incidences within Indigenous communities.

¹⁶ A shorter version of this chapter/article has been published: Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide: It affects our identity and wellbeing (Clark, Augoustinos & Malin, 2016). *Journal of Indigenous Wellbeing: Te Mauri-Pimatisiwin, 1 (1), 43-52.* The front page of the journal can be found in Appendix 11. A PDF has been inserted into the document and can be accessed in the thesis in its electronic form.

Introduction

Lateral violence

Lateral violence refers to the ways oppressed and powerless people covertly and overtly direct their dissatisfaction inward, toward each other, and those less powerful than themselves (NCSA, 2008). The term *lateral* or *horizontal* violence has been applied to nurses, as an oppressed group in the nursing industry for at least four decades (Ceravolo et al., 2012). The concept of lateral violence for Aboriginal people is relatively recent in Australia and its introduction appears to coincide with Australian Indigenous involvement at the Healing Our Spirit Worldwide conference (HOSW) in Alberta in 2006 (Clark & Augoustinos, 2015) and in information conveyed through the Aboriginal Social Justice Commissioner about lateral violence (AHRC, 2011b).

Within Aboriginal communities in Australia, lateral violence is believed to exist within families and communities including the vulnerable and the powerful (Langton, 2008). Lateral violence appears to have a broader focus than domestic and family violence, in that it can include any member within the Aboriginal community at local and national levels. Lateral violence amongst Aboriginal people has also been recognised in various industries in Australia such as: the Aboriginal corporate sector and organisations (ORIC, 2010); the university sector (NIU/NTEU 2011); the Arts sector (Cook, 2012); the health sector amongst Aboriginal health workers (Winsor, 2001); and in the native title process where Aboriginal people can turn against one another for valuable resources and land (AHRC, 2011b; Gooda, 2011a, 2011b).

Lateral violence has its roots in colonisation and includes a spectrum of behaviours such as gossiping, jealousy, bullying, shaming, social exclusion, family feuding, organisational

conflict, physical violence (AHRC, 2011b), verbal attacks, sabotage, harassment, intimidation, backstabbing, threats, and blaming others (Derrick, 2006; Equay-Wuk, 2012). The effects of lateral violence have reportedly contributed to a blame mentality, lack of trust in others' judgments (Derrick, 2006), as well as physiological signs such as sleep disorders, weight loss or gain and depression (NWAC, 2015).

Features related to lateral violence

Trauma, distress and wellbeing

Trauma overlaps and is often implicit in the literature associated with lateral violence. The type of trauma associated with Indigenous people in Australia is transgenerational (Atkinson, 2002) or collective trauma (Krieg, 2009; Ratnavale, 2007). This type of trauma is usually described as a process that started from colonisation, is prolonged, cumulative and intergenerational where Aboriginal people are continuously vulnerable and at risk to new traumas on an everyday basis (Krieg, 2009; Ratnavale, 2007). Bombay (2014) notes that for Aboriginal Canadians constant trauma within residential schools contributed to the modelling and normalisation of abuse that affected generations of children and adversely impacted their return to their communities. Colonisation is also believed to play a part in the widespread and devastating effects on the physical, social and emotional wellbeing and mental health of Indigenous people (Dudgeon et al., 2014b). Two domains of social and emotional wellbeing, psychological distress and stress, have been measured as high to very high within Indigenous communities. These measures also signify a significantly higher than average number of stressors (with high distress) than those with low or moderate psychological distress levels (AIHW, 2009). Furthermore, Indigenous

Australians have consistently shown a higher prevalence of psychological distress than their non-Indigenous counterparts up to almost three times higher (AIHW, 2015).

Oppression, power and racism

Historically, Fanon (1963) argued that white colonialism imposed a false and degrading existence to its black victims, and used power and control to oppress and ensure conformity and an inferior status. Internalisation of this inferior status created an *inferiority complex* which contributed to infighting. Similarly, in Australia, conformity was through racist laws, policies and practices associated with colonisation directed at Aboriginal people. This resulted in the development of feelings of powerlessness which have had detrimental, cumulative and intergenerational effects on Aboriginal people (Glover et al., 2005; Paradies, 2006b). Racism has been generally conceptualised as operating at three levels: institutional racism occurs when there is differential access to goods, services and opportunities in society which are normalised, sometimes legalised and often manifest as inherited disadvantage; individual or personal racism is about prejudice and discrimination; and internal racism is described as the acceptance by members of stigmatised groups of negative messages about their own abilities and intrinsic worth. This manifests as an embracing of whiteness, self-devaluation (i.e. racial slurs as nicknames), resignation, helplessness and hopelessness (Jones, 2000). All these forms of racism continue to exist in Australia toward Aboriginal people today (Dudgeon, 2000; Reconciliation Australia, 2015a; Stolper & Hammond, 2010) and as a result, feelings of powerless continue. For example, a recent study by Paradies and Cunningham (2012) found that amongst a nationally representative group of Indigenous Australians, almost a third (28%) reported feeling powerless as a reaction to racism.

Research on racism in Australia has highlighted major adverse effects on Indigenous health, wellbeing and mental health (see for example Paradies, 2006b; Paradies & Cunningham, 2012). In a study on the effects of racism in urban Adelaide, Ziersch, Gallaher and Bentley (2011) found that besides the negative physical and mental health effects of racism, these effects extended from vulnerability to violence and hampered access to valuable resources. Furthermore when oppression and racism are internalised, the effects can be devastating and this has been described as "aggression turned inwards" (Dudgeon 2000, p. 69). This process of internalisation can lead to acts of suicide, self-mutilation, alcohol abuse and depression within the Aboriginal population. And this contributes to intra-cultural violence which means that Aboriginal people hurt the people closest to them.

Identity

Indigenous identity is fundamental, complex, multifaceted, and aligned with socio-historical constructs and discourses (Paradies, 2006a). Indigenous identity has been constructed and used throughout Australia's political history to help direct government policies and actions toward Aboriginal people. Aboriginal people were categorised into blood quantum ("full blood", "half caste", "quarter caste", "quadroons" or "octoroons") in order to direct certain government policies or practices, often with devastating outcomes. For example, under the assimilation policy, those not categorised as full blood were those reportedly removed from family and culture, to merge and become absorbed into white Australia (HREOC, 1997).

Aboriginal identity continues to be on the political and legal agenda with the categorisation and questioning of Aboriginality common in the context of racism and oppression within Australia. For example, the Australian journalist Andrew Bolt publically questioned the authenticity of many light-skinned Aboriginal people (Bolt, 2009) and he was later judged in breach of 18c of

the Racial Discrimination Act 1975. Gelber and McNamara (2013) indicate the political and public ramification of the Bolt case is that it reproduces mischaracterisations of a "real Aboriginal", which is about skin colour and disadvantage. This view of the real or idealised Aboriginal can be represented by both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people and at the heart of debates around the authenticity of identity within Aboriginal communities themselves. Moore (2008) refers to this as *identity politics* where Aboriginal culture is represented as typical, traditionally oriented, internally homogenous, linked to the past and where its members are in solidarity. This ideal view ignores and does not recognise the contemporary Aboriginal person who may be cosmopolitan, tertiary educated, works with or is associated with government and has assets; yet they are not assimilated and identify comfortably as Aboriginal (Moore, 2008). This coincides with statistics that many Indigenous Australians fail to conform to such an idealised view of the "real Aboriginal". For example, about 90% of Aboriginal people do not speak an Aboriginal language as the main language spoken at home, yet over half (63%) identify with a particular clan, tribal or language group or mission (AIHW, 2015). Thus, failing to address identity politics in the context of finding solutions to Aboriginal issues is maintaining dysfunction and the status quo. Fforde et al. (2013) suggest that identity has been framed in terms of a deficit discourse that originated during colonisation where constructed truths about Aboriginal people were tied to notions of deficiency rather than how Aboriginal people saw themselves.

The present study

Given that lateral violence is a relatively new term applied to Aboriginal people for an *age old problem*, there is limited information and literature in Australia directly relating to lateral violence. There is often reliance on Canadian Indigenous literature, overlapping literature that

is central to lateral violence such as trauma, oppression and racism and grey literature. Grey literature has been defined by the Grey Literature Network Service (2016) as

"a field in Library and Information Science that deals with the production, distribution, and access to multiple document types produced on all levels of government, academics, business, and organisation in electronic and print formats not controlled by commercial publishing i.e. where publishing is not the primary activity of the producing body" (home page).

Furthermore, there is virtually no information on the effects of lateral violence and how it may affect wellbeing and Aboriginal identity. Thus, this research aims to contribute to the limited literature on lateral violence in Australia as well as explore the possible associations amongst lateral violence, stress and psychological distress and identity for Aboriginal people in Adelaide. Thus it is hypothesised that lateral violence is a major impediment to Aboriginal people's identity and wellbeing in ways that are similar to racism and trauma.

Research approach

Indigenous framework

When engaging in research with Indigenous people an Indigenous framework is necessary to endorse cultural safety and respect, provide relevancy and thus context to the material (Rigney, 1999a). Such a framework is intended to embrace Indigenous people's ontology, axiology and diversity (Smith, 1999, 2012). The positioning and understanding of relationality of Indigenous researchers and the use of an *insider* approach (Wilson, 2008) are also important features. This approach to gaining knowledge is in stark contrast to Western empiricism. Yet some Western research approaches/methods which are considered more open, flexible and

contextual can complement Aboriginal perspectives and purposes (Weber-Pillwax 2001). Thus the qualitative, thematic methodological approach adopted in the present study seeks to understand and convey Indigenous participants' worldviews, meaning, and diversity as well as ensuring that the voices of Aboriginal people are prominent in the research.

Participants

There were approximately 50 expressions of interest in the project with 30 Aboriginal participants consenting to take part in the study. Inclusion criteria were identification as Aboriginal and/ or Torres Strait Islander, being18 years old or over and residing in Adelaide. Of the 30 participants the majority were female (63%). Ages ranged from early 20s to mid-60s. About 13% of participants were in the younger age bracket (30 years and under) and 10% were in their late 50s to mid-60s. Many of participants were between the ages of 41-45 (40%). Furthermore almost half (47%) of the participants in the study had a university level education.

Materials: Wellbeing scales

Before the interviews most participants (N=21) were administered two questionnaires, the Kessler-5 (K-5) and negative life events scales (NLES), that measured aspects of their wellbeing. Nine participants did not fill out questionnaires for various reasons such as English being a second language and having a preference to yarn rather than fill out forms. The K-5 asked whether during the past four weeks participants felt: nervous, without hope, restless or jumpy, whether everything was an effort, and so sad nothing could cheer them up. The five response options included: all of the time; most of the time; some of the time; a little of the time; and none of the time. A total score under 5 indicated no distress, 5-11 low to moderate distress, 12-25 high to very high distress and greater than 25 extreme psychological distress.

The NLES asked, from a list of 15 events, whether participants had experienced: serious illness; serious accident; death of a family member or close friend; divorce or separation; not being able to get a job; losing a job; alcohol related problems; drug related problems; seeing fights or people beaten up; abuse or violent crime; trouble with police; a gambling problem; a family member sent to jail; overcrowding at home; and discrimination/racism. Respondents indicated *yes* or *no* to each event. The *yes* scores are added to indicate the level of negative stressors affecting a person (see Appendix 3 for wellbeing scales).

The K-5 and the NLES have been utilised as part of the NATSIH survey and used widely within Indigenous communities. The K-5 has been shown to be a robust measure (Cunningham & Paradies, 2012). The NLES was also evaluated as performing well within a diverse range of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander populations (Kowal, Gunthorp & Bailie, 2007).

Procedure and analysis

Prior to commencing the research ethical approval was gained from the SA Aboriginal Health Research Ethics Committee in December 2012 and from the University of Adelaide Human Research Ethics Committee in May 2013. In order to recruit both Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander participants an invitation flyer, with a request to "chat" about lateral violence, was disseminated via various email networks with a request to pass on the information through the SA Aboriginal grapevine (see Appendix 1). An information sheet was then distributed to those who enquired and/or volunteered to be interviewed which provided background knowledge on the researchers, the research, rights and responsibilities of involvement, risks and incentives (such as \$50 gift vouchers) and so forth (see Appendix 2). Preceding the interviews participants were provided with information about counselling services and assurances of

support upon distress (see Appendix 9). Demographic information, such as gender, age, and educational background, were collated for all participants.

The interviews included the following broad questions: "What do you know about lateral violence?", "What's your understanding of lateral violence?"; "Can you tell me about some of your experiences of lateral violence?"; "How has it affected you (family and community)?"; "What have you done to stop or curb lateral violence in the past?"; and "What would you like to see happen to make changes in the community?". The interviews ranged from 15 minutes to an hour, and were audio-recorded and transcribed. All participants were asked if they wanted to view the transcripts prior to analysis and only one participant requested this.

Transcripts were then de-identified to maintain anonymity and confidentiality of participants. Pseudonyms were assigned to all participants including names mentioned in transcripts. The data was entered, then coded using NVivo10 qualitative software by searching for similar words or phrases across transcripts and categorising into nodes to create initial themes for reviewing as per a thematic process. A thematic analysis aims to uncover patterns and themes in the interview data. Eliciting the themes occurred via familiarisation with the data, generating initial codes, searching for themes, reviewing themes, defining and naming themes and producing the report (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2013). The end result was a rich description of both the recurring and unique patterns in the data set across all the interviews in the study.

Findings

The wellbeing scales

Participants (n=21) who completed the K-5, obtained an average score of 10.33 with a standard deviation (SD) of 5.8. This indicates that overall, participants' psychological distress was at moderate levels (but reaching a high stress level). Seventy-one percent scored in the moderate (5-11) range and 29% scored in the high/very high range of psychological distress (12-25).

The overall mean of the NLES was 5.8 (stressors) with the SD being 3.3. Five participants (24%) experienced between 2-3 stressors, 11 (52%) between 4-8 stressors, and 4 (19%) experienced more than 8 stressors. Of the 6 (29%) participants who scored in the high/very high range for psychological distress (K-5), 4 participants had relatively high stress with 6 or more life stressors with 1 participant having 13 stressors.

Table 4.1 shows the frequency for those who responded "yes" to particular stressful events. The most prevalent stressful event was racism and discrimination (52%), followed by drugs and alcohol (calculated together) (45%), serious illness (43%), and witnessing or being involved in violence and abuse (38%).

Table 4.1. NLES frequency and percentage of each item in the last year (n=21)

	Item	Yes	Yes (%)
1	Serious illness	9	43
2	Serious accident	4	19
3	Death of family member or close friend	7	33
4	Divorce or separation	4	19
5	Not able to get a job	9	43
6	Lost job	8	38
7	Alcohol related problems	9	43
8	Drug related problems	10	48
9	Seeing fights or people beaten up	9	43
10	Abuse or violence	7	33
11	Trouble with police	5	24
12	Gambling problem	6	29
13	Member of family sent to jail	6	29
14	Overcrowding at home	3	14
15	Discrimination/racism	11	52

Themes from interviews

Overview of themes

Many participants had heard of lateral violence prior to interviews and sought information to further understand it (see chapter 3 or Clark & Augoustinos, 2015). Many participants recognised lateral violence as a problem, and linked it to colonialism. The study elicited many themes but those identified in this analysis specifically focus on the nature of lateral violence, racism, identity and its effect on wellbeing.

Lateral violence: overt or covert behaviour?

Lateral violence was primarily viewed in terms of covert behaviour towards the self and others such as bullying, cyber bullying, spreading rumours, gossiping, shaming and jealousy. A few participants viewed lateral violence as overt, which corresponded with their experiences of being on the streets, in prison or exposed to violence. The two accounts below exemplify covert and overt behaviours respectively.

Maggie (age category 46-50): Well the infighting, the bullying...gossiping about people...putting people down; spreading rumours, gossiping is the same thing, shaming people, trying to keep people in their place. Know your place in the world...like... for anything; having a hierarchy in place and knowing your place in that system.

Paul (age category 41-45): I saw my cousin get killed...they [Aboriginal community members] ran him over. They didn't go to jail. But that is back in the 80s... [it was] over who ever took the carton of beer and who grew plants [marijuana] 'cos they all grew dope back then...And you get all aunties, cousins...they all rah rah and it turns too big. They drink too much...then it happened...He [the perpetrator] washed the car

the next day and he got one year [in detention] ...then my brother got killed by someone too, Aboriginal [person] ...once my brother got killed my whole family was destroyed...

Although much of the literature includes definitions of both overt and covert forms of lateral violence, most participants described covert forms such as that described by Maggie. Facebook was often seen as a destructive tool to perpetrate covert violence. This may be because physical violence is often categorised separately under abuse, violence, or related to the criminal system (AIHW, 2015). Paul's overt experiences were traumatic. Paul was one of the participants who scored extremely high on both the K-5 and NLES and has been seeing a regular counsellor for his trauma.

It can be argued that covert forms of lateral violence behaviour appear to be the "hidden" or "safe" option, and are less likely to be detected and identified as forms of violence given their non-criminal status. Perhaps lateral violence in its covert form is similar to modern forms of racism, which are seen to align with increasing social taboos against expressing blatant and hostile racist remarks. Just like subtle and covert forms of racism, covert lateral violence can be just as damaging, given its insidious nature (see for example Augoustinos, Tuffin & Every, 2005; Pedersen & Walker, 1997).

Racism is at the heart of lateral violence

Overview

Racism featured strongly in many participants' accounts. At least 53% referred to racism or racist behaviours in the interviews. Although racism was often described as being perpetrated by non-Aboriginal people, at times it appeared difficult to distinguish between racism from non-Aboriginal or other Aboriginal people. In this section two subthemes emerged that explored relations between Aboriginal people and mainstream/government systems and amongst Aboriginal people themselves.

Racism can fuel lateral violence

Racism perpetrated by non-Aboriginal Australians and systems can trigger lateral violence and has a profound effect on Aboriginal peoples' lives as can be seen from the accounts below.

Molly (age category 51-55): ... the lateral violence in communities is fuelled or coordinated by white people, I reckon, the first thing... whether it's a principal or a manager of a program... They are told to identify those key players in the community. There is no such thing... as proper community consultation as it is always done with these key players. That's what I was saying before about playing them against each other. Because let's just say that one is coming to all the meetings and the other ones are having these issues over here. They will focus on that person. It's almost like grooming so. If these guys come to the meeting and they decide against what the others have been deciding, the non-Indigenous person will manipulate that person and start making meetings for when he is not around and start turning them on each other.

Maggie (age category 46-50): And to me it's like they [the governments] will chuck a couple of scraps at the people and they all fight for it, and because that's all they got... Yeah because they don't have much money or much resources they all want that bit... Conquer and divide.

Racism is implicit in the accounts above. Both Molly and Maggie indicate that racism and white systems or people utilise a "divide and conquer" strategy. In Molly's account non-Aboriginal people deliberately manipulate community protocol. This tends to fuel and contribute to lateral violence as families or individuals then fight or treat each other in ways that are detrimental. Maggie indicates how white systems deliberately provide limited resources to Aboriginal people in order to divide the community, who then compete with each other for scarce resources. Divide and conquer is a well-known strategy used by imperial and colonial powers to control and weaken empowered and collective people by enabling mutual mistrust and was used particularly towards Indigenous people (Posner et al., 2009). Thus it appears as relevant today as it did in the past.

Racism between Aboriginal people (within group prejudice/racism)

The behaviours generally associated with lateral violence were sometimes referred to as racism amongst Aboriginal people as identified in the two accounts below.

Dianne (age category 26-30): ...I think that was the big eye-opener for me... to put lateral violence on it, it just gave me a whole other spin to it. And it kind of gave it its proper name. Like, it...I thought it was racism, but I...it wasn't really...it was my people, against me. And when I finally saw that...the link between the two, that kind of

affirmed me, and I went, "Okay, I know what that is...and I don't want to be a part of it."

Ben (age category 18-25): ...I had something happen to me not that long ago from my manager who is Aboriginal. She said some racist remarks to me like "I am a white cunt" and "I am going to destroy you and take this ... group off you". She had some drug and alcohol problems, she was intoxicated at the time... [I] had been working for two years and didn't know she felt like that 'cos of my skin colour and that destroyed me.

The terms racism and lateral violence were sometimes interchangeable in participants' discussion. This is evident in Dianne's account where she indicates that before her awareness and knowledge of lateral violence she had referred to this behaviour as racism. Interestingly, she expresses relief that there is a more appropriate label for such infighting. Ben's categorisation of his manager's remarks as racist appears to be in reference to the colour of his skin. As Bennett (2014) argues, the questioning of one's authenticity as an Aboriginal person based on skin colour is not limited to non-Aboriginal people: it is a common feature of lateral violence within and between Indigenous peoples.

Stripping away each other's identity

Overview

Identity was a recurring theme in participants' accounts. How identity is judged and questioned by other Aboriginal people in the community was a major concern for these participants and was perceived as a form of lateral violence. This judging of identity included the colour of one's skin, access to cultural knowledge and practice, and aligning with white values,

behaviours and organisations. Challenges to one's Aboriginal identity took the following forms below.

You're too white to be Aboriginal

The categorisation of Aboriginality through blood quantum refers to physical appearance and skin colour as is evident in the two extracts below.

Dianne (age category 26-30): ...Because I'm lighter [skinned], I don't look

Aboriginal...I get a lot of people coming into this agency and if they're sort of grumpy
or they haven't got a good service they'd say, "Oh well, I thought this was an

Aboriginal agency." And I always feel like I have to defend my culture, and I always
feel like I have to work harder... So it's just...it's something that I've always grown up
with, and I think that's why I'm so against it [lateral violence], because I've only just
sort of, in the last couple of years, found it [that it was actually lateral violence]...like,
sort of put a name to it, and said, "This is what it is." I always thought it was
something to do with me. But it's not...it's...I should be proud of who I am, and I'm
proud that my dad is Aboriginal, and I'm proud that my mum's Irish...and they're both
just as important to me. But that doesn't mean that my Aboriginality is less than
someone else ['s].

Daisy (age category 46-50): It's like, you know and it always reminds me of going back to assimilation days when awful words like half-caste and quadroon and things like that were used. But now we are just doing it to ourselves. Like white people used to do it [and] now we are doing it, we're coming up with those sorts of names ourselves and its really derogatory and unhelpful.

The two respondents were challenged by other Aboriginal people about the colour of their skin and indicate how they have found ways to cope with its debilitating effects. Coping for Dianne has been through pride of culture and ancestry, and for Daisy by understanding the past historical discourses and colonial policies that sought to distinguish Aboriginal people's identity based on blood quantum. Colour and physical appearance continue to be used as a test or validation of Aboriginal identity. This is consistent with the research literature (see Bennett, 2014) and everyday experience (see Bolt, 2009) and is a form of social exclusion and denigration that many Aboriginal people have to deal with on a daily basis.

Siding with the white side

Participants talked about how values, behaviours and practices that were viewed as predominantly "white" were used to judge one's Aboriginal identity and its authenticity. Again this kind of personal criticism was viewed as hostile and damaging to one's wellbeing.

Examples of this type of criticism are seen below.

Belle (age category 31-35): Well I think sometimes it's just... a good example is just you don't want to dress up sometimes because you feel people will say... "you think you're white" or "you think you're better than them"... Or when you get a job or you're working... And they'll still say, "Oh you think you're white." So I always thought it was because I was lighter skinned but now I realise it doesn't matter. You could be dark as anything.

Judy (age category 41-45): People putting people down...and community "you married a white fella", "you wear makeup", "your kids are in private school". All those values

that say you are less Aboriginal than me are in my opinion feeding back into those old colonial policies... ... I am fair skinned and not from these lands and I always thought it was just personal. That it was me or that I internalised things and thinking if only I were darker or only if I was Narungga [Aboriginal people of the Yorke Peninsula] and then I realised I wasn't alone. Those dark-skinned sisters experienced lateral violence as well.

These accounts demonstrate how being accused of being white is associated with how you dress, work aspirations, relationship choices, values and ambitions. The process of calling other Aboriginal people white is synonymous to being a traitor, despite the colour of one's skin. Consequently Aboriginal people can be referred to as "coconuts" (black on the outside, white on the inside) and "textbook black" (educated) (Gorringe et al., 2009) or other derogatory names. This is similar to the *acting white phenomenon* described by African Americans where accusations of being white are propelled when one is perceived to align too closely to white culture (Burrell, Winston & Freeman, 2012; Grantham & Biddle, 2014).

It's not only about identity – it's about any vulnerability

Even though one's identity was a trigger for lateral violence, other triggers were associated with any perceived vulnerability, deficit, or benefit of another Aboriginal person.

Lila (aged category 56-60): I am very vulnerable and I reckon its 'cos of the lateral violence I have grown up with. I left SA 'cos of it... I hated it here in SA. I really truly don't trust the Aboriginal community. The individuals, I think we are not allowed to have an opinion, you get shot down. You [are] not allowed [to] give positive feedback

to people about their work, you get shot down, and you get an incident report. You get complaints about you. I have learnt how to deal with that now... Yeah I always worked in Aboriginal Affairs [within government] all my life... This is the first time I have worked in an Aboriginal [community controlled] organisation and I don't like it at all.

Daisy (age category 46-50): You might have some tertiary qualifications other [Aboriginal] people don't... then they will start to weigh up what else can we look at your deficits and we will drag you down so there is always this being measured up.

In these accounts of perceived success, having an opinion and tertiary qualifications were all seen to attract negative criticism. Lila's account highlights how she disengaged with her community and Aboriginal organisations in order not to be subjected to and vulnerable to such forms of lateral violence. Lila was also one of the participants who scored high on the psychological distress scale. Western values of success, professionalism and materialism was associated with whiteness. Such constructions have the capacity to produce differentiations between "the haves" and "have nots" within communities which is often a source of conflict and tension. This corresponds with literature on bullying in Aboriginal contexts (Coffin et al., 2010).

Lateral violence is destructive and affects wellbeing

Many participants acknowledged the destructive nature of lateral violence, how it affects wellbeing, and the desperate need for solutions and restitution. The accounts below exemplify the destructive effects of lateral violence.

Freda (age category 41-45): Then I started to think about my own personal experiences around lateral violence, family violence and it just got me thinking that it's like a "bug that eats our people and community and destroys people". Doing the work with the [name deleted] program – getting people together and talking groups you know, talking about the program and lateral violence. People started talking, how we gonna try and fix this and talk to our mob about [it]?

Maggie (age category 46-50): Huge [link between lateral violence and social and emotional wellbeing] ... Yeah you hear of young people suiciding and if you are continually shamed every day, or you are continually put down...you can't be your full potential that you are meant to be in this world, so naturally it's going to affect you.

Kelly (age category 41-45): Yeah, whether that's from gossip, or whether it's from you know...yeah, just sort of like your involvement it can be really...it can be petty but it can be ongoing, and whether that's...that thing, when that's happening that's going to sort of like prevent them...you know, they don't think about it when it's happening, they don't really understand they just, you know, they want to be connected, everyone wants to be happy but they don't understand how everyone's different and they can experience...they take it differently, people can take it differently and really internalise it, I suppose, they can't really...they can sort of feel uncomfortable, they can make themselves sick because of [silence].

Freda highlights lateral violence as a soul destroying bug and tries to get people to talk about it.

Maggie's account demonstrates the toll of being put down constantly by other Aboriginal people which hampers your potential as a person. Kelly's reference to becoming sick because

of the effects of lateral violence is also illustrative. Kelly was a participant who also scored high on the K-5 with many life stressors on the NLES. Thus, she was talking from her own experiences of trauma. This coincides with literature on trauma and vulnerability (Krieg, 2009).

Summary and discussion

This study was significant in that it provided a voice about lateral violence by Aboriginal people in a local context. Firstly, the engagement of a number of participants actualises the willingness for voices to be heard, despite lateral violence being a sensitive and perhaps difficult topic to discuss within Aboriginal communities. Thus this study may have empowered some people to speak out about lateral violence and particularly its effects. Moreover, a process of comfort and safety may have also been a factor in participants' motivations to be part of the study as they could speak out anonymously.

Secondly, given there is very little research on lateral violence, particularly the effects of lateral violence within the Australian Indigenous community, this research will contribute greatly to the literature, and potentially assist with attracting resources and further research interest. By demonstrating the detrimental effects on identity and wellbeing a focus on solutions for the prevention of lateral violence is timely. Furthermore strategies for coping and the prevention of lateral violence are discussed further in the next chapter that will also add substantially to the literature.

In summary lateral violence is a relatively recent term applied in Australia to explain infighting within oppressed Indigenous communities. Along with racism, lateral violence is predominantly attributed to the damaging effects of intergenerational trauma which has its roots in colonialism. Racist policies and practices provided fertile ground for the internal

denigration and division of Aboriginal people. One way this division continues is through lateral violence where the oppressed becomes the oppressor.

Although behaviours associated with lateral violence (i.e. bullying) can be found in populations all over the world, within oppressed minority groups such behaviours can become intractable and normalised which can hamper solutions for change. As the analysis above demonstrates, lateral violence refers to both overt (physical) violence and covert (i.e. emotional and psychological) behaviours. Yet covert behaviours have the potential to cause significant psychological distress, particularly when it is internalised. It appears to parallel modern forms of racism which are covert, subtle and insidious.

The means to perpetrate lateral violence amongst Aboriginal people is to look for actual, perceived or created vulnerability, deficits or benefits. The most common trigger is linked to one's identity that can be challenged and stripped away via notions of blood quantum (i.e. the colour of one's skin, [or] physical appearance). Having an education, being well-renumerated or simply enjoying material assets can expose one to suspicion of wanting to be white — such a desire is considered inauthentic. This contributes to being put down, bullied, ostracised, called white or other names, such as coconut. Judgements of inauthenticity by both Aboriginal people and non-Aboriginal people are linked to an ideal view of Aboriginality and a deficit discourse, which is about being "black", traditionally oriented, problematic and a victim. If Aboriginal people hold to such views of Aboriginality, then this becomes the measure by which people are considered more or less and therefore exposed to lateral violence. Thus defining Aboriginality in such a limited way excludes the complexity and multiplicity of diversity and identity, and traps Aboriginal people into thinking and behaving in certain ways about how they should be

as Aboriginal people. Therefore accepting diversity and different identities can potentially assist in hampering lateral violence and provide a freer and greater sense of wellbeing.

The average number of life stressors for participants was almost six, which seemed relatively high with racism and discrimination rated as their major source of stress. Approximately a third of the participants scored high on psychological distress, which corresponds with the national level of Aboriginal people who have high psychological distress. Such distress and high number of stressors appeared to be linked to the more traumatic stories associated with lateral violence. Yet most participants indicated (via the K-5) they were hopeful for the future, despite the stressors and distress.

The relational aspect of racism, trauma, identity, wellbeing and lateral violence are evidenced by the experiences of the participants and subsequent themes, the literature and the wellbeing scales. This preliminarily analysis supports the hypothesis that lateral violence is a major impediment to identity and wellbeing in similar ways to trauma and racism.

The topic of lateral violence has not undergone a significant education process in Australia. Thus the implications from the findings of this research are that they can be used for community education and awareness to assist with prevention and healing. As lateral violence is an under researched area, there are many areas that could be explored. For example, a replication of the study outside of Adelaide could be useful. Furthermore lateral violence occurrence could be added to the NLES to gain a wider perspective on its prevalence nationally.

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Coping and prevention of lateral violence in the Aboriginal community in Adelaide				
Publication Status	Published				
	☐ Submitted for Publication Unpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style				
Publication Details	Clark, Y., Augoustinos, M., & Malin, M. (in press). Coping and prevention of lateral violence.				
Principal Author					
Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Yvonne Clark				
Contribution to the Paper	Performed the literature review, called for and collected data (interviews with participants) interpreted data, wrote manuscript and acted as corresponding author.				
Overall percentage (%)	85%				
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its igclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.				
Signature	Date 16/12/16				
Co-Author Contributions	5				
By signing the Statement of Authorship	o, each author certifies that:				
	ibution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);				
i. the delitation of other delitation	ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and				
The state of the s					
ii. permission is granted for the	atributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.				
ii. permission is granted for the	ntributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution. Professor Martha Augoustinos				

Signature		Date	15/12/16
Name of Co-Author	Merridy Malin		
Contribution to the Paper	Helped to evaluate and edit the manuscript		
			- 15 1/
Signature		Date	8-12-16

Please cut and paste additional co-author panels here as required.

Chapter 5: Coping and prevention of lateral violence in the Aboriginal community in Adelaide

Abstract

The term *lateral violence* describes how members of oppressed groups direct their dissatisfaction inward. This inward deflection has been associated with the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia and has been shown to be destructive. Interviews with 30 Aboriginal participants examining their ways of dealing with and strategising to prevent lateral violence in the community have been presented in a thematic analysis. Overall seven major interpretive themes emerged from these interviews: education is central; support provides unity; champions and role models are essential; culture and identity are empowering; avoidance of Aboriginal spaces by Aboriginal people can be protective; lateral violence can be challenged; and positively reinterpreted. Given that many participants drew on a number of coping strategies to deal with lateral violence, it is hoped that such information will benefit individuals, community, governments and funding agencies to support future research, education and services within communities in order for Aboriginal people to heal and prevent lateral violence in the future.

Introduction

Lateral violence and disempowerment

Lateral violence is a form of overt and covert dissatisfaction and disruption among members of oppressed groups (NCSA, 2008). Within Indigenous groups, overt physical violence coupled with covert behaviours such as bullying, harassment, gossip and sabotage have been found (AHRC, 2011b; Derrick, 2006) along with the stripping away of each other's Aboriginal identity (Clark, Augoustinos & Malin, 2016). Lateral violence within Aboriginal communities in Australia is linked to intergenerational and collective trauma that has its roots in colonialism. From colonisation Aboriginal people's lives were undermined and controlled through government policies and actions resulting in ongoing racism and oppression. Appeals and resistance were met with further disempowerment that has become multigenerational and continues to be evident today (Milroy et al., 2014).

Feelings of powerlessness and dependency have been further linked to poor health and life outcomes (Milroy et al., 2014). The effects of powerlessness in relation to lateral violence have reportedly contributed to a blame mentality, lack of trust in others' judgment (Derrick, 2006), jealousy over possessions (Coffin et al., 2010) as well as physiological symptoms such as sleep disorders, weight loss or gain and depression (NWAC, 2015). In contrast, having a sense of control over one's life has been linked to better health and life outcomes, wellbeing and prosperity in many areas of Aboriginal life (Milroy et al., 2014).

Healing, training and empowerment

Disempowerment has meant that many Aboriginal people are in a continual state of healing, which has been described as a holistic process of physical, cultural, psychological and/or spiritual renewal (Mackean, 2009). According to Milroy et al. (2014), healing and redress for Aboriginal people needs to include processes of empowerment, community governance, resilience, restoration and reconnection with community life. Importantly, reclaiming the history, ancestry and community stories of family and country help to restore a sense of cultural continuity. One such example of cultural renewal in Adelaide is the cultural reclamation of the Kaurna language, which has enabled the Kaurna people to define themselves and transform their society in their own way rather than be defined by others (Amery, 2016).

Healing and empowerment can occur at various levels, starting with individuals clarifying and/or redefining their values and norms which permeates the community for collective healing and goal setting (Dudgeon et al., 2014b). Furthermore empowerment needs to be strength based and resourced by tools within communities. Thus, training and information on lateral violence appear to be increasing within Indigenous communities by Aboriginal people in Canada and Australia and appear on websites. Examples include: *Chameleon strategies* (2016); *kweykwayconsulting* (2016); *Aboriginal cultural workshops* (Ryan, 2015); *Koorreen enterprises* (2015); *Kornar Winmil Yunti* (2016); and *Lateral Love* (2014).

Coping, resilience and support

Collective vs individualistic coping

Incidence of high psychological distress (ABS, 2016), racism (Stolper & Hammond, 2010) and poor mental health (AIHW, 2015) in Aboriginal communities mean that coping is fundamental to survival. Much of the coping research and literature has been dominated by individualistic Western cultural paradigms (Kuo, 2011; Yeh, et al., 2006) with four broad coping styles: active or problem focused (i.e. confronting problems); denial-disengagement or emotion focused (i.e. withdrawal); social support seeking; and positive reinterpretation (Mellor, 2004). Some researchers (e.g. Strelan & Covic, 2006) also suggest forgiveness of a perpetrator as a coping mechanism. Research on collective coping emphasises *cultural* and *social* mechanisms as underlying the stress and coping process (Kuo, 2011). Collective coping responses or strategies can be: value-driven (e.g. forbearance and fatalism); interpersonal (e.g. family and social support); culturally conditioned emotional/ cognitive (e.g. acceptance and avoidance); religion and spiritually grounded (Fischer, Ai, Aydin, Frey, & Haslam, 2010); respecting authority figures; and relational universality such as belonging, sharing and identifying with others (Yeh, et al., 2006).

Individualistic cultures value independence and autonomy where the target of control is likely to be outside of the person. This means that individuals aim to change or control the external environment to cope. Collectivist cultures emphasise group cohesion, interdependence, connection, harmony and conforming rather than group norms. Thus individuals in a collectivist society aim to change themselves (their minds, emotions or behaviours) to fit the environment and to protect it (Chun, Moos & Cronkite, 2006; Weisz, et al., 1984). Individuals will generally use a range of collective and individualistic coping strategies in their daily lives,

whether they are from an individualist or collectivist society. Some forms of coping are deemed more functional than others. For example, Yeh et al. (2006) indicate that active and internal coping (i.e. seeking support, taking concrete action or reflecting on possible solutions) is functional, resulting in positive consequences. In contrast, dysfunctional coping (i.e. withdrawal, denial or repression, controlling feelings and having a fatalistic attitude), can result in negative consequences. However, Yeh et al. (2006) point out that there is a cultural bias towards problem-focused coping and personal agency, which are concepts highly valued in individualistic cultures.

Coping and resilience within Aboriginal communities

Australian Aboriginal people are regarded as a collectivist culture where individuals are held together through kinship systems involving a shared sense of identity, responsibility, care and control (Milroy et al., 2014). Examples of coping and resilience in relation to Aboriginal people in Australia have primarily been in response to racism (Mellor, 2004) and psychological stress (Kelly et al., 2009). Mellor (2004) indicated three broad themes of coping behaviours to deal with racism in his research which are *defensive*, *controlled* and *attacking*. The *defensive* (defend or protect the self) type includes: passive (resignation of the situation); active (avoiding future encounters or individuals, venues or situations); reinterpretation of the event (to lessen the impact of racism); social support; and strengthening children (to help them cope with racism in the future). *Controlled* (control the self) is primarily about ignoring (which is a choice to not respond). Finally, *attacking* (control the environment/perpetrator) includes: contesting racist behaviours; confrontation of some kind (i.e. educating the perpetrators through factual information); asserting identity and pride; or seeking external controls (i.e. calling on those in authority). Yet, Mellor (2004), indicates that the Indigenous people in his

study were reluctant to use regulatory or legislative bodies for complaints as they were seen as ineffective.

Coping in relation to psychological distress for Aboriginal people has been to identify risk and protective factors whereby protective factors shield against the effects of risk. Those who are psychologically overwhelmed or struggling to cope with multiple stressors are likely to effectively exhibit higher psychological distress (Kelly et al., 2009). Some of these risk factors include unresolved grief and loss, trauma and abuse, domestic violence, removal from family, substance misuse, family breakdown, cultural dislocation, racism, discrimination and social disadvantage. Protective factors include connection to land, culture, spirituality, ancestry, family and community (SHRG, 2004). These factors can serve as a source of resilience and can moderate the impact of stress on social and emotional wellbeing of an individual, family and community. Merritt (2007), amongst others, has argued that exceptional resilience has enabled many Aboriginal people to survive and be shielded against the devastating effects of colonisation and intergenerational trauma.

Social support

Coping in the form of social support is via bonded and bridging support. Bonded relationships are between intimate associates, who are often from homogenous backgrounds, and bridging relationships are between less intimate associates, usually from heterogeneous backgrounds. Both bonded and bridging relationships contribute to a well-developed social network (Gottlieb & Bergen, 2010).

Research on social support within an urban Aboriginal community in Perth has reaffirmed the importance of bonded relationships which provide many protective resources for wellbeing and

positive health outcomes (Waterworth et al., 2014). Furthermore, bonded relationships similar to kinship relationships promote connectedness, identity, and a sense of belonging and empowerment (Waterworth et al., 2015). However, in some circumstances, bonded relationships can have a negative effect and be psychologically stressful. For example, Aboriginal people can withdraw from bonded connections to protect themselves and immediate family, as the influences of extended family members and obligations can cause them physical or emotional harm. This withdrawal can contribute to fragmented kinship affiliations, isolation and reduced opportunity to develop new bonded relationships. Bridging relationships with non-Aboriginal people can also have positive effects, particularly if the interactions are with non-Aboriginal representatives from organisations that provide support, encouragement and information. Bridging contact with non-Aboriginal members are deemed less important within the Aboriginal community and rarely incorporated due to exposure to cultural distinctiveness, discrimination and racism, which may prevent Aboriginal people from accessing this type of social support (Waterworth et al., 2014; 2015).

Lumby (2010) indicates that another form of support is social networking on Facebook. Facebook is becoming a popular vehicle amongst urban Indigenous young people in order to build, display and perform Indigenous identities. Facebook acts as a modern site for kinship activities of continuity, connectedness and cultural belonging (Montgomery 2014). Facebook provides a means for both confirming Indigeneity by embracing some users but at the same time, denying Indigeneity by imposing penalties on others for *faking* or being perceived as faking (Lumby, 2010). Thus Facebook can be a tool of scrutiny and surveillance and can also be a platform for racial vilification external to communities (i.e. racism), and abusive and hateful messages from within (i.e. lateral violence) Indigenous communities (Montgomery, 2014).

Therapeutic interventions and counselling

In order to cope and heal, Aboriginal people may seek counselling and therapy for a variety of social and emotional wellbeing issues with the five most common being: depression, anxiety and stress, grief and loss, family or relationship problems, and family and community violence (AIHW, 2016). Various types of therapies and techniques are utilised to engage Aboriginal people in counselling. Some recommended therapies include: narrative therapy which enables a process of storytelling (Fredericks, 2006); an adapted form of cognitive behaviour therapy (CBT) (Bennett-Levy et al., 2014) where its suitability is still being reviewed and monitored (Dudgeon & Kelly, 2014); art therapy (Cameron, 2010); and Aboriginal traditional healing. In a Western Australian context traditional healers work with the ngarlu (spiritual life force located in the stomach) (Roe, 2010). In a South Australian context, traditional healers (Ngangkaris) provide physical and emotional healing in remote, rural and urban areas (in Adelaide) via a *two way* health care model (with Ngangkari and the health professional) (Panzironi 2013, p 176).

Other national examples of healing and educational initiatives by Indigenous Islander people include: the *We-Al-Li* program (Atkinson, et al., 2010) to heal trauma; the *Seven Phases to Healing* targeting grief and loss, anger and violence (Wanganeen, 2014); Aboriginal men's healing such as *Red Dust* (Powell et al., 2014) and *Mibbinbah Spirit* (Bulman & Hayes, 2011) to address issues of racism, trans-generational trauma, and loss of culture and identity. Furthermore, women's healing initiatives include Aboriginal family violence programs that aim to safeguard and empower such as the *Nunga Mi:Minar* service in SA (Snell & Small, 2009).

There is a lack of specific and tailored resources for Aboriginal people's healing, and often the reliance on mainstream health and mental health services fails to understand and address many Aboriginal healing issues. Aboriginal people have continually identified that what they need and want in order to heal themselves and their communities are preventative and holistic healing programs that promote strong, resilient communities focusing on restoring social and emotional wellbeing (Dudgeon et al., 2014b). The success of therapeutic services also depends on cultural competency, cultural safety and relationship building. Cultural safety means that services must be culturally sanctioned so that everyone has the right to feel good about themselves and their identities (Frankland et al., 2010).

Policy and legislative solutions

Lateral violence as a concept does not appear to have legal standing. However, bullying, which is considered part of lateral violence, has a number of avenues for complaints and redress under various legislations and laws. The creation of the *Fair Work (FW) anti-bullying* jurisdiction, for example, provides readily accessible external intervention into workplace bullying without applicants having to exhaust internal organisational processes. However, defining and stopping bullying, whether in law, policy or research remains a challenge despite good intentions (Worth & Squelch, 2015). Online bullying and cyber-safety is a growing concern, particularly for young people. For example, the most common form of communication between youth aged over 13 is social media. And around half of all youth between 8-11 years access and use some form of social media (Radoll, 2014). Now under the *Enhancing Online Safety Act 2015*, the Children's e-Safety Commissioner was established as a complaints system for cyberbullying targeting children and can direct large social media companies to remove offensive material (Young et al., 2016).

The current study

Lateral violence has been an under researched area within the Aboriginal context in Australia. Although there is increasing information and research on related concepts, such as racism, trauma, violence, family violence, and social and emotional wellbeing, very few Indigenous people have been consulted about lateral violence. Thus, this study aims to provide a voice about lateral violence from local Aboriginal community members in Adelaide.

Lateral violence may fit within the holistic healing and wellbeing framework for Aboriginal people, as it is a source of significant stress and can be destructive to one's identity and wellbeing. Therefore it is important to identify ways of dealing and coping with lateral violence in order for Aboriginal people to gain a better understanding, and be empowered and protected from further distress.

Research approach

Indigenous framework

This research is informed by an overarching Indigenous framework which advocates for cultural safety, relevance and Indigenous worldviews (Rigney, 1999a) along with respect, reciprocity and relationality (Arbon, 2008; Martin, 2008). It follows that the researcher has a vested interest in the integrity of the methodology (respect) and also needs to form a respectful relationship with the ideas being studied. This respectful relationship is realised if the results are reciprocated and flow back to the community (reciprocity) for discussion and deliberation. Relationality or relatedness means that knowledge is relational and should be shared with all creations (i.e. people, animals, land, time, and the cosmos). Thus relationship accountability or

axiology is the accountability of the research and researcher to the community and the universe (Wilson, 2003).

Another feature of an Indigenous methodology is that it attempts to focus on empowerment and capacity building, especially in mentoring and creating spaces and support for new approaches to research and new examinations of Indigenous knowledge (Smith, 2005). Wilson (2008) adds that it is not necessary to dwell on Indigenous struggles or the powerlessness to change situations, but rather to focus on assertion and achievement. Thus this research attempts to focus on participant strength and coping abilities to prevent and combat lateral violence within communities. Such an approach will be driven by an *insider* approach. This approach is based on acknowledgement and experiences of Indigeneity and will be used in interpretations and analysis. At the same time *outsider* input via supervisory and collegial support is vital and will assist in further rigour.

Participants

Thirty Aboriginal participants consented to take part in the study. Inclusion criteria were identification as an Aboriginal and/ or Torres Strait Islander, 18 years of age or over and residing in Adelaide. The majority of participants were female (63%). Ages ranged from early 20s to mid-60s with about 13% falling in the younger age bracket (30 years and under) and 10% in their late 50s to mid-60s. Furthermore almost half (47%) of the participants in the study had a university level education.

Procedure and analysis

Ethical approval for the research was gained by both the Aboriginal Health Research Ethics Committee and the University of Adelaide Human Research Ethics Committee. A recruitment flyer, with an invitation to "chat" about lateral violence, was disseminated via various email networks with a request to circulate further (see Appendix 1). An information sheet was then distributed to interested people that provided background details of researchers, the research, rights, responsibilities, risks, and incentives (see Appendix 2). Prior to the interviews, brief demographic information, such as gender, age and educational background, was collated. Information was also provided about counselling services with assurance of support upon any distress (see Appendix 9).

The interviews included broad questions such as: "Have you heard about lateral violence?", "What do you know/understand about lateral violence?", "Can you tell me about some of your experiences of lateral violence?"; "How has it affected you?", "What have you done to stop or curb lateral violence in the past?"; and "What would you like to see happen to make changes in the community?" The interviews ranged from 15 minutes to an hour, and were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim. All participants were asked if they wanted to view the transcripts prior to analysis and only one participant requested to do so. The transcripts were then de-identified and pseudonyms were assigned to all names mentioned in transcripts to maintain anonymity and confidentiality of participants. The data were coded using NVivo10 qualitative software and analysed using a thematic approach (Braun & Clarke, 2013).

Findings

Themes from interviews

Overview of themes

As already indicated this analysis focuses specifically on ways of dealing with and coping with lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide. Hence, many participants were aware of lateral violence before the interviews, and reflected on a range of strategies to cope with and prevent lateral violence at both individual and community levels, from both Western and collectivist perspectives. A common value was strength in unity. This is not surprising, as lateral violence is a segregating phenomenon that can isolate individuals, families and groups from each other.

Education

The most prevalent strategy for dealing with lateral violence discussed by participants was education and raising awareness. The participants learned about lateral violence both formally and informally through training, workshops, work colleagues, the internet and research papers. Participants were eager to build on their knowledge of lateral violence as well as to ensure others understood the damaging effects of lateral violence.

Formal training

Participants indicated that formal training, in the form of educational workshops can assist people to better understand lateral violence, its effects on individuals, families and communities, and to work towards strategies for prevention. The extracts below exemplify the need for lateral violence awareness training.

Lila (age category 56-60): I think the lateral violence training that we did has helped me understand it more. [If] I see somebody who behaves really badly, well that's lateral violence. I see somebody else and I say that's jealousy. I see somebody else and that's incompetence. I can now separate it. That lateral violence training we did...it really did make a difference to a lot of people who came to the training. People talk about lateral violence more often than not...I have a lot of respect for the lateral violence training. It was like a breath of fresh air that came in. It's a way we can make changes 'cos if we don't work together we are never gonna improve. No matter what amount of funds they give us, no matter what fantastic technology they give an Aboriginal organisation, no matter... if we don't work together we are never gonna make the changes... People were talking to communities and they were saying we need to do it [lateral violence training] here... I was just sad that it just wasn't ongoing. I know you didn't have the money and stuff.

Rose (age category 41-45): It would be good to learn a bit more about lateral violence... If you ever run a lateral violence workshop let me know, I will love to go.

These extracts identify that formal training is a feasible option for better understanding lateral violence. Reference was made to the Preventing Lateral Violence (PLV) workshops (Clark et al., 2014) which Lila had previously attended and Rose had heard about and was keen to attend. The workshop helped Lila distinguish lateral violence from other forms of violence which enabled conversations and better unity within the workplace. Both extracts above reiterate the need for workshops within the community as an education tool. Other workshops on lateral violence appear to be increasing around Australia (see for example Koorreen

Enterprises, 2015; Korner Winmil Yunti, 2016; Ryan, 2015) which reflect the increasing demand for such workshops.

Understanding and awareness

It would seem that once participants understood lateral violence, it enabled a process of self-awareness of values, behaviours and roles for preventing lateral violence within the community. The extracts below exemplify this process.

Eve (age category 31-35): I think we are all probably a little bit guilty of being perpetrators and exacerbating that [lateral violence], but for me personally I think with the name of it actually created an awareness ... of my own actions, how I may talk about people, how I might even think about my community. So for me it really created a self-awareness, which I think you've got to have that before you can create community or any other sort of awareness...taking responsibility for our actions..

Kelly (age category 41-45): Accept people for who they are, really, I think, they should really look at themselves inside, you know and really look at their values and ... you know, what do they believe in and, you know... they say they like to be respected and this is how they like to be treated themselves, but if you've got a connection it can be really hard...it prevents you from moving ahead... Own it...and you know, if you own it, then...it needs to be clearly defined what it is and why you're doing it. Why are you doing it?

Both Eve and Kelly indicated the importance of critical reflection of one's values, thoughts, beliefs, actions and accountability. This assisted Eve to "create community" and for Kelly to

reflect "move ahead" and "own it". Thus these participants hypothesised that such reflection allowed self-awareness, ownership of one's actions, and improved community connections that assisted with fair treatment and respect amongst community.

This process begins with awareness and naming lateral violence (Clark & Augoustinos, 2015) through education, which can set in motion a process of self-reflection about one's own experiences and responsibility in acknowledging lateral violence and accountability. This realisation process begins at the individual level to accommodate the collective community level. This is supported in the literature that indicates that individual change leads to community change (i.e. Dudgeon et al., 2014b).

A lateral violence campaign

Participants realised that education for the broader Aboriginal community and general population was needed to drive the message home about prevention of lateral violence as shown in the extracts below.

Russell (age category 36-40): I think the media and NITV...maybe do a commercial but ...it has to be hard hitting, like see some of these drunk [sic] driving commercials...People need to understand what could come of lateral violence like suicide and all these other things... It needs to be put in their face. There needs to be some kind of shock value, shock education. Because if we sugar coat things people aren't going to, it's not gonna sink in. You need something that they'll talk about in the community. "Oh, did you see that commercial?" or "Did you see that show on this and what happened."

Rachel (age category 31-35): I can see a campaign, it would be great but I can see little kids saying, "Oh I'm naming it now 'cos there's a name to it"... Yeah need someone to get out and do a lot more workshops around it in community... I'd love to see more like a stall at NAIDOC and Reconciliation Week and stuff like lateral love, lateral violence, learn, something like that. You know that Quit Smoking campaign and all that, it would be good to see. I know it costs a lot of money but it's so good for community and not just Aboriginal workers but Aboriginal community young, old, talking about lateral violence "Let's stop it!".... Yeah and have posters of local Aboriginal mob, it's got to be credible, it's hard 'cos we've all had our frustrations where we will all have fights with our family and that and you don't want someone going "Oh hypocrite!"

Both Russell and Rachel supported a visual educational campaign including television, film, posters and visual displays at community events. They acknowledged the success of other campaigns on sensitive topics. Rachel, in particular, stressed the importance that the campaign be credible and foster community participation and ownership, be culturally safe and model respectful practices.

Targeted lateral violence education

Participants suggested that lateral violence needs to target both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal communities. However, the future of Aboriginal communities lies with the next generation and therefore a focus on prevention and unity needs to start with young Aboriginal people, as suggested in the extracts below.

Eve (age category 31-35): I think it would be very hard for a non-Aboriginal person managing Aboriginal people in a team to sit down and name that [lateral violence]. I

guess it has to be promoted and talked about and spread about within the Aboriginal community, but I think you need non-Aboriginal people ... be aware of this because also it would stop non- Aboriginal people from perpetrating lateral violence as well, and you know they could do it quite innocently or non-intentionally, but that can happen ...

Maggie (age category 46-50): ... How do Aboriginal people do that [pull themselves up]...Because the next generation shouldn't have to wear lateral violence and shame...You know but now they've got a whole new ball game...they've got technology...Facebook and through the mobile phone.

Russell (age category 36-40): It needs to start with the young, 'cos they need to educate their parents. That's kind of ironic. It's supposed to be the other way around, but the young ones need to go back into their community and educate their parents...

In these extracts Eve highlighted the need for raising awareness among non-Aboriginal colleagues to prevent inadvertent perpetuation of lateral violence. Both Maggie and Russell had concerns about the young community members and wanting to prevent the normalisation of lateral violence. Thus participants highlighted the importance of lateral violence education for all people, Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal, young and old, in the workplace and the community as well as in schools (as identified in other abstracts).

Confirming the findings of previous research participants also describe how Facebook and the mobile phone were avenues for both affirming and questioning the authenticity of Aboriginal identity, particularly amongst the young (Lumby, 2010; Radoll, 2014). The literature indicates

that practices of non-affirming identity can affect a young person's self-esteem and contribute to adjustment problems (Phinney & Chavira, 1992). Hence, by targeting education towards the young, the intergenerational cycle of trauma and violence can be prevented and in turn be an avenue for accountability for parents to stop modelling lateral violence for their children.

Support

Four types of support were recognised by participants as central to coping with lateral violence: social and family; workplace; legal; and counselling support. Such support can assist to promote unity and work towards common goals within Aboriginal communities.

Family and social support

Support from family and community was salient, even though it can also be the most likely place where lateral violence occurs. The extracts below indicate the importance participants place on support within families and communities in response to lateral violence.

Peter (age category 26-30): Um try and support each other. I mean like if someone's got a problem, try and help them out in the community and try not make it harder for them so they think about, you know, these people and their families as well... Um maybe try to explain to them the importance of sticking together. There's a lot of bigger problems out there.

Russell (age category 36-40): And I feel that by then putting lateral violence on their siblings of all people they should be supporting...And I tell them that. They should be supporting each other... Not running each other down.

The participants alluded to the desire for family and community support consistent with the literature that indicates that bonded (kinship) support is more common than bridging support within the Aboriginal community (Waterworth et al., 2014). Peter reiterated the need to "stick together" for support, as the absent but implicit message is that the community is divisive. Russell indicated support rather than "running each other down". Being put down and division are two aspects of lateral violence, and thus family and community support is vital to alleviate problems and strive for improved outcomes.

Workplace support

Many participants worked within an Aboriginal organisation or service where lateral violence was an issue and discussions about workplace support featured prominently in interviews. The two extracts below emphasise the importance of workplace support for improved outcomes.

Beau (age category 36-40): I mean personally here we're pretty supportive of one another and I think we stand sort of united and I think should be within reason without... Yeah we all stick up and support one another and we can debrief.

Kelly (age category 41-45): What makes it work here is that everyone talks about it, you know, if they notice something they are on [to] it pretty quick and its open and ... [Non-Aboriginal] manager is really good with support in that way... And she's really at the forefront with supporting Aboriginal workers here...it's really good. And we have our own set groups and its specific for us to do, to work with the community ... clients that we work [with] here...it's flexible but you can sort of like feel confident in working...

These narratives exemplified positive support within the workplace. Beau reiterates that when there is support there is unity amongst colleagues. Kelly indicates that an open and communicative environment with the support from a non-Aboriginal supervisor helped with unity, confidence and service provision. Thus these findings show that a supportive working environment is necessary and can utilise both bonded and bridging support (Waterworth et al., 2014, 2015).

Legal support

Many participants advocated for legal support avenues which could be via legislation, workplace policy or guidelines pivotal for combating lateral violence in the workplace.

Eve (age category 31-35): ... so I mean there probably has to be some guidelines around I don't know...I think it would be good to have some guidelines around [lateral violence in] workplaces.

Brett (age category 51-55): ... You know, where I give the example of how the young girl was treating her mother [perpetrating lateral violence]. Even legislate against it as well ... really it becomes a bit of a criminal offence.

Beau (age category 36-40): To me, we've just sort of gone through as an organisation, gone through a lot of our policies and still are continuing as part of our ...quality improvement stuff in making them more user friendly... So it's pretty clear....approaching managers and following their bullying and harassment policy and stuff, so...

All three participants reiterated the need for legal avenues for prevention and stopping lateral violence, for example, by reviewing relevant policies and procedures for clarity. Where needed, relevant guidelines and codes of conduct could be developed to enable people to feel culturally safe and not be oppressed by the system, supervisors or other Aboriginal colleagues. Franklin et al. (2009) advocate for the alignment of cultural safety processes with workplace policy and practice.

It seems that lateral violence education needs to be inclusive of information on legal support, such as the *Fair Work* anti-bullying jurisdiction, and through the Children's e-Safety Commissioner for cyberbullying. Yet it is difficult to know how many Aboriginal people will use these external sources. As discussed in the literature Mellor (2004) indicated that participants in his study felt that regulatory or legislative bodies were ineffective.

Counselling support

Many participants indicated that support from a culturally responsive counsellor or psychologist was important to alleviate distress associated with lateral violence.

Kelly (age category 41-45): ...I have experienced lateral violence...you need to have someone you can talk with and someone that will listen, someone that understands it, so you know, like you're not having to explain about it ... someone, you know, you go in there to their professional help to...that they can understand what you're saying and how you experience, and if they have no concept of what you're saying and you've got to explain it to them, you're hitting a wall... They need to understand the cultural...and they need to be sensitive about that, and [if] they [the service] don't have it... [and] they're only going by textbook... [and] they haven't lived it, they haven't breathed it,

and they don't understand it, and so, how can they really call themselves a counsellor if they're not appropriate for what you're saying?

Paul (age category 41-45): I got two actually; I got a psychologist through mental health... Now I get psychologists and getting it out. Dreaming about it. I saw people get shot but I was 19 years' old when I saw them die but it seemed real, like it just happened... Counselling but not everyone will want to do that or even if it's available. If you can't do all that, go out for a nice walk or fish, have a good breather...

The importance of cultural competence for counsellors was stressed by Kelly. Paul's counselling was via an Aboriginal community controlled service which presumably includes cultural aspects. Without cultural competency and appropriate practices, counselling may be of little value to Aboriginal people. Many Aboriginal people in Adelaide pursue counselling services in the Aboriginal primary health care sector (AIHW, 2016). Within Aboriginal services, traditional healers (Ngangkari) may also be accessed. However, the scope of this article does not allow for a report on other counselling options utilised by Aboriginal people in Adelaide such as private, government or Employer Assistance Programs (EAP).

Avoidance of Aboriginal spaces

According to many participants avoiding or disengaging with family, community or Aboriginal workplaces was a common strategy in dealing with the effects of lateral violence.

Belle (age category 31-35): Yeah, I don't want to be around black fellas because they're all like this and But yeah, I'm very strong about that sort of stuff. I mean it's easy to get like that when you've just really been slapped in the face by your own

people so I can understand that. They're probably just venting, but that's really sad to me when they're like that.... Whilst I totally understood what they were saying and where they kept coming from, but I just thought I don't want it to be like that. You should be able to be proud and you shouldn't have to say that everyone's like that and you don't want to be around your own people or your own family.

Russell (age category 36-40): I've removed myself from family that sit around the kitchen table and gossip about people... it's about removing myself from the mob and being surrounded by good people.

Leanne (age category 51-55): ...My uncle always told me "never work for a nunga [Aboriginal] organisation Leanne". I said I will just try and keep on hearing that all over the years. I thought I would just try this job anyway then about three months ago it all started happening. God I should have listened to him. I am thinking it's good being up there but you have to treat people how you expect to be treated yourself. It would be a happy place if we all work together. I don't like [it] when people don't work together, especially nungas [Aboriginal people in SA]. All want the same outcome.

These examples illustrate the active avoidance of people and places such as family, community and Aboriginal organisations. These narratives reveal that some people (Belle) avoid other Aboriginal community people in order to cope with lateral violence as excessive contact might mean taking on others' detrimental behaviours. Some have disengaged (Russell) with family when they have perpetrated lateral violence and they try to engage with positive people. Some have been warned (Leanne) by others to avoid working in Aboriginal organisations because of lateral violence. The literature indicates that lateral violence is an issue within some Aboriginal

organisations and can threaten their survival (ORIC, 2010). Confirming the results of this project, research in Perth has also found that some participants removed or disengaged themselves from community in order to protect themselves. This consequently fragmented relationships, further isolating people (Waterworth et al., 2014, 2015).

Become proud and strong in identity and culture

Cultural maintenance, connections and identity for participants appeared essential and this was linked to empowerment and pride as can be seen in the extracts from narratives below.

Beau (age category 36-40): ...My mum was Aboriginal and sadly not with us anymore but my father, he was Swedish, so anyhow growing up with mum she struggled with alcoholism but she was still very passionate about her people and that we should stand up for our rights and be counted and all this type of stuff, so even though I was sort of unhappy with how I grew up around alcohol, violence, drugs and stuff like that I still absorbed her passion around Aboriginal rights, so from that like I still draw on that to this day to inspire [me] ...

Dianne (age category 26-30): I guess my real cling to my culture, it probably stems from, I lost my grandmother in 2008, and she was the one who I got all the culture from, and everyone went to her house, and she was sort of the matriarch of the family. So, I always looked up to her and if I had any questions, or if I was confused, or...I'd sit down and listen to her stories. And then she passed away, so I was kind of a bit lost for a little bit, and...I guess my strength comes from her, because I know that she would want me to be strong. So, I try and be true to her, and what she taught me, and try and use her strength...because she was a very strong Aboriginal woman, and I would be

lucky to be like her. So, I guess that's my push...I want to be a strong Aboriginal woman, and I want to give young girls someone to look up to, too. So, I want to be strong like my grandmother, and then when my kids come along, I want them to be able to be like me.

Both Beau and Dianne explained how they drew cultural strength and inspiration from their Aboriginal ancestry in order to maintain their Aboriginal identity while at the same time acknowledging other non-Aboriginal ancestry. Beau absorbed his mother's passion and recognised her importance despite her struggles with alcohol. Dianne accessed her culture and strength from her matriarchal grandmother and wants to continue her legacy by passing on culture and strength to the younger generation. Cultural maintenance and reclamation are extremely important to ensure this legacy continues for Aboriginal people as custodians for future generations (see Amery, 2016). When culture becomes lost or fragmented there can be feelings of grief and loss; but on the flip side there can be pride in what is retained and reclaimed, no matter how big or small. The literature indicates the important protective factors of cultural and ancestral renewal (Kelly et al., 2009).

Role models and champions

Participants also referred to role models and or champions of the cause to assist in preventing lateral violence within the Aboriginal community. These are highlighted in the extracts below.

Eve (age category 31-35): ...when we think about lateral violence I think the work that Brian Butler is doing is fantastic... Like I see his posts that he will put up on Facebook ...loving words...there is always encouragement for our communities, but I think what's the next step...and with him being an elder who's going to be following in his footsteps;

who's the next young champion... So for me a lot of the time we do need champions...whether it be wearing the t-shirts; flying the flag; whether someone is going to be vocal...getting the people out there who...I believe we have got such an untapped workforce. We have got many talented Aboriginal people who aren't working for whatever reasons but for them to be able to volunteer, to be in a paid position, to want to have the kitchen table discussions, to want to have the backyard discussions and let's talk about this and then formalise it...however, that happens in a way that other people can pick it up and go you know this is really great stuff that's happening.

Rachel (age category 31-35): ...But we've got to role model all the elders and people my age and that too, got to role model it for our kids and nieces and nephews and stuff and each other.

Many participants identified Brian Butler as a strong formal advocate against lateral violence and in attempting to improve relations within the community by advocating for love rather than destruction. Concern was expressed by Eve, in particular, about who would step up, speak out and become champions when particular elders were no longer able to do so. The role modelling of positive behaviours and relationships to direct the younger ones in the Aboriginal community to prevent lateral violence was emphasised by Rachel. Both formal and informal avenues are needed, which included public forums as well as backyard discussions and role modelling. When there are controversial or sensitive topics, such as lateral violence within the Aboriginal community, silence can maintain the status quo. Yet there are always champions that will speak out regardless of the silence, even if it contributes to further stress and unwelcome attention. Gorringe et al. (2009) cautioned that those who break the silence to speak out against sensitive issues may face reprisals.

Challenging lateral violence

Participants indicated that challenging lateral violence was one way to curb it. Challenging behaviours were described in the context of respect rather than confrontation.

Leanne (age category 51-55): Yeah 'cos there are two people in this organisation that use it [lateral violence] a lot. I have pulled one of them up and don't expect to be spoken to like that. I actually put in a report to the manager three times. The first time I went to him and he said maybe she was having a bad day and I said it doesn't matter. I don't expect to be spoken to like that...It can make you out to be a bitch... I can't help it. I was a mouse right through. But I am an adult now and in my 50s and if I don't like something I will say it and say it nicely. They don't like the boat being rocked, if I don't like something according to my J&P, because my old manager said to use your J&P. I carry it around with me wherever I go and always reflect on it. As well as the work plan. I have a lot of tools to back me up.

Beau (age category 36-40): ...there's no greater feeling... when you can put someone back in their spot without sort of bullying them or being really nasty, but with statistical evidence to go well actually did you know that blah, blah, blah...they're quiet.

Rose (age category 41-45): This day I came in and a work colleague said "I have to tell you something. Something happened and I addressed it. ... They were talking about you. That's right you are friends with Rose"... She said "Stop I don't want to hear this rah rah." Which is good on my part that she shut those people down and she said, "It was inappropriate and you shouldn't be saying that about such and such [Rose]."

Participants utilised different strategies to confront lateral violence. Examples include Leanne who asserts her rights when disrespected and uses education by showing her J&P.¹⁷ She has reclaimed her power given that she was previously silent (i.e. a "mouse"). However when she challenges others, she is consequently met with reprisals and can be labelled a "bitch". Beau finds a way to challenge people ("put someone back in their spot") by presenting factual information rather than retaliating. Rose gave an example of collegial support from others who defamed her. Challenging is a problem solving skill that is positively evaluated as functional within individualistic societies (Yeh et al., 2006). In this case it is difficult to determine the level of functionality in relation to other coping skills presented by participants. Challenging was rarely discussed, but it appears to have empowered participants to assert their rights.

Turning a negative into a positive

There were a number of participants who turned a negative into a positive. In other words they reframed negative information into positive information in order to lessen its impact. The extracts below exemplify this positive reinterpretation.

Ralph (age category 31-35): And I've learned stinking thinking and stuff like that

Like when you're gonna think negative and that you're gonna do negative things... But now I um just take a negative and turn it into a positive. A lot of people want you to fail but you've just gotta, you've gotta keep soldiering on. You know in yourself that you're doing the right thing, especially in the Aboriginal community all over Australia.

-

¹⁷ A J&P is the Job and Person Specification which is a description of the duties, qualifications, skills, experiences, knowledge and other attributes which a person must possess to perform the job.

Russell (age category 36-40): ...I've had blatant lateral violence and there have been times where I just go with it. 'Cos I know that will annoy them more ...And if they say something, I just say, "Yeah. Why are you stating the obvious?" That's even lateral violence to myself to a certain degree. Like when somebody says, like, calls you a name [word deleted] ... And I said, "Yeah, thanks for stating the obvious, like, as in a smart ass way...You know? They expect for me to get all defensive and blah, blah, blah and I always found that if I go with it, it actually annoys them more and then they're more inclined to pull back. I did it a lot in school. [It is used to] ...take the power out of the words...So the power, we're turning that word from a negative into a positive.

In these examples, Ralph relies on "stinking thinking" methods to guide aspects in his life. When people have negatively evaluated Ralph he reinterprets their efforts positively, which help him to keep "soldiering on". Russell gets called derogatory names and takes "the power out of the words" when he turns the information back on the perpetrators rather than reacting negatively. Positive reinterpretation is a cognitive process and is described as one of the major coping skills in the general literature as well as a method used to protect oneself against racism (see Mellor, 2004).

Discussion

Overview

This article has drawn on participants' resilience, strengths and abilities to cope and strategise to prevent lateral violence. Education and awareness was represented by participants as empowering and a key strategy in self-reflection and understanding the role one plays in sustaining or preventing lateral violence. This self-understanding enabled participants to take responsibility for making changes in their lives. This is indicative of collective cultures where

individuals change the self to protect the group or community. It also suggests the bonded and caring nature of Aboriginal people to ensure that Aboriginal people unite and heal as a group.

Social support via bonding and bridging modes were reported by participants, with bonding support being more prominent in their daily lives. This support assisted in sustaining culture, identity and unity, which are all important for wellbeing. However, there were instances of stress and lateral violence, which meant participants needed to protect themselves. They often did this by disengaging in various ways. Examples included not working in Aboriginal organisations, staying home, and deliberately staying away from the influences of other Aboriginal people. This appeared to be functional to protect the self and community from further disharmony, or as a form of resilience which propels one to seek out alternative and positive support from like-minded people (both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal). Yet disengagement or avoidance may be a dilemma because if Aboriginal people disengage from community and culture their ability to maintain and pass on culture may be compromised. Disengagement could inadvertently add to lateral violence, particularly for the younger generation, where affirmation of identity is important and tested on a regular basis. Disengagement in the workplace could also be a dilemma where Aboriginal recruitment, particularly in Aboriginal services, is needed to ensure appropriate cultural service responses to the community.

Instead of disengagement, some participants ensured they were culturally grounded and took inspiration from elders, ancestors, family and role models from within the community for empowerment. Aboriginal people have different means to access culture depending on their circumstance. For example, many Aboriginal people were removed from culture and family through policies, and therefore access may be different to those who grew up with family and

community. Furthermore the reclamation of language and culture by individuals, families and groups is another means of coping with lateral violence by enhancing identity and pride.

Other ways of coping include standing up against lateral violence. This is done at various levels – as a leader, elder, champion of the cause, a positive role model, or individually to challenge lateral violence in daily life. Challenging is aligned with problem solving and seen as functional from an individualistic standpoint as participants felt empowered by this process. A final way to cope and lessen the impact of lateral violence was to reinterpret a negative into a positive, that is, "take the power" out of the words. This appears a helpful cognitive process, which is about changing the self to fit the environment, which is useful for collective societies.

Participants in this study displayed a range of skills consistent with both individualistic and collective coping styles. Many of their coping strategies appeared to correspond with Indigenous research on racism (Mellor, 2004) in order to protect the self, educate others and assist the younger generation to cope. This is not surprising, given that lateral violence is so divisive and damaging to wellbeing, as is racism. Thus the protective factors in this study serve as tools that empower and assist in lateral violence prevention. This broader education can ensure participants' positive legacy can spread throughout the community.

Implications for health policy intervention and further research

There are many implications from this broad-based research which constituted a first attempt to have an in-depth dialogue with members of some of the Aboriginal community in Adelaide who were primarily female, in the mid-age bracket (41-50 years) and well educated. Firstly, it needs to be recognised and respected that Aboriginal participants volunteered to educate the broader population about lateral violence. As part of the overall study these participants have

assisted in endorsing the label of lateral violence (Clark & Augoustinos, 2015), and in situating lateral violence in a broader and holistic healing framework along with racism, trauma and wellbeing (Clark et al., 2016). Participants have now identified their coping skills, ideas and strategies which are a part of healing and as enablers to empower others. The message about lateral violence has been proliferating slowly within communities (Clark & Augoustinos, 2015). However a broad educational process has not yet been undertaken in many parts of Australia. The participants advocated for a broader educational campaign with resource materials, and educational and healing workshops to nurture the strengths within. Perhaps further research, exploration, replication is needed and further documented discussion on the topic of lateral violence could serve to encourage conversations, attract resources, and empower Aboriginal people to develop additional resources to contribute to the prevention of lateral violence within their families, workplace and community.

There are currently laws, policies and processes for complaints and restitution for bullying for both adults and children. However, protection from lateral violence as a whole concept is lacking. It appears that many organisations and government departments have policies, procedures and strategic frameworks but lack cultural frameworks. In the workplace, in particular, lateral violence prevention could be included within a cultural safety or respect framework. Franklin et al. (2010) recommended organisational realignment of current policies and processes with a cultural safety framework in order to ensure resilience, empowerment, and greater wellbeing for Aboriginal people. Such a framework would also rekindle Aboriginal values of cultural renewal, and sanction cultural competency training for non-Aboriginal staff. Thus, in the workplace, guidelines and processes aligned with cultural safety that include an understanding of and mechanisms for prevention of lateral violence promises to nurture unity,

resilience and wellbeing, which in turn can greatly add to an increased service to the community.

Statement of Authorship

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Evaluation of the preventing lateral violence workshop in Adelaide, South Australia: Phase 1 survey responses		
Publication Status	Published	Accepted for Publication	
	Submitted for Publication	Unpublished and Unsubmitted w ork written in manuscript style	
Publication Details			

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Yvonne Clark		
Contribution to the Paper	Performed the literature review, called for and collected data (interviews with participants), interpreted data, wrote manuscript and acted as corresponding author.		
Overall percentage (%)	85%		
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Nigher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis. I am the primary author of this paper.		
Signature	Date 2-0/11/2016		

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- iii. the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Professor Martha Augoustinos		
Contribution to the Paper	Supervised the development of the work, gave advice on data interpretation and manuscript preparation and submission		
Signature	Date 20 / 1/2016		

Name of Co-Author	Merridy Malin		
Contribution to the Paper	Helped to evaluate and edit the manuscript		
Signature	Date 21/10/16		

Please cut and paste additional co-author panels here as required.

Chapter 6: Evaluation of the preventing lateral violence workshop in Adelaide, South Australia: Phase 1 survey responses

Abstract

Healing and education workshops are important resources to the Indigenous community in Australia: not only to assist in self-awareness but as a source of renewal and to regenerate ways to tackle difficult issues and situations within such communities. The one-day *Preventing Lateral Violence* workshop has been delivered in Adelaide since 2007 and received positive feedback. This paper focuses on an evaluation of a sample of six workshops conducted with five Aboriginal service providers in 2014 using pre, post and three months post workshop measures to determine the impact on participants. Questionnaires were administered to workshop participants to measure changes in awareness, understanding and knowledge of lateral violence as well as strategy development to prevent lateral violence in the future.

Analysis of quantitative data utilizing non-parametric tests revealed that the workshops were successful as an intervention tool at the completion of the workshop, and even three months after the workshop. The results indicated that participants understood and accepted the terminology, recognized and linked their experiences of lateral violence, understood the impact on self and others, and had an awareness of and developed strategies to combat lateral violence. The qualitative response to open-ended questions suggested that strategies were in place even after three months such as challenging lateral violence and educating others about lateral violence. Further comments indicated that the workshops were of great benefit to the community. The implications of these findings are discussed in relation to the long- term benefits of these workshops in preventing lateral violence.

Introduction

Lateral violence and related concepts

Lateral violence is believed to exist within many countries and communities throughout the world. The term is especially linked to oppressed and powerless groups who covertly and overtly direct their dissatisfaction internally, towards themselves and others within the same community (NCSA, 2008). For example, the nursing industry as an oppressed profession within the medical and health care systems, has used the concept of lateral or horizontal violence for at least the past three decades to describe the infighting behaviours of nurses (Roberts et al., 2009). Indigenous people have recently applied the term to describe infighting within their communities. This is particularly evident in communities in Canada (Bombay, 2014; Derrick, 2006; NWAC, 2015) and Australia (Gorringe et al., 2009; Langton, 2008; Wingard, 2010).

Lateral violence as a concept was influenced by early theorists such as Franz Fanon (1963, 1967) and Paulo Freire (1970) who emphasised infighting as one of the oppressive consequences of colonialism on Indigenous peoples in various countries. Within the Australian story of colonialism, various racist policies and practices disrupted and fragmented Aboriginal peoples and their cultures. Colonialism acted to divide, deny, control and oppress Aboriginal people and as a consequence caused considerable trauma (Atkinson et al., 2010). Racism, oppression and the effects of intergenerational trauma continues to have consequences for Aboriginal people to this day (AHRC, 2011b; Gorringe et al., 2009). A growing body of evidence has linked various forms of racism in Australia with outcomes of health, wellbeing and mental health problems within the Aboriginal community (Awofeso, 2011; Paradies,

2006b; Paradies & Cunningham, 2012). Wellbeing and mental health outcomes have also been extensively linked to trauma and violence for Aboriginal communities (Atkinson et al., 2010; Krieg, 2009; Ratnavale, 2007).

Behaviours associated with lateral violence within colonised Indigenous communities include gossip, jealousy, shaming others, verbal and physical attacks, sabotage, bullying (BearPaw Media Productions, 2006; Derrick, 2006; Equay-Wuk, 2012; NWAC, 2015), and the stripping away of each other's identity (Clark et al., 2016). Lateral violence can be triggered by disparities within communities. Such differences include: level of access and distribution of money and resources; one's social status and education within communities; cultural affiliations; and one's blood quantum (aligned with physical characteristics such as skin, eye and hair colour). The effects of lateral violence include feelings of shame, a blaming mentality and a lack of trust in others within communities, to name just a few (Derrick, 2006). These can also be associated with physiological signs such as sleep disorders, weight loss or gain, and depression (NWAC, 2015). Preliminary findings also suggest that experiences of lateral violence, directly and indirectly, affect wellbeing and appear to relate to general violence, racism and trauma (Clark et al., 2016) within the local Aboriginal population in Adelaide.

The health, welfare and distress levels of Indigenous people are critical in comparison to non-Indigenous people in Australia (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare [AIHW], 2015). For example, Indigenous adults are almost three (2.7) times more likely to report high to very high levels of psychological stress than non-Indigenous people. This continued stress can lead to conditions such as anxiety and depression which can impair quality of life. The most commonly reported stressors by Indigenous adults include: death of a family member (37%); serious illness (23%); unemployment (23%); mental illness (16%) and alcohol related problems

(14%) (AIHW, 2015). Furthermore, about a quarter (26%) reported having access to mental health services for a mental health condition for the period 2012–2013 (AIHW, 2015). Wellbeing and mental health is also heavily influenced by social health determinants which include socio-economic (i.e. education, employment), behavioural (i.e. smoking, alcohol consumption, diet), environmental (i.e. housing, overcrowding) (AIHW, 2015; Zubrick et al., 2014) and arguably political factors (e.g. funding, access to resources) (Gee, Dudgeon, Schultz, Hart & Kelly, 2014).

With the effects from all these potential influences on Aboriginal people's lives, the need for healing, restitution, education and training becomes apparent within Aboriginal communities. For Aboriginal people, healing has been described as a process of physical, cultural, psychological and/or spiritual renewal with a holistic approach to treating wounds (Mackean, 2009). Many initiatives for wellbeing workshops have been specifically developed for Aboriginal people throughout Australia, by and for Indigenous people. Some initiatives are targeted toward particular groups such as men, women, stolen generations, youth and or the general community, whilst other initiatives are targeted toward particular problems such as family violence, trauma, drugs and alcohol addiction and lateral violence. Some examples of healing and educational initiatives include: the Seven Phases to Healing in South Australia which aims to heal loss and grief, anger, rage and general violence (Wanganeen, 2014); the We-Al-Li program (Atkinson et al., 2010) to heal trauma; the Red Dust healing initiative (Powell et al., 2014), and the *Mibbinbah Spirit* healing program (Bulman & Hayes, 2011) to assist Aboriginal men with violence. Women's healing initiatives include the Aboriginal family violence programs that aim to safeguard, empower and to heal such as the Nunga Mi:Minar service in SA (Snell & Small, 2009). Workshops that specifically focus on the prevention of lateral violence as a specific issue in Australia include the Koorreen enterprises (2015) in

Victoria that specialise in awareness and train-the-trainer workshops that counteract lateral violence called *lateral healing* and which advocates cultural safety. In Adelaide, the *Preventing Lateral Violence* workshops (PLV) (Clark et al., 2014) are also delivered, and constitute the specific focus of the present evaluation which is expanded upon below.

Development of the Preventing Lateral Violence workshops in SA

The first author developed an interest in the topic of lateral violence from the Healing Our Spirit Worldwide (HOSW) conference in Alberta, Canada in 2006 where discussions about lateral violence were led by many Canadian Indigenous leaders. Resources from the HOSW conference were shared with Aboriginal work colleagues in South Australia via an information forum in 2007. This progressed to the development of one- and two-day workshops on lateral violence which have been refined and continue to be conducted on an ad hoc basis. Prior to this evaluation study, 15 workshops and or information sessions had been delivered in Adelaide catering for approximately 300, primarily Aboriginal participants since 2007. The 15 workshops were delivered across three government organisations, one non-government organisation (NGO) and one Aboriginal community controlled health organisation. One of the government organisations has made it compulsory for all staff working in Aboriginal services (both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal staff) to undertake the one-day PLV workshop as ongoing training. Delivery of the workshops has always been conducted by two Aboriginal facilitators on each occasion.¹⁸

In the early stages, the SA workshops were developed in collaboration with the Cooperative Research Centre for Aboriginal Health (CRCAH) (now called the Lowitja Institute¹⁹). As part

¹⁹ Collaborations were with the then CEO Mick Gooda. Their current website is http://www.lowitja.org.au

¹⁸ The current facilitators are Aboriginal trainers including Karen Glover, Yvonne Clark and Stan Butler.

of a roundtable national process, a pilot two-day workshop was developed and delivered in South Australia in 2009. Although the national collaborations have now ceased, the current PLV workshops in SA include material developed during this collaboration with the Lowitja Institute. The material and format of the current PLV workshops include PowerPoint and video presentations, handouts, small and large group exercises, including a simulation (on history, assumptions, values and strategies), reflections and debriefing.

The one-day educational and awareness PLV workshop is the most requested of its type in SA and is currently promoted with the broad aim for attendees being to understand lateral violence in various settings (i.e. family, community and workplace); to understand where lateral violence comes from, the forms it takes, the effects on the community; and Aboriginal diversity of experiences. Further aims include: to enhance connections between people, and to work towards strategies to deal with and prevent lateral violence. The one-day PLV workshop doesn't promote or include active healing processes, yet participants have reported healing effects and empowerment as a result of the workshops.

Evaluations of interventions for lateral violence

At present there appears to be no published evaluations of lateral violence interventions pertaining to Indigenous people. However, evaluations of lateral violence workshops have been conducted in the nursing field in the United States. For example, Dahlby and Henrick (2014) conducted pre- and post-test evaluation utilising a modified version of the lateral violence in nursing survey (LVNS) (developed by Stanley, et al., 2007b). There were 29 pre- and 25 post-test responses with findings indicating that the workshops resulted in a decrease in the frequency of lateral violence, a better understanding of the causes and effects of lateral violence, and the development of healthier relationships within participating work units.

Dahlby and Henrick (2014) suggest that these findings support previous evaluation literature in the nursing field, which reveals that awareness raising and teaching methods to combat lateral violence can be effective in decreasing the frequency and intensity of lateral violence behaviours.

The challenge of evaluating Aboriginal educational/awareness programs and workshops in Australia

Evaluation research for healing and education interventions targeted toward Aboriginal people is limited and not well-documented in Australia; these include interventions for social and emotional wellbeing (Healing Foundation, 2012) and government policy which often drives such programs (Malezer, 2012). Many evaluations are also being conducted with empirical frameworks which may not be the best option in Aboriginal contexts. Rather collaborative, participatory and transformative evaluations appear to be best suited to Aboriginal communities (Katz, Newton, Bates & Raven, 2016) in which self-determination lies at the core (Malezer, 2012). A further challenge is that non-Indigenous academics with an *outsiders*' evaluation framework can limit the *insider* experience and knowledge (Price et al., 2012).

To further understand this issue, Day and Francisco (2013) undertook a systematic review of promising interventions that had the potential to improve social and emotional wellbeing in Australia, from published research on social and emotional wellbeing for Indigenous people. They indicated that of a total of 8,000 papers, only a small number of evaluations had been published that involved Indigenous participants and/or communities. The selected social and emotional wellbeing evaluations were identified for screening for quality by the Maryland Scientific Methods Scale – a ranking system for research designs according to strength of internal validity. Scores on this scale generally reflect the level of confidence that can be

placed in the conclusions about cause and effect, or certainty that any observed change is actually caused by a particular program or service. The evaluations with primarily quantitative methods scored a satisfactory rating on scientific rigour.

Those programs that were evaluated using primarily qualitative methods were viewed low to very low on scientific rigour. Day and Francisco (2013) concluded that it is not currently possible to determine what might be considered evidence based practice for these interventions. Furthermore they acknowledge that there may be legitimate concerns about defining evidence in terms of criteria that are linked directly to quantitative evaluation methodologies as they may not capture the holistic nature of Indigenous healing. A dilemma is that if evaluations are not conducted in a particular way, funding may be limited for the intervention, and this does not allow for real change to happen within communities (Healing Foundation 2012).

The current evaluation study

Previous feedback for the PLV workshops in South Australia, held between 2007 and 2014, aimed to explore levels of satisfaction with various aspects of the workshop. The findings from 212 feedback questionnaires indicated that the majority of participants were satisfied with the training. They grasped the complexities of lateral violence, recognised their victim and/or a perpetrator status, recognised the negative impact lateral violence has on the community and requested interventions to prevent it. The qualitative feedback to open-ended questions indicated that the workshops were relevant to the community and needed to extend further to more people and places. Overall, the feedback refined the workshops and provided confidence to continue the delivery of these workshops and indeed inspired the current research.

Despite the feedback, a formal evaluation process had not been undertaken to determine the overall effectiveness of the workshop to ensure its quality and long-term effectiveness.

Literature on both lateral violence and program evaluation within the Indigenous context is limited, particularly from an Australian Aboriginal perspective. Thus it is timely to conduct a methodologically sound evaluation of the PLV workshops that assists in improving a community resource, as one that not only meets the needs of the funders, but also meets the needs of the community.

Overall the aim of the current evaluation is to formally measure the effectiveness of the PLV workshops. This is to ensure that the Aboriginal community in Adelaide has access to timely, relevant, engaging and culturally safe workshops. The evaluation will determine if there has been a change in awareness, attitudes, knowledge of participants, and whether lateral violence prevention strategies are considered and actioned within various family, community and employment contexts. Such information is vital for improvements to the workshops. A final and general aim is to expand the knowledge in the current literature on lateral violence and evaluations on Aboriginal programs in the Australian context.

Thus it is hypothesised that the workshops will provide participants in this study with an increase in knowledge, understanding and awareness of lateral violence which is maintained over time. It is also anticipated that the workshops will resonate with the experiences of participants, and empower them to build and develop strategies to curb lateral violence in their own everyday lives.

Methodology

Indigenous evaluation approach

Aboriginal evaluation methodology is a relatively new construct that closely resembles or is aligned with ethical guidelines for research within Indigenous communities (Price et al., 2012). As most evaluations of Aboriginal programs and workshops are primarily conducted by non-Indigenous evaluators, some guidelines include consideration of the four Rs when working within Aboriginal communities. These are: *Respect* for diversity, culture and ways of knowing and being; *Relevance* to inform social policy and good practice; *Responsibility* to ensure that there is a sensitive and well-informed cultural process; and *Reciprocity* for appropriate communication with Aboriginal people and dissemination of information at all steps of the evaluation process, beyond reporting requirements (Hurworth & Harvey, 2012; Markiewicz, 2012). Wilson (2008) recommends another R, *Relational* which indicates that all things are interconnected which include the evaluator, the participants, the environment and the cosmos.

Price et al. (2012) indicate that Aboriginal community ownership and empowerment for evaluations should be ideally done by Indigenous people, as they are the ones who are closely aligned to the information and context and have the communities' interest at heart. Yet in the absence of this ideal, a non-Aboriginal evaluator should engage an Aboriginal mediator to provide community knowledge, insight, trust and communication with the community (Price et al., 2012). Without these considerations such research and evaluation will continue to be seen as the "Other" with outsider interpretations through a different lens or perspective (Smith, 1999, p 2).

Indigenous research approach

An Indigenist paradigm and methodology combined with a mixed methods approach incorporating both quantitative and qualitative methods of evaluation are utilised in the current evaluation to achieve a more holistic approach. This is modelled on: acknowledging and embracing Indigenous people's ontology (i.e. assumptions about the nature of reality); epistemologies (i.e. the ways of knowing reality); axiology (i.e. the nature of values); and diversity (i.e. of language groups and of differences in the way they see the world, organize themselves in it, the questions they ask and the solutions they seek as Indigenous people) (Smith, 1999, 2012). Martin (2009) further indicates that an Indigenous ontology as a framework for the research is of central importance, otherwise research conducted by Indigenous people will simply be reproducing dominant western forms of knowledge. This emphasises the importance of Indigenous processes, knowledge and voices to drive the research, such as the voices of Aboriginal participants, researchers and workshop facilitators. Therefore along with applying the five R's, Aboriginal voices will be heard, privileged and reflected upon. Interpretation will predominately be an insider or subjective approach rather than an outsider or Other approach. This will be complemented by more 'objective' data from the survey results.

Procedure and recruitment

Prior to commencement of this study ethical approval was obtained from both the South

Australian Aboriginal Health Research Ethics Committee (AHREC) in December 2012 and

from the University of Adelaide Human Research Ethics Committee in May 2013.

Following this, six workshops on PLV within the Aboriginal community were delivered from

March to June 2014 to five separate organisations. The primary researcher contacted the

CEO/Aboriginal Manager/Senior person of nine Aboriginal Organisations or services via email

or letter in late 2013 and early 2014 about the possibility of delivering a PLV workshop for staff within their organisation. The information provided to the organisations included information about the lateral violence workshops, the research evaluation project and its voluntary nature, and any financial costing (see Appendices 4 and 5). If no initial response from the organisations was received a follow-up telephone call or email was sent.

Of the nine organisations initially contacted, five accepted the invitation. One of the accepting organisations requested the delivery of two workshops to ensure that most staff could receive the training. Of the five accepting organisations, two were Aboriginal community controlled organisations, two were Aboriginal service delivery sections within the state government and one was a Non-Government Organisation (NGO). Six workshops were delivered in Adelaide from March 2014 to June 2014 with one delivered in a semi-rural location.

It was anticipated there would be between 15-25 participants per workshop. Recruitment of the participants was an in-house organisational process. Some organisations recruited Aboriginal staff only, whilst others recruited both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal staff from various levels, who worked within Aboriginal services. For example, one of the services recruited both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal staff in leadership roles. Another organisation had minimal Aboriginal staff for training and allowed the researcher to invite other Aboriginal community members to participate in their workshop to ensure adequate numbers. For this an invitation was sent by the researcher to Aboriginal people in Adelaide who had previously registered an interest in attending a PLV workshop.

For data collection from the six separate PLV workshops participants were asked to complete the evaluation questionnaire three times. This was once immediately before commencing the program, the *pre-evaluation* at the beginning of the day (time 1); once immediately after completing the workshop *post evaluation* at the end of the day (time 2) and once three months after the workshop, *3 months post evaluation* (time 3). The latter questionnaire was mailed by post or could be completed online via Survey Monkey, which was made available to participants via email link.

To assist with the administration of the data, workshops and to provide ethical distance between the primary researcher (who was also one of the facilitators) and the evaluation method, a Research Assistant (RA) was employed. The RA (an Aboriginal senior psychology female student) was the primary source of communication for the evaluation. The RA informed participants of the aims, background, method and voluntary status of the research, and distributed and collected pre- and post-workshop questionnaires. She also informed the participants of the three months post-workshop evaluation questionnaire. The RA assisted with any participant enquiries and also informed the participants of the follow-up voluntary interview for the study, which would occur after a three to four month interval and collected names of those interested in participating.

Once all the data were collected, the RA de-identified the questionnaires by placing the information into tables within their prospective organisational groups. The material was also matched (pre to post to three months post) via the participants month and year of birth and other demographic information where possible. The data were entered into SPSS version 22 by the researcher. Computation and further analysis was then conducted using the SPSS statistical package.

Analysis and questionnaires

Demographic information on gender, Indigenous status, age and educational background was recorded as part of the research. A quasi-experimental design with pre, post and second post-test with a three month interval was conducted which is a popular design for evaluation research of a community intervention (Biglan, Ary & Wagenaar, 2000). Questionnaires were utilised for this process.

As there were no standardized questionnaires or surveys about lateral violence in Indigenous communities, the previously used feedback survey for the lateral violence workshops in Adelaide was improved and adapted for use in the current evaluation. In the current evaluation survey a 5-point Likert scale measured the extent to which participants agreed or disagreed with statements about lateral violence. The survey modelled a typical design that explores behaviours, beliefs, attitudes, knowledge and attributes (Schofield & Knauss, 2010) and where lateral violence could be measured over three time periods (i.e. pre, post and three months post) (see Appendices 6 to 8).

There were many differences across the three surveys in terms of the types of questions and length of the surveys (see Appendices 6, 7 and 8). For example, in the pre workshop questionnaire there were 26 quantitative questions in total. The first eight questions were unique to the pre-workshop questionnaire requiring information about participant's motivation and expectations of the workshop. In this survey no qualitative questions were asked. The post workshop questionnaire included 47 questions in total. The unique survey questions related to

participant satisfaction about the facilitators, the venue, delivery methods and general satisfaction which were of interest to the facilitators and participating organisations. The main qualitative question asked about hopes for change as a result of the training.

The three months post workshop questionnaire asked 34 quantitative questions. The unique questions asked about the delivery of workshop as well as participant satisfaction. The qualitative questions asked participants to reflect on the main behaviours of lateral violence, what changes they have made post workshop and ideas for further training.

There were 15 core quantitative questions or items in the "experiences, impacts and attributes" that were consistent across the three surveys and time frames. These were used in the final analysis to determine changes over time. An exploratory factor analysis was conducted but this method was not able to identify factors into relatable categories. Thus these 15 individual items were instead arranged into four meaningful and functional categories by the researchers that related to lateral violence. These included sections for terminology, experience, impact, and strategies. Questions and items posed within the terminology section aimed to determine the usefulness and appropriateness of the lateral violence term, as it is relatively new and has been applied to Aboriginal people within the Australian context with relatively little consultation (see Clark & Augoustinos, 2015). For example, "lateral violence is a useful term in understanding violence in the Aboriginal community". In the experience section the questions focused on whether participants' experiences resonated with the terminology and their own contexts. For example, "I realised that I have been a victim of lateral violence at least once". The *impact* questions aimed to understand participants' knowledge and awareness of the effects of lateral violence on individuals, the community and the workplace. For example, "I understand the impact of lateral violence on the community". The strategies section enquired

about the awareness and knowledge of strategies and whether there was further strategy development or action as a result of the workshop. For example, "I am aware of a range of strategies to address lateral violence".

The open-ended questions in the post and three months post surveys were also included in order to understand participant's views about lateral violence, the workshops and workshop content in more detail. Open-ended responses were analysed using a thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2013) and presented following the quantitative survey results.

Results

Survey results (quantitative)

Sample

Overall, 72 people participated in the six workshops. Of these, 59 participants completed preworkshop questionnaires, 69 completed post workshop questionnaires and 25 completed three months post workshop questionnaires. There were 58 participants who completed both the preand post-evaluation questionnaires (response rate 81%). Of these, 23 completed the three months post workshop evaluation (response rate 32%). Table 6.1 indicates that the majority of the research participants were females (76%). Although there was a spread of people across different age categories, almost half of the sample (47%) was between the ages of 31-45 years. Almost two thirds of the participants were Aboriginal (71%), just over half (55%) had attended university, and 25% had at least attended secondary school.

Table 6.1. Total sample demographics (n= 72)

Characteristic	N (%)	
Gender Male Female	17 (23.6%) 55 (76.4%)	
Age 18-30 years 31-45 years 51-65 years	13 (18.1%) 34 (47.2%) 25 (34.7%)	
Education Primary school Secondary school	01 (1.41%) 18 (25.3%)	LOW 26%
TAFE University Other	07 (9.9%) 39 (55.0%) 06 (8.4%)	HIGH 73%
Ethnicity Aboriginal Non- Indigenous	51 (70.8%) 21 (29.2%)	

Pre, post and three months post comparisons according to participant demographics

Before commencing the primary analysis, participants' responses were examined by differences in age, gender, Indigenous status and education. The 15 items were reduced to a single average score within each meaningful category (Terminology, Experience, Impact and Strategies) and this single score was then analysed with the demographic information over the three different time periods. The Kruskal-Wallis T-test comparison of means of the participants is detailed in Table 6.2.

Table 6.2. Comparison of means of pre, post and three month post evaluation according to the demographics for PLV (n=72)

	Pre evaluation Post evaluation		tion	n 3 month evaluatio			
		M (SEM)	P	M (SEM)	P	M (SEM)	P
Terminology							
Age	18-30	3.31 ± 0.24		3.75 ± 0.16		4.06 ± 0.44	
	31-50	3.14 ± 0.10	0.522	3.80 ± 0.14	0.851	3.64 ± 0.24	0.196
	51-65	3.10 ± 0.13		3.76 ± 0.14		3.37 ± 0.15	
Gender	Male	3.07 ± 0.11	0.504	3.82 ± 0.17	0.758	3.88 ± 0.31	0.244
	Female	3.18 ± 0.09		3.76 ± 0.10		3.48 ± 0.15	
Ethnic	Aboriginal	3.19 ± 0.10	0.255	3.85 ± 0.10	0.629	3.74 ± 0.18	0.555
Group	Non-	3.06 ± 0.11	0.233	3.59 ± 0.15	0.029	3.25 ± 0.13	0.555
	Aboriginal						
Educ'n	High	3.18 ± 0.15	0.862	3.67 ± 0.17	0.433	3.75 ± 0.27	0.425
	Low	3.16 ± 0.08		3.82 ± 0.10		3.51 ± 0.16	
			Exper	ience			
Age	18-30	2.85 ± 0.29		4.11 ± 0.29		4.20 ± 0.12	
	31-50	3.43 ± 0.11	0.120	4.17 ± 0.12	0.230	4.11 ± 0.18	0.243
	51-65	$3.21 {\pm}~0.21$		3.92 ± 0.12		3.76 ± 0.17	
Gender	Male	3.40 ± 0.19	0.693	4.18 ± 0.19	0.433	4.03 ± 0.32	0.565
	Female	3.23 ± 0.12		4.03 ± 0.10		3.91 ± 0.12	
Ethnic	Aboriginal	3.46 ± 0.13	*	4.19 ± 0.11	**	4.14 ± 0.13	*
Group	Non-	2.91 ± 0.11	0.013	3.75 ± 0.10	0.004	3.58 ± 0.17	0.020
	Aboriginal						
Educ'n	High	3.26 ± 0.21	0.891	3.93 ± 0.21	0.580	3.87 ± 0.22	0.773
	Low	3.28 ± 0.11		4.10 ± 0.13		3.96 ± 0.13	
Impact							
Age	18-30	3.38 ± 0.42		4.62 ± 0.17		$4.33 {\pm}~0.33$	
	31-50	3.57 ± 0.18	0.557	4.52 ± 0.12	0.847	4.52 ± 0.17	0.493
	51-65	3.77 ± 0.24		4.53 ± 0.12		4.26 ± 0.12	
Gender	Male	3.98 ± 0.26	0.068	4.63 ± 0.12	0.693	4.72 ± 0.18	*
	Female	3.46 ± 0.15		4.52 ± 0.09		4.25 ± 0.10	0.019
Ethnic	Aboriginal	3.93 ± 0.16	**	4.65 ± 0.08	**	4.54 ± 0.13	*
Group	Non-	2.96 ± 0.18	0.000	4.26 ± 0.14	0.004	4.04 ± 0.04	0.016
	Aboriginal						
Educ'n	High	3.88 ± 0.24	0.278	4.73 ± 0.10	0.249	4.67 ± 0.21	0.078
	Low	3.52 ± 0.16		4.51 ± 0.09		4.26 ± 0.10	
Strategies							
Age	18-30	3.29 ± 0.34		4.26 ± 0.23		4.22 ± 0.48	
	31-50	3.30 ± 0.16	0.999	$4.45 {\pm}~0.11$	0.881	4.30 ± 0.23	0.446
	51-65	3.33 ± 0.24		$4.47 {\pm}~0.07$		3.94 ± 0.18	
Gender	Male	3.71 ± 0.27	0.089	4.63 ± 0.12	0.110	4.61 ± 0.26	*
	Female	3.16 ± 0.13		4.35 ± 0.08		3.94 ± 0.14	0.024

Ethnic	Aboriginal	3.53 ± 0.16	0.090	4.46 ± 0.09 4.32 ± 0.08	0.123	4.31 ± 0.16	*
Group	Non-	2.86 ± 0.13	0.090	4.32 ± 0.08	0.123	3.7 ± 20.19	0.037
	Aboriginal						
Educ'n	High	3.43 ± 0.31	0.627	4.47 ± 0.19	0.379	4.39 ± 0.32	0.198
	Low	3.27 ± 0.13		4.43 ± 0.07		4.01 ± 0.15	

Kruskal-Wallis test, 0.05 Confidence interval, **P<.01, *P<.05

According to the results no significant age or education difference appeared over the three periods. There were some gender differences with males having a greater understanding of the impact of lateral violence and a greater awareness and development of prevention strategies for lateral violence after three months. The most significant differences were between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal participants over the three periods and across the categories (experiences, impact of lateral violence, and awareness and development of strategies). This means that Aboriginal participants had more direct experiences of lateral violence, greater understanding of its impact, and more awareness of and development of prevention strategies after three months compared to non-Aboriginal participants in the workshops.

Pre and post questionnaire results

Fifty-eight participants answered both the pre and post questionnaires. A non-parametric measure, the Friedman test for paired samples, was used to compare the means of pre and post evaluations (time 1 and 2). The negatively keyed items (items 2, 3, 4, 6 &7) were reversed scored. The results are shown in Table 6.3.

Table 6.3. Comparison of means for pre and post evaluation of PLV workshops (n=58)

	Questions	Pre evaluation	Post evaluation	P value
		M_(SEM)*	M (SEM)*	
1		erminology	4.00 0.10	****
1	Lateral violence is a useful term in	3.63 <u>+</u> 0.12	4.23 <u>+</u> 0.12	**0.000
	understanding violence in the			
2	Aboriginal community	2.06+0.12	2.76+0.17	**0 000
2	Lateral violence does not adequately	2.96 <u>+</u> 0.12	3.76 <u>+</u> 0.17	**0.000
	describe violence experienced by Aboriginal people			
3	Lateral violence is a confusing term	2.98 <u>+</u> 0.11	3.23 <u>+</u> 0.17	*0.017
4	There are better ways of	3.11 <u>+</u> 0.11	2.77 <u>+</u> 0.17	0.071
4	understanding Aboriginal violence	3.11 <u>+</u> 0.11	2.77 <u>+</u> 0.17	0.071
	than the concept of lateral violence			
	-	Experience		
5	Lateral violence describes my	3.23±0.14	3.79 <u>+</u> 0.17	**0.000
J	experiences of violence as an	3.23 <u>+</u> 0.11	5.77 <u>-</u> 0.17	0.000
	Aboriginal person/ non-Aboriginal			
	person			
6	I have not seen lateral violence when	3.45 <u>+</u> 0.15	4.15+0.14	0.174
	it occurs in the workplace	_	_	
7	I have not seen lateral violence when	3.24 <u>+</u> 0.16	4.00 <u>+</u> 0.17	**0.005
	it occurs in the community			
8	I realize that I have been a victim of	3.67 <u>+</u> 0.18	4.29 <u>+</u> 0.14	**0.001
	lateral violence at least once (it			
	happened to me)			
9	I realize that I have been a perpetrator	2.87 <u>+</u> 0.16	3.71 <u>+</u> 0.18	**0.000
	of lateral violence at least once (I have			
	committed lateral violence)			
		Impact		
10	I understand the impact of lateral	3.64 <u>+</u> 0.14	4.49 <u>+</u> 0.09	**0.005
	violence on individuals			
11	I understand the impact of lateral	3.67 <u>+</u> 0.14	4.54 <u>+</u> 0.08	*0.043
10	violence in the workplace	2.62.016	4.52 0.00	*0.01 <i>5</i>
12	I understand the impact of lateral	3.63 <u>+</u> 0.16	4.53 <u>+</u> 0.08	*0.015
	violence in the community	C44		
12		Strategies 4.00+0.16	4.61+0.10	**0.001
13	I recognize the importance of preventing lateral violence from re-	4.00 <u>+</u> 0.10	4.61 <u>+</u> 0.10	0.001
	occurring in various contexts			
14	I am aware of a range of strategies to	2.88 <u>+</u> 0.16	4.32 <u>+</u> 0.09	**0.009
17	address lateral violence	2.00 <u>+</u> 0.10	7.32 <u>1</u> 0.07	0.009
15	I currently have some skills and	3.06 <u>+</u> 0.17	4.31 <u>+</u> 0.09	**0.003
10	strategies to address lateral violence	2.00 <u>.</u> 0.17	<u></u> 0.07	0.005
Frie	dman test, 0.05 Confidence interval,	**P<.01, *P<.02	<u> </u>	

Friedman test, 0.05 Confidence interval, **P<.01, *P<.05

The results indicate that in general there were significant changes in awareness, knowledge and understanding of lateral violence for participants by the end of the workshop. This demonstrates that participants in general resonated with the terminology. However question 4 is an anomaly. This may be because the question is awkwardly worded and unclear as to whether it's a positive or negative question. Question 6 was also an anomaly and surprising, given that the workplace is often a place where lateral violence occurs (see chapters 3 and 7). Responses to questions 7 to 9 suggest community insight and or experiences of lateral violence and these may have been as a victim and/or perpetrator of lateral violence. At the end of the workshop participants had a better appreciation of the impact and effect that lateral violence has on individuals, the workplace and the community. Lastly, participants recognised the importance of prevention of lateral violence, and were now aware of and developed strategies to address lateral violence after the workshops.

The results generally supported the hypothesis of an increase in awareness, knowledge and understanding of lateral violence at the end of the workshop, as there was a significant increase in agreement on most items at the completion of the workshop.

Pre, post and three months post comparisons

Twenty-three participants were matched on all three questionnaires for times 1, 2 and 3. A non-parametric test, the Friedman ANOVA was applied to compare the three time frames as per Table 6.4. The negatively keyed items were (2, 3, 4, 6 and 7).

The results when comparing the means of time 1 directly with time 3 indicates an overall increase. Such an increase is assumed to be as a direct result of participation in the lateral violence workshop. When comparing the means of the three time frames, the pattern of change indicate that awareness, knowledge and understanding have been maintained after three months. It appears that in the long term, participants resonate with the terminology, can relate to the experiences, and continue to understand the impact on the individuals, the workplace and the Aboriginal community. There is also recognition of prevention of lateral violence as well as the development of further skills to prevent lateral violence. This supports the general hypothesis that much of the information, awareness and skills development will either continue to increase over time and/or be maintained by participants.

The previous inconsistency identified in question 6 no longer appears relevant. Perhaps over time recognition of lateral violence in the workplace became evident. The major anomaly in the results of Table 6.4 relates to question 5. This warranted further investigation of the raw data which revealed a typing error in the replication of the three months post evaluation on Survey Monkey. The question only asked experiences of violence as an Aboriginal person. This appeared to exclude and skew the answers from non-Aboriginal participants who skipped the question or answered neutrally.

Table 6.4. Comparisons of means for pre, post and 3 month post evaluation of PLV workshops (n=23)

	Questions	Pre eval'n M (SEM)	Post eval'n M (SEM)	3 month post eval'n M (SEM)	P Value
	Termi	nology			
1	Lateral violence is a useful term in understanding violence in the Aboriginal community	3.71±0.21	4.38 <u>+</u> 0.18	4.00 <u>+</u> 0.26	**0.003
2	Lateral violence does not adequately describe violence experienced by Aboriginal people	3.00+0.22	3.79+0.30	3.79+0.25	**0.008
3	Lateral violence is a confusing term	3.26+0.24	3.79+0.24	3.47+0.23	0.070
4	There are better ways of understanding Aboriginal violence than the concept of lateral violence	2.79 <u>+</u> 0.18	3.21 <u>+</u> 0.33	3.11 <u>+</u> 0.20	0.088
	Expe	rience			
5	Lateral violence describes my experiences of violence as an Aboriginal /non-Aboriginal person	3.58 <u>+</u> 0.21	3.68 <u>+</u> 0.32	3.74 <u>+</u> 0.26	0.704
6	I have not seen lateral violence when it occurs in the workplace	3.50+0.24	4.45+0.17	4.00+0.18	**0.002
7	I have not seen lateral violence when it occurs in the community	3.19+0.27	4.05+0.29	3.71+0.22	**0.005
8	I realize that I have been a victim of lateral violence at least once	3.71+0.28	4.29+0.25	4.14+0.20	**0.007
9	I realize that I have been a perpetrator of lateral violence at least once	2.86+0.27	3.67+0.29	3.95+0.22	**0.003
	Imp	pact			
10	I understand the impact of lateral violence on individuals	3.76+0.23	4.62+0.11	4.38+0.11	**0.000
11	I understand the impact of lateral violence in the workplace	3.81+0.22	4.57+0.11	4.43+0.11	**0.000
12	I understand the impact of lateral violence in the community	3.81+0.25	4.62+0.11	3.38+0.11	**0.002
	Strat	tegies			
13	I recognize the importance of preventing lateral violence from re-occurring in various contexts	4.19+0.22	4.90+0.07	4.57+0.13	**0.002
14	I am aware/now aware of a range of strategies to address lateral violence	2.95+0.28	4.48+0.11	4.05+0.18	**0.000
15	I currently have/have developed (after the workshop) some skills and strategies to address lateral violence	3.33+0.28	4.57+0.11	3.86+0.20	**0.000

Friedman **P<.01, *P<.05

.

Post and three months post questionnaire results

There were twenty-three participants who answered both the post evaluation and the three month evaluation. In order to further explore and compare the changes between the times the Friedman test (non-parametric) was used to compare the post evaluation (time 2) with the three months post evaluation (time 3) survey results. As with Table 6.4 questions 2, 3, 4, 6 & 7 were reverse scored and question 5 has been omitted as the results were unreliable. The results of the analysis can be seen in Table 6.5.

The results suggest no significant differences in the means between post workshop and the three-month follow-up on all the questionnaire items relating to terminology and experience of lateral violence. Thus the gains in knowledge and understanding of lateral violence in these areas were maintained in the longer term (three months post workshop). However, there were significant decreases in the means for items pertaining to the impact of lateral violence, and in the awareness and development of preventative strategies. Despite this drop, the means were still well above those obtained at pre-workshop levels, demonstrating that overall, change in knowledge and awareness in these areas was maintained.

Table 6.5. Comparison of means for post and three months post evaluation of PLV workshops (n=23)

	Questions	Post evaluation M_(SEM)*	3 months post evaluation M (SEM)*	P value
	Terminology			
1	Lateral violence is a useful term in understanding	4.42 <u>+</u> 0.16	4.04 <u>+</u> 0.24	0.058
	violence in the Aboriginal community			
2	Lateral violence does not adequately describe	3.96 <u>+</u> 0.26	3.78 <u>+</u> 0.22	0.285
	violence experienced by Aboriginal people			
3	Lateral violence is a confusing term	3.36 <u>+</u> 0.24	3.29 <u>+</u> 0.23	0.166
4	There are better ways of understanding Aboriginal	3.28 <u>+</u> 0.27	3.24 <u>+</u> 0.19	0.782
	violence than the concept of lateral violence			
	Experience			
5	Lateral violence describes my experiences of			
	violence as an Aboriginal person/ non-Aboriginal			
	person			
6	I have not seen lateral violence when it occurs in	4.29 <u>+</u> 0.20	3.92 <u>+</u> 0.20	0.059
	the workplace			
7	I have not seen lateral violence when it occurs in	4.08 <u>+</u> 0.25	3.79 <u>+</u> 0.20	0.109
	the community			
8	I realize that I have been a victim of lateral violence	4.38 <u>+</u> 0.22	4.25 <u>+</u> 0.19	0.096
	at least once (it happened to me)			
9	I realize that I have been a perpetrator of lateral	3.83 <u>+</u> 0.27	4.08 <u>+</u> 0.21	0.796
	violence at least once (I have committed lateral			
	violence)			
	Impact			
10	I understand the impact of lateral violence on individuals	4.63 <u>+</u> 0.10	4.33 <u>+</u> 0.10	**0.008
11	I understand the impact of lateral violence in the	4.63 <u>+</u> 0.10	4.42+0.10	0.059
	workplace	_	_	
12	I understand the impact of lateral violence in the	4.67 <u>+</u> 0.10	4.38 <u>+</u> 0.10	**0.008
	community			
	Strategies			
13	I recognize the importance of preventing lateral	4.92 <u>+</u> 0.06	4.58 <u>+</u> 0.12	**0.005
	violence from re-occurring in various contexts			
14	I am aware/now aware of a range of strategies to	4.46 <u>+</u> 0.11	4.04 <u>+</u> 0.16	**0.003
	address lateral violence			
15	I currently have/have developed (after the	4.55 <u>+</u> 0.11	3.82 <u>+</u> 0.19	**0.000
	workshop) some skills and strategies to address			
	lateral violence			

Friedman 0.05 confidence interval, **P<.01, *P<.05

Qualitative information from the questionnaires (post and three months post)

Post questionnaires – responses and themes

There were 69 respondents who provided open-ended responses in the post-workshop questionnaires across the six workshops.

(1): How do you hope to make any changes in your life or your practice as a result of this training? For this question the response rate was 57%. Common themes and exemplars are provided below.

Reflection and monitoring: This theme highlighted self-awareness and understanding of one's own thinking and behaviours in order to stop or minimise lateral violence and alleviate the effects of lateral violence on others. There also appeared to be a deeper understanding about why and how lateral violence becomes prominent. For example, "By watching my tongue and others and putting a stamp on it", "acknowledge that some staff behaviour may be a result of their experience of lateral violence" and "be aware of impacts of lateral violence on others".

Naming and challenging lateral violence: This theme highlighted the importance of naming lateral violence when it is witnessed, and then challenging to deter it. Examples include "name lateral violence when witnessed" and "call bad behaviour".

Further training and education: Training and education was deemed important for the self and for others to understand the rationale and impetus of lateral violence behaviours. It was thought that this could help in improving and maintaining relationships in the community. For example,

"understand others better, have a perspective that allows me to take hurtful behaviours less personally, and hopefully respond in a more creative and non-laterally violent manner".

(2). Any additional comments? For this question the response rate was 33%. Participants were very positive about the training workshop and the skills of the facilitators. They indicated that the workshops were well conducted, beneficial to the community and they were thankful for the training opportunity. Examples included, "excellent", "I enjoyed the workshop overall", "thank you", and "it [the workshop] was really informative and beneficial".

Three months post questionnaire responses and themes

Overall, 25 responses were received for the three months post evaluation questionnaires across the six workshops.

- (1) What are the three main behaviours that you see as lateral violence? For this question 96% of participants responded. Responses portrayed lateral violence behaviours as *covert*, such as exclusion, undermining identity and community connections and credibility, putting each other down, bullying, gossiping and rumour mongering. This is consistent with the findings from chapter 4 in which participants predominately described lateral violence as covert.
- (2). What changes (if any) have you made in your life or your practice as a result of the lateral violence training? For this question 76% of participants responded. *Self-awareness*, *education* and *challenging* were common responses to this question. This suggests that many of the intentions to stop and prevent lateral violence were actioned. Once participants engaged in self-awareness and monitoring of their own behaviours, it enabled them to stop perpetrating laterally violent behaviours such as gossiping and being negative to others and take action, for

example, "[I made] a conscious decision to not gossip or criticize colleagues and family members". Educating others about lateral violence either formally or informally. For example, "I have informed others about lateral violence" and "[I] tried to name it as it occurs".

- (3). What additional training would you like to have or see developed in the future about lateral violence? For this question, 68% of participants responded. The main theme of a *refresher workshop* to brush up on skills, to further develop strategies and not fall back into old ways of perpetrating lateral violence was mentioned. For example, "I would like a half-day session following the first, to discuss strategies on how or ways to challenge laterally violent situations". Other responses included that there be more *frequent* workshops and providing training to a *broader* audience. It was suggested that more training be provided to workplaces and that non-Aboriginal people be included, particularly those that work in the Aboriginal sector.
- (4). Any additional comments? For this question, 44% of participants made varied comments such as "thank you", "the facilitators helped create a pretty comfortable and safe environment which was so important when its covering a topic like lateral violence", "really enjoyed the training", and the "community role play exercise was very powerful".

Overall participants' comments were helpful and positive about the workshops' delivery and content and it appeared to cater to the needs of the participants. Participants felt safe (emotionally) in the workshops to talk openly and honestly and this was reiterated in the quantitative questionnaire responses. For example, the post-survey questionnaire found that 99% (mean 4.8, SD 0.4) of participants agreed or strongly agreed that the "facilitators ensured the participants felt comfortable and safe". Most importantly, participant intentions were

followed up with actions after three months. This suggests that participants are thinking and engaging in behaviours to prevent lateral violence in their personal lives, work and the community which is one of the main aims of the workshop.

Discussion and conclusions

Overview

This study has been important for a number of reasons. It provides information about the success of a resource within the Aboriginal community, particularly in Adelaide. The PLV workshops have assisted many Aboriginal people to understand the complexities associated with lateral violence and its effects over time. Most importantly, it has empowered people to take action to prevent lateral violence in their various contexts.

The workshops have been delivered in SA since 2007 to approximately 300 participants prior to the current evaluation and received positive and encouraging feedback to continue. They have been advertised primarily as an educational resource to raise awareness and preliminary development of skills for the prevention of lateral violence. Nevertheless, healing may be part of the outcome, as awareness and education is often the first step to renewal and healing.

The six PLV workshops utilised a pre, post and three months post quasi experimental design using both quantitative and qualitative questions to explore changes to awareness, knowledge and understanding of lateral violence. In the quantitative component, participants in general, resonated with: the terminology and the experiences of lateral violence; gained an understanding of the effects of lateral violence on the self, family and community; and developed skills to prevent lateral violence in various contexts, particularly in the short term.

Although the effectiveness of the workshops were statistically maintained in the long term, there appeared to be a tapering of participants' understanding of the impact of workshops and in developing strategies for prevention of lateral violence over the time period. The qualitative information highlighted strategy changes such as self-reflection and monitoring of their own laterally violent behaviours and those of others; informally and formally educating others about lateral violence; and challenging and naming lateral violence when it occurs. The labelling and naming process has proven to be beneficial in accepting lateral violence as a legitimate concept, but also as a means to address it once it becomes tangible. These findings are consistent with previous findings (Clark & Augoustinos, 2015) where the importance of labelling lateral violence has been comprehensively discussed.

Given that it is rare for Aboriginal healing programs and workshops to be formally evaluated let alone published, this is a means to ensure Aboriginal people, the mainstream population and funding bodies will have resources that could potentially be supported for further development.

The aims of the research have been fulfilled in that the effectiveness of the workshops has been demonstrated. Furthermore the information provided here will add substantially to the literature on both lateral violence and on evaluation outcomes within Aboriginal communities. In addition, the utilisation of many Aboriginal resources and voices to guide and further develop the workshops is a notable strength. This means that Aboriginal people have the means to make changes and prevent lateral violence, but perhaps need further awareness and support to do so through educational programs such as the present one.

In terms of the workshops and the evaluation process, many aspects of an Indigenous methodology and the five R's were incorporated. These are most notable in the respectful and

responsible conduct and delivery of the workshops and the evaluation process. As per a question identified in the post-workshop survey, participants felt culturally (emotionally) safe [N=70, min 3-max 5, X=4.81, SD .43]. The relevance and reciprocal nature of the evaluation has been described above. The reciprocal nature of communication was evident in that reports were provided to each Organisation with key results and further articles to be disseminated once published.

Recommendations

A number of recommendations were made for change to the program and other training needs. These were that the workshops should be offered to non-Aboriginal people working within the organisation and who work intensively with Aboriginal people. That further training is offered to support staff in their development of strategies and as a follow up, or refresher, to ensure that information is maintained and retained given that skills can dwindle over time. A package of workshops could be offered and could include extended or longer workshops which offer an additional healing component that enables participants to reflect and discuss some of their experiences in more depth or strategy development work. Other workshops could be aimed at facilitator training or train-the-trainer programs in order to increase the pool of facilitators. Such workshops can directly and indirectly cater for the needs of participants at various stages of development. This will help support community change over time.

At present, requests for these workshops occur via workplaces, so accessibility needs to extend to Aboriginal communities more broadly. Part of the reason for this is due to funding and it is hoped that funding requests will be made as an outcome of the research. Following this evaluation and once information has been fed back to community (participants and other interested people) there will hopefully be a hive of activity in making the much needed changes.

Lastly, it will be important to ensure that any future workshops have inbuilt evaluation to continue to monitor quality and make any necessary changes to the workshops in both the short and long term.

Limitations of the study

Whilst the required number of workshops was conducted, there were fewer participants than anticipated. The average number per workshop was 12, well below the 15-25 mark. Although non-parametric tests showed good results, they are not as robust as parametric tests. Despite smaller groups, it is worth considering continuity of smaller groups of about 15 participants to ensure intimacy and comfort which may have facilitated learning.

Areas for further research

The questionnaire used for pre, post and three months post was not standardised, nor could the items be grouped statistically via factor analysis. A questionnaire with standardised and validated questions could be further developed to capture aspects of lateral violence. This could be used as baseline measures over time and across organisations, and communities. Such surveys could potentially measure a decrease in frequency of lateral violence and the effectiveness of strategies. A good starting point could be to use some of the items within the current survey as well as explore other surveys, such as the LVNS (developed by Stanley et al., 2007), in order to develop a reliable and robust evaluation instrument to use within the Aboriginal community.

Statement of Authorship

Statement of Authorship

Title of Paper	Evaluation of the preventing lateral violence workshop in Adelaide, South Australia: Phase 2 qualifiative aspects		
Publication Status	Published	Accepted for Publication	
	Submitted for Publication	Linpublished and Unsubmitted work written in manuscript style	
Publication Details			

Principal Author

Name of Principal Author (Candidate)	Yvonne Clark
Contribution to the Paper	Performed the literature review, called for and collected data (interviews with participants), interpreted data, wrote manuscript and acted as corresponding author.
Overall percentage (%)	85%
Certification:	This paper reports on original research I conducted during the period of my Higher Degree by Research candidature and is not subject to any obligations or contractual agreements with a third party that would constrain its inclusion in this thesis, I am the primary author of this paper.
Signature	Date 20/11/2016

Co-Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that:

- i. the candidate's stated contribution to the publication is accurate (as detailed above);
- ii. permission is granted for the candidate in include the publication in the thesis; and
- the sum of all co-author contributions is equal to 100% less the candidate's stated contribution.

Name of Co-Author	Professor Wartha Augoustinos
Contribution to the Paper	Supervised the development of the work, gave advice on data interpretation and manuscript preparation and submission
Signature	Date 20/11/2016.

Name of Co-Author	Merridy Malin
Contribution to the Paper	Helped to evaluate and edit the manuscript
Signature	Date 21/10/16

Please cut and paste additional co-author panels here as required.

Chapter 7: Evaluation of the preventing lateral violence workshop in Adelaide, SA: Phase 2 qualitative aspects

Abstract

Lateral violence describes how members of oppressed groups direct their dissatisfaction toward each other. This inward deflection has been associated with Indigenous communities around the world and has shown to be destructive. The focus of this research concerns Aboriginal people in Adelaide, South Australia, as part of an evaluation of the preventing lateral violence workshops. The overall evaluation comprised both quantitative and qualitative components. This chapter reports on qualitative data, specifically, open-ended interviews with seven Aboriginal participants, post workshop. These interviews, examined their ways of dealing with lateral violence and strategies to prevent lateral violence in various contexts as well as suggestions for improving the workshops. Overall five major interpretive themes emerged from these interviews. Regarding improvement to workshops, interviewees recommended that the presentation encapsulate a broader audience; offer alternatives to a one-day workshop; and account for the potential vulnerability of participants. The other themes indicated that support is vital, and that people have the right not to change. The final theme draws on strategies to prevent lateral violence. The information complemented and provided a deeper understanding of phase one evaluation which was primarily quantitative. It is hoped that such evaluation provides robust evidence for workshops to improve and be maintained as a useful resource for the Aboriginal community to prevent lateral violence.

Introduction

Overview of the preventing lateral violence workshops and results from phase 1

The Preventing Lateral Violence (PLV) training is a one-day educational and awareness workshop generally targeted Aboriginal people for awareness and understanding of lateral violence in various settings (i.e. family, community and workplace). More specifically it is designed to uncover the historical aspects of lateral violence, the forms it takes, the effects on the community, and to work towards prevention strategies. Expected outcomes are to enhance the connections between participants and to equip them with strategies to deal with lateral violence. The workshops were delivered via multi formats such as: PowerPoint presentation; a DVD (BearPaw Media Productions, 2006); handouts of articles on lateral violence (e.g. Equay-Wuk, 2012; Gorringe et al., 2009; Wingard, 2010); interactive sessions; large and small group exercises and discussions; a group role play; scenario exercises; and a debriefing circle and reflections.

Phase one of the evaluation was primarily quantitative and utilised pre, post and three months post measures conducted during six PLV workshops. This evaluation aimed to capture the before, after and long-term effects of participants' understandings, experiences, attitudes, and abilities to prevent lateral violence. Seventy two participants who attended the PLV workshops also volunteered to participate in the evaluation from March to June 2014. The PLV workshops were primarily conducted in Adelaide and hosted by government, non-government and Aboriginal community organisations. Overall, the evaluation found that workshops as an intervention were successful in changing participants' knowledge, awareness and behaviours to prevent lateral violence, particularly in the short term. Although, participant changes were

largely maintained three to four months after workshops the effect of the workshop had slightly decreased.

This chapter summarises the second phase of this evaluation which consisted of follow-up interviews with workshop participants in order to examine in more detail the impact and effectiveness of the lateral violence workshop over time.

Overview of concept of lateral violence

Lateral violence is a concept which describes how oppressed and powerless people covertly and overtly direct their dissatisfaction internally, towards themselves and others within the same community (NCSA, 2008). Lateral violence is believed to exist within many oppressed communities and groups throughout the world. For example, the nursing industry describes lateral violence as the infighting behaviours of nurses who are believed to be an oppressed group within the medical and health care systems (Roberts et al., 2009). Recently the term has been applied to infighting behaviours within Indigenous communities in Canada (Bombay, 2014; Derrick, 2006; Native Women's Association Canada (NWAC) 2015) and in Australia (AHRC, 2011b; Gorringe et al., 2009; Langton, 2008; Wingard, 2010). Within the Australian context, qualitative interviews with Aboriginal people in Adelaide, have indicated that lateral violence is primarily seen as covert, including behaviours such as gossip, shaming, jealousy, bullying and in some situations to undermine Aboriginal identity (Clark & Augoustinos, 2015). Such negative behaviours have been shown to be detrimental to Aboriginal health and wellbeing (Clark et al., 2016; Gorringe et al., 2009; NWAC, 2015.).

Racism, oppression and trauma

Racism has been the primary form of oppression toward Aboriginal people in Australia since colonisation and continues today. The types of everyday racism occurring are, *personal*, *institutional* (or *systemic*), and *internalised* racism which can occur simultaneously (Jones, 2000). Many past colonial policies were influenced by Social Darwinism from 1859 which applied quasi-scientific theory to justify racist policies to segregate Aboriginal people from the broader population. These policies not only controlled Aboriginal people, but also divided them. Such colonial practices disrupted Aboriginal life and resulted in trauma that continues today as intergenerational trauma (Atkinson, 2002) and/or collective trauma (Krieg, 2009; Ratnavale, 2007). Such trauma has been described as prolonged and chronic, and along with racism, is occurring on a regular basis rendering Aboriginal people vulnerable to repeating cycles of trauma. In a study of 153 Indigenous participants on urban health experiences in Adelaide, the majority (64%) indicated they experienced informal and formal racism on a regular basis which affected their health (65%) (Gallaher et al., 2009).

As lateral violence is evident in oppressed groups, its effects may be prevalent in communities and within groups. There is evidence to suggest that the workplace is a significant site in which lateral violence occurs amongst oppressed groups. For example, in the health sector the plight amongst nurses in the workplace, particularly in the United States, has been discussed in the literature. In Australia, lateral violence has also been identified in the health system amongst Aboriginal health workers (Winsor, 2001). Further evidence of lateral violence in the workplace has found that within Aboriginal corporations and organisations more broadly, internal disputes constitute the third most prevalent class of Indigenous corporate failure (ORIC, 2010). This conflict and division within or between corporations, directors, officers and members, restricts the corporation from carrying out its objectives.

Resilience and support

Aboriginal people are socially resilient and celebrated as one of the oldest continuous living cultures. Yet Aboriginal people's survival is rarely recognised in the literature as a significant source of resilience (Merritt, 2007). Furthermore studies on risk and protective factors such as connection to land, culture, spirituality, ancestry, family, and community (SHRG, 2004) has found that these protective factors act as a source of resilience, enabling Aboriginal people to survive in today's environment (Kelly et al., 2009). Thus the way Aboriginal people cope with stress, racism and lateral violence is vital for survival and wellbeing. However there is limited research which looks specifically at coping and support for Aboriginal people in Australia and none that focuses on stressors associated with lateral violence.

The psychological literature on social support identifies both formal and informal relationships within an individual's social network as important resources for health and wellbeing (Gottlieb & Bergen, 2010). Social support is classified as bonded and bridging support. Bonded relationships are those that occur between intimate associates who are often from homogenous backgrounds; bridging relationships are between less intimate associates and are usually from heterogeneous backgrounds. A well-developed social network (Gottlieb & Bergen, 2010) or social capital (Brough et al., 2006) needs to include both bonded and bridging relationships in order to ensure adequate support for health and wellbeing.

A qualitative study in metropolitan Perth, WA has reaffirmed the importance of bonded relationships within Indigenous communities (Waterworth et al., 2014). Such bonded relationships as a form of social support promotes connectedness, identity and a sense of belonging as well as providing many resources and protective factors for wellbeing and

positive health outcomes (Brough et al., 2006; Waterworth et al., 2014). Kinship connections are also seen as a way to share the physical and psychological burden of being part of a large group (Brough et al., 2006). Although bonded relationships are extremely important and maintained by family obligation they can be psychologically stressful. As a result, some Aboriginal people can withdraw from bonded connections to protect themselves and immediate family, as the influences of such extended family members can cause them physical or emotional harm (i.e. domestic violence). This withdrawal can contribute to fragmented kinship affiliations, isolation, a lack of social support, and reduced opportunities to develop new bonded relationships. There are also positive effects associated with engagement with non-Indigenous people (i.e. bridging relationships), although these are often deemed as less important within the Aboriginal community. These are however rarely incorporated outside of the Aboriginal community, unless via organisational support (Waterworth et al., 2014) and can be hindered by discrimination and perceptions of negative stereotypes (Brough et al., 2006).

Bystander/silence

Bystander behaviour appears to be related to support or more specifically, lack of support. Firstly, the bystander effect is understood as an individual's intervention or lack thereof in emergency situations. An individual is less likely to respond to someone in crisis when large numbers of people are present, or if an individual responds they may have a delayed response. Yet, individuals may intervene if there is only one person as the audience or when it's an especially dangerous situation (Fischer et al., 2011). The reasons for this effect have been explained by several factors including diffusion of responsibility, pluralistic ignorance and/or audience inhibition (Machackova et al., 2015). An Australian study of bystanders in response to racist behaviours toward Aboriginal people by Neto and Pedersen (2013) indicated intention to engage in bystander anti-racism was significantly associated with: age (i.e. older people are

more likely to have higher levels of bystander antiracism and are more likely to intervene); political preference (people with right wing views are likely to have lower levels of bystander anti-racist intentions and less likely to intervene); and gender (women are more likely to intervene). People with higher levels of national (Australian) identity, prejudice, and fear are less likely to intervene on behalf of outgroup members including Aboriginal people, while people with higher levels of collective guilt, empathetic concern and anger are more likely to intervene.

These bystander effects are also present in the cyber world: for example, there is less support or intervention against bullying in the presence of multiple witnesses (Machackova et al., 2015). Given that many young people access the cyber world (see Radoll, 2014) there are potential concerns about racism and antiracism. Neto and Pedersen (2013) highlight that young individuals may not feel well equipped to intervene or challenge in instances of racial prejudice. They suggest that educational interventions on how to effectively communicate with others about issues surrounding racism and other cultures generally may instil confidence in responding to bystander anti-racism. Bystanders are a good resource to avert racism that is often benign and disguised as racist jokes and just having a laugh (Thomas & Pederson, 2015).

Types of coping

Mellor (2004) looked at the different ways of coping by Australian Aboriginal people in dealing with racism and the stress it causes which may have relevance to the way Aboriginal people cope with lateral violence. In Mellor's qualitative study of 34 Indigenous people from metropolitan Melbourne, a range of coping strategies (or taxonomies) were found and categorised into three broad areas: *defensive* coping, *controlled* and *counter attacking*. The *defensive* responses included ways of protecting oneself against racism by putting up with

racism and having a defeatist attitude or resignation; by avoiding it or reinterpreting a racist event so that it loses its power and effect; using social support to lighten the load of racism and make light of their experiences; and denial or not mentioning Aboriginality in certain situations for equal treatment. The *controlled* category of responses to racism involved maintaining self-control. That is, individuals actively make choices not to be affected or expend psychological energy by processing racism any further. The third category is *counter attacking* in order to change the source of racism through confrontation of some kind. For example, educating the perpetrator, presenting factual information, dispelling myths, calling authority figures, such as supervisors or the police or others who are perceived to have power and knowledge, to help sort it out.

Collectivist coping is often aligned with previous research by Hofstedt (1980) in which 53 countries were mapped on four dimensions with the most widely used in cross cultural research, being the individualism-collectivism dimension. Although Australia as a whole has been seen as a highly individualistic nation, many subcultures in Australia are believed to be collectivist with strong kinship relationships: Aboriginal cultures, for example, are viewed predominantly as collectivist cultures with strong kinships relationships (Milroy et al., 2014). Collective coping responses include: interpersonal based strategies such as *family support* where the family contributes strongly to identity and serves as a vital supportive and caring function for members; value-driven strategies such as *fatalism*, a tendency to believe that control may lie in contextual or external forces; *forbearance* where the desire to maintain harmony is prioritised over the desire to achieve or strive for personal gain; culturally conditioned emotional/ cognitive strategies such as *acceptance* and *avoidance*; as well as religion and spiritually grounded strategies (Fischer, et al., 2010); Other forms of collectivist coping include: *intra-cultural coping* which refers to the use of supportive networks comprised

of racially similar individuals, such as one's family network or community based social groups (Waterworth et al., 2014, 2015); respect for authority figures, such as elders, and even Indigenous healers; and relational universality and inter-dependence where the individual relies on the community for support and a sense of belonging, reciprocal sharing and a sense of identity (Yeh, et al., 2006). Thus collective coping is conceptually broader than social support (Kuo, 2013).

Cultural competence and safety

As a response to cultural diversity in many countries, models of cultural competency have been developed in order to foster change at both individual and institutional levels. Wells' (2000) cultural development model (CDM) consists of six stages along a continuum: *cultural incompetence*; *knowledge*; *awareness* (the first three are cognitive phases of learning and cultural knowledge acquisition); and *cultural sensitivity*; *competence* and *proficiency* (the last three are an affective phase based on self-reflection, understanding and experience). This model has been utilised within the Australian Indigenous Psychologists Association (AIPA) cultural competency training.

Cultural safety is a broader concept or framework in which cultural competency may lie. It extends beyond awareness and sensitivity as it empowers individuals and enables them to contribute to positive outcomes (Bin-Sallik, 2003). Many organisations have embedded cultural safety (or alternatively cultural respect) frameworks into their systems. One example is the Victorian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (VACCHO) which has embedded a cultural framework by including cultural competency training and principles for government and non-Aboriginal human service organisations, as an outside influence for cultural safety for VACCHO (Frankland et al., 2010). Internal to VACCHO is a framework

about taking responsibility for accessing Aboriginal rights to cultural safety which will lead to increasing the resilience of Aboriginal children, families and young people. What this means is that everyone has the right to feel good about themselves, their identities and their access to culture as Aboriginal people. Finally one of the key foundational issues for VACCHO with cultural safety, from the perspective of the local Aboriginal community, is tackling lateral violence (Frankland et al., 2010).

The current evaluation study

There is a paucity of resources on lateral violence for Indigenous communities. For example, there is limited information and educational workshops with evaluations attached to assist Aboriginal people to understand and prevent lateral violence within their communities. Thus the PLV workshop is a rarity and this type of formal education is timely. Hence an evaluation of its aims and outcomes is also timely, given there do not appear to be many published evaluations of Indigenous programs within Australia. Phase two of this evaluation study has five broad aims (some of which are in combination with phase 1). These include: to evaluate the effectiveness of the South Australian PLV workshops as a significant intervention program by listening to participants' views; describe the experiences of Aboriginal participants' successful strategies in curbing lateral violence and building positive relationships; gain a richer understanding of participants' experience of the PLV workshop; listen to recommendations for change to the workshops; and expand the knowledge in the literature on lateral violence in the Australian context. It has already been determined in phase 1 that the workshops were successful in increasing knowledge, understanding and awareness of lateral violence. Phase 2 aims to explore what strategies participants put in place to curb lateral violence and whether they have been helpful or successful in preventing lateral violence.

Research approach

Indigenous methodology

An Indigenist methodology frames this evaluation of the PLV workshops. Martin (2003) indicates that an Indigenous framework for the research is central, otherwise research conducted by Indigenous people will simply be reproducing dominant western forms of knowledge. An Indigenous framework has a number of recommended components including: cultural safety and respect (Rigney,1999a); an acknowledgement and an embracing of Indigenous people's ontology, axiology and diversity (Smith, 1999, 2012); positioning and understanding of relationality of information, participation of Indigenous researchers and using an *insider* approach (Wilson, 2008). Some western approaches/methods which are considered more open, flexible and contextual can complement Aboriginal perspectives and purposes (Weber-Pillwax, 2001). In this study a thematic and qualitative methodological approach was undertaken to seek to understand and convey Indigenous participants' worldviews, meaning, and diversity as well as ensuring the voices of Aboriginal people are prominent in the conduct of the research.

Participants

Seven Aboriginal participants volunteered to be interviewed approximately three months after the workshops were conducted. Of the participants, 4 were female and 3 were male with an age range from 29-56 years.

Procedure and analysis

Prior to the commencement of this study, ethical approval was obtained from both the South Australian Aboriginal Health Research Ethics Committee (AHREC) in December 2012 and from the University of Adelaide Human Research Ethics Committee in May 2013. The voluntary participants had previously attended one of the six PLV workshops conducted from March to June 2014. An Aboriginal research assistant (RA) provided information, recruited and attended to enquiries about participating in the follow-up interviews at the end of each workshop (in person) and approximately three months after the workshops (via email). Participants were also informed of their rights and responsibilities about confidentiality and incentives (see Appendix 5).

During the interview the volunteers were asked broad questions by the primary researcher, such as "What did you get out of the training?", "Did it enable you to put strategies in place (big or small) for your workplace, family, personal life, community?", and "If you were able to put strategies in place, were they successful or unsuccessful?" Participants were also encouraged to freely mention whatever they wanted about lateral violence in general and about the PLV workshops. Interviews ranged from 40 minutes to an hour, and were tape-recorded and transcribed verbatim. Interview transcripts were offered and sent to most interviewees to endorse and check for accuracy, before analysis. The transcripts were thematically analysed which involved a rich description of the recurring and unique patterns in the data set across all interviews. The underlying manner to elicit the themes was via a six-phase process which included familiarisation of the data, generating initial codes, searching for themes, reviewing themes, defining and naming themes, and producing a report (Braun & Clarke, 2006; 2013). To assist with coding of the themes the NVivo10 software package for qualitative data was

utilized. This was achieved by searching for similar words or phrases across transcripts and categorising into nodes to create initial themes for reviewing.

Results and discussion

Themes from interviews

Overview of themes

Six themes were drawn from participant interviews about their experiences of lateral violence, their strategy building, and recommendations for improvements to the workshop. Many of these themes were consistent with information received in the qualitative responses in questionnaires from phase 1 of the evaluation. The themes are as follows:

The preventing lateral violence workshops need to encapsulate a broad audience and be longer in duration

Participants highlighted that the PLV workshops should be delivered to everyone, including non-Aboriginal people, and to a range of organisations such as schools, universities and government departments. Participants also recommended that the workshops should be longer than the current one-day duration. These points are reflected in the following extracts.

Ralph (age category 35-40): Yeah I believe it should be done in schools, workplaces, universities, everywhere, yeah so, everyone, every workplace in the whole of Australia should understand it....

Sophia (age category 25-30): ... I think that your course should be for non- Indigenous people as well as Indigenous

Beverley (age category 55-60): I think it's another [day], the introduction training is one making you aware of it, recognising the subtleties of it. Even if it's the next day or half a day...

Both Ralph and Sophia suggested a broad target audience for the lateral violence workshops to provide education and awareness. This aligns with the results from chapter 3 on strategies that indicated that lateral violence education needs to be more inclusive. The workshops were targeted primarily for Aboriginal participants. Some non-Aboriginal people were also invited to attend and this was at the discretion of the host organisation. According to the pre, post and three months post questionnaires, non-Aboriginal participants also benefited from the workshops (see phase 1, chapter 6).

Beverley indicated that the workshops need to be longer or incorporate some extra follow-up training to recognise some of the subtleties of lateral violence, and this was also consistent with the quantitative and qualitative findings in phase 1. For example, the quantitative findings indicated less understanding of the impact of lateral violence and strategy building in the long term. Such a result would justify follow-up training to maintain skills. The qualitative responses identified in phase 1 suggest that various workshops and components need to be developed and delivered as follow-up to the first workshop, interchangeable and adapted to various groups. For example, an educational component for the broader population could discuss broad theories of oppression and provide examples of various oppressed groups, including nurses, to understand the diversity and complexity of lateral violence. Furthermore

specific sections that relate and are particularly sensitive to Aboriginal people could be incorporated into a second day of training exclusively for Aboriginal people. Such interchangeable components could also be in collaboration with other training such as cultural competency training for non-Aboriginal people.

Vulnerability of the lateral violence topic

Participants indicated that lateral violence was a particularly sensitive topic that may make some people feel very vulnerable. In turn, this vulnerability might influence attendance at the PLV workshops. The extract below provides an example of this theme.

Anita: (age category 41-45) Yeah. You know coming into that workshop I got a bit emotional about it because of my previous experiences, mostly in the workplace, so I was just, I suppose a bit nervous about going into to this. It did initially bring up some emotions for me and I thought am I gonna be alright, am I gonna embarrass myself by losing it, you know, with other people around and I didn't want to do it. I didn't want to particularly share my story either.

Anita: ...I initially I felt terrified and I wanted to run a mile but after we started and you reassured me that no, this is all confidential, and I felt safe and relieved that I was there. I got a lot out of the workshop.

This extract is an example of vulnerability and demonstrates the effects of lateral violence on one individual. Anita indicated that her previous exposure to lateral violence is emotional. She appears vulnerable to further exposure and has developed coping mechanisms to deal with lateral violence and trauma. Yet once she understood the confidentiality of the workshop and

that she didn't have to share her story, she felt safe and engaged wholeheartedly. Vulnerability is a real issue and is an ongoing process for many Aboriginal people from the effects of collective and intergenerational trauma (Krieg, 2009; Ratnavale, 2007) and the daily stressors and psychological distress which is reportedly high in Aboriginal communities (Kelly et al., 2009). As a necessity, safety measures and confidentiality issues are discussed at length at the beginning of the workshops to generate emotional safety. A question on the post evaluation questionnaire about emotional safety indicated that most participants felt safe (emotionally) in the workshops [N=70, min 3-max 5, X=4.81, SD .43].

Support is vital

This theme highlights the lack of general support in the workplace from managers when one is experiencing lateral violence. The extracts below are from two Aboriginal people: a victim of ongoing lateral violence in the workplace and a manager who tries to manage lateral violence.

Beverley (age category 55-60): Whether it's an Aboriginal thing or not they [non-Aboriginal managers] still have a responsibility and that was something that wasn't happening They weren't managing their senior Aboriginal staff in that behaviour where if it was a non-Aboriginal person doing that sort of stuff or a similar thing, they would have pulled them up... They don't want to be seen as racist, they don't want to be seen as overstepping the mark and moving into territory that they don't know about. I am just saying you gotta see this for what it is, it's bullying and the behaviour is disrespectful behaviour that is being allowed to happen because they are vocal people in those positions.

Beverley (age category 55-60): ... [Tackling lateral violence] needs a group of people ... to stand together and say that's inappropriate. Behind the scenes we would talk about it. Say "Oh that shouldn't have happened, how dare that person say that". Collectively we would know that it was wrong, we would know that it was lateral violence but we weren't in a position to be confident to stand up and know that somebody else would stand up with us and say yes that's enough...In times where I had raised something, not another person raised anything. Nobody came up to me or stood up to say "I support Beverley in this", that was inappropriate... They just want to stay neutral. We gotta have something in place that supports them to be able to do it..., hearing how some others had similar things happening in there [on the PLV training session], you know it's not until you realise how many other people have been caught up in the same situation [dealing with lateral violence] and not really knowing what to do. That's why I think we need to expand the knowledge of the experiences that people have.

Jeremy (age category 35-50): ...It's [lateral violence] about putting each other down, the work that people do, not saying anything good about another person, you know they doing their best in their own ability to work, live, so like there that old term that Aboriginal people are like crabs in a bucket where we pull each other down. Where I work, I like to build these guys up, not to a point where they know everything but in an encouraging work environment. I don't want them going to other Departments and saying we cop shit so listen to us.

Beverley revealed a reluctance to seek help from non-Aboriginal managers. This reluctance may stem from the "hands off" approach undertaken by non-Indigenous managers and leaders

and that "they don't want to be seen as racist". Moreover, it is common for non-Aboriginal people to be in these leadership positions, and there are no guarantees that these managers are culturally competent to work with and manage Aboriginal people and understand specific issues. Thus if lateral violence is not understood or recognised, normalised, ignored or not managed well, there are potential implications for the wellbeing of Aboriginal staff.

Accountability of senior staff, policy, appropriate support and management are essential in combating lateral violence within workplaces to ensure a positive organisational culture.

Many of the workshop participants (in the current qualitative interviews and from phase 1) recommended that non-Aboriginal people attend workshops about lateral violence in order to better understand and support Aboriginal staff. Currently this is underway. For example, in one of the workshops, the senior Aboriginal leadership group (of that particular government department) ensured that half the participants were senior non-Aboriginal leaders.

A lack of collegial support also appeared to be an issue. For Beverley, lateral violence was a topic talked about behind the scenes amongst many Aboriginal colleagues, but the support for each other may not be forthcoming particularly in formal settings (meetings). The workshop did help Beverley to recognise that many others are also experiencing lateral violence but were silent. This provided her with a sense of relief and empowerment and assisted her to take some action to help prevent lateral violence prior to her resignation.

Silencing or bystander behaviour is a feature with oppressed people (Freire, 1970) and can elicit various fears of retribution and scrutiny (Gorringe et al., 2009). Thus silencing is not only about being quiet but it is also about inaction. The lack of formal collegial support may also be explained via a bystander effect that stipulates that when there are a number of colleagues

witnessing lateral violence there is less help or support. Such behaviours are believed to be due to diffused responsibility, ignorance or inhibition (shyness) (Machackova et al., 2015). In these situations it could also be that lateral violence has become so normalised (Clark & Augoustinos, 2015) it is less noticeable to confront, or that many people continue to be uncertain about what lateral violence is or that it even exists.

It appears that when lateral violence is occurring in the workplace non-responsiveness may warrant feelings of helplessness or burnout for Aboriginal staff and this could be concealed for a considerable amount of time, that is, until something shifts within the victim or the service which demands a reaction. This reaction could include any number of possibilities among vulnerable Aboriginal staff such as taking extended leave, resignation, or becoming ill. Although burnout was not explicitly discussed by participants, it may be relevant as burnout is related to high levels of stress (Roche, Duraisingam, Trifonoff & Tovell, 2013). Research has linked in-group gossip to burnout (Georganta, Panagopoulou & Montgomery, 2014) in which gossip is a feature of lateral violence and may have consequences for Aboriginal staff. A local example of Aboriginal staff burnout by Roche et al. (2013) found that many (approximately 1 in 10) Indigenous alcohol and other drug (AOD) workers experienced emotional exhaustion in South Australia which was comparable to the national figures. Burnout is generally characterised as chronic exhaustion, cynicism and a lack of personal accomplishment (Bakker & Costa, 2014). Thus individuals who experience burnout simultaneously experience high levels of chronic fatigue and distance themselves emotionally and cognitively from their work activities. This could be another reason for not supporting each other when lateral violence is occurring.

All of these workshops were conducted through organisational environments which presumably had various policies and practices, conventions, and legislation accessed internally or externally to guide worker conduct and protect staff within their organisation, such as bullying policies, codes of conduct, and legislation on discrimination and diversity. It is uncertain whether there are specific practices, conventions or strategies that deal with lateral violence within the participants' workplaces. It is well understood that many workplaces also have access to counselling and support services often through their contracted Employer Assistance Program (EAP) which may be utilised by Aboriginal staff. However, it is difficult to determine the level of cultural competency of these counselling and support programs and whether they are familiar with lateral violence. Nevertheless, organisations can nurture a positive environment with increased levels of support and competency. According to Roche et al. (2013) such change requires both personal management and organisational system level attention and recourse.

The current one-day workshop discusses issues of support, particularly in relation to counselling support; but issues of managerial and collegial support are minimally discussed and limited to the scenario building exercises by the participants. Unless raised workshops do not cover topics such as bystander effect, silencing or burnout. The workshops do not encourage formal sharing of experiences because it is difficult to manage cultural safety. However, it appears that some participants can and do share their experiences informally. Thus an in-depth two-day workshop or follow-up session will allow time for participants to discuss and continue to conduct exercises that empower and steer them toward their own solutions.

It's my right to say what I like

This theme aligns with a number of discourses that centre on *freedom*, *freedom* of *speech* and *rights*. The extracts below exemplify this theme.

Beverley (age category 55-60): They themselves do not see that their behaviour is laterally violent, they do not see that they have been bullying, they don't see that they have been disrespectful. It's almost like a position that they have that to be able to progress Aboriginal business you gotta be aggressive, assertive, abusive before somebody will listen to you. There is a pocket of people that I have noticed in SA who have that sort of belief. For them over periods of time it has worked for them, even in the 70's that activist behaviour, you had to stand up to fight for things for people to see where we are coming from. But there are people now who are still carrying that type of approach and I don't think, in my mind, that's the way to go.... But it's a behaviour and I suppose if they keep getting reinforced with that and not challenged, they gonna keep on doing it... There seems to be no shame in it [perpetrating lateral violence], you know, [people think] they have a right to say those things to you.

Ralph (age category 35-40): But now everyone in the world or Australia has the right to do whatever they want, if they're gay, if they drive whatever car they drive, or their beliefs, everyone has got their own right...

Both Beverley and Ralph draw on the discourse that people believe they are free to assert their rights and to say and do whatever they like regardless of the consequences. For example,

Beverley links rights and Aboriginal radicalism to the struggle for freedom. This appears aligned with the fact that Aboriginal people were ignored, and not listened to for the greater part of Australia's colonial history. And therefore they had to become radical and/or loud to be heard to gain justice and rights. Such radical behaviour appears prominent in the past around movements such as the Aboriginal tent embassy that was constructed on Australia Day 1972 (Reconciliation Australia, 2015b). Beverley asserts that current radical behaviour is a mixture of assertive, aggressive and abusive behaviours toward others. She equates such behaviours to lateral violence which has been allowed to flourish in a climate of people's rights (to say what they like, to whomever they like, and whenever they like). This is despite policies, legal processes and laws (e.g. anti-discrimination laws and defamation) that may restrict people's freedom of speech to protect other people.

Shame is also mentioned by Beverley and shame is an important concept within Aboriginal culture but can get construed in many ways. Shultz (2013) suggests that shaming is the guilt associated with the breaking of obligations. That is, when Aboriginal people can't fulfil their cultural obligations (i.e. looking after family), guilt and conflict override and they continue on a cycle of shame. Lawrie (2010) links shame to oppression and "invasion". She indicates that Aboriginal people have been forced to live with shame throughout colonial history and this shame is reflected in current situations such as confusion and loss of identity, jealousy, not fulfilling family obligations and traditional role discrepancies. She also indicates that shame is the "ugly cousin" to lateral violence and they "feed off each other". In the lateral violence literature shaming others the effects of shame are seen as a manifestation of lateral violence (Derrick 2006).

Strategies to prevent lateral violence: "I have made some changes"

All of the participants indicated that they had engaged in change and implemented strategies to deal with or prevent lateral violence as a result of attending the PLV workshops. Some of these changes have been personal, reflective, educational and/or as a process of validation. The four extracts below highlight participant strategies.

Melissa (age category 51-55) I got a lot out of the workshop and have been more aware. Yeah I had discussions with others about it and try and challenge others in a relaxed way...I want to start talking more to my young nieces and nephews about it. I have started collecting information on lateral violence and might try and develop a project for them...because the DVD and reading stuff is too sophisticated for kids.

Ralph (age category 35-40): ...Since doing that course I have made, like, when I talk I just watch what I say because then, yeah, because you don't realise you can do it 100, a dozen times a day, just the way you talk or body language... If its [lateral violence] around me and someone's harassing someone I will say something to em. I would say "can you leave em alone" you know. Yeah it's usually like the strong or the toughest person or it's someone in control picking on a weakling or quiet or timid and I've always wanted to bat...if someone is timid.

Jeremy (age category 45-50): Well that role play [exercise] stuck with me for a long time. I come back to work ...I looked at myself [and] I internalised it. I said ok, you do encourage a lot of people, I do that, I looked into the workplace and I realised I need to do it more ...I need to do it more for me to my workers and you know there's a lot of leave [taken by workers] and all that sort of stuff. Really making sure I was

compassionate, making sure I wasn't caught in the system, where the system makes people accountable for too much leave, for too much, you know...think about some of the stuff they're going through as Aboriginal people ... Yeah, it's so easy for a black fella to be caught up, if you come into a management position, to get put up in the system and forget these are my brothers and sisters here. They've still got these issues and I sort of got to get away. I found myself even distancing myself toward the workers when I have to discipline [in the past].

Sophia (age category 25-30): It made me realise bullying is a big thing and made me stop doing it at work... Most of the time I did it as a joke but I guess I hurt some people's feelings and I knew how to stop...

Interviewer: Has anyone noticed?

Sophia: Yep, everyone thinks I am quieter now and not fun no more 'cos I don't tease or bully.

Interviewer: So the teasing part was that harmless or ...

Sophia: A little bit, sometimes I was racist to people.

These narratives demonstrate the various changes participants made in response to the lateral violence workshops. Melissa started collecting material on lateral violence and started discussing it with others, especially the young ones. Ralph realised the need to be more cautious when talking to others as lateral violence can become normalised. Jeremy, from his self-reflection, was able to re-engage with his values, passion and empathise with other Aboriginal staff to support them adequately and remain grounded.

Sophia also embodied self-refection, personal change and accountability. She understood that she was displaying some bullying and "racist" behaviour to colleagues and disguised it by "joking" and humour. After the workshop she said she decided to stop this behaviour at work. As a result, Sophia may no longer be seen as funny by her peers. Whilst Sophia chose to cease her humorous behaviour because she felt it had racist overtones, humour can play a positive role for many in the community and the workplace. The importance of humour for Aboriginal people is recognised in many ways for survival and as a stress release (Schultz et al., 2014) among both adults and children (Dobia & O'Rourke, 2011). Thus humour in the right context can be effective.

These extracts exemplify a broad scope of benefits from the workshops, and how these may have been actioned through initiatives and strategies such as support, self-reflection, education, anti-bullying, humour, the sharing of ideas, positive talk and empowerment to tackle and prevent lateral violence. Within an oppressed group that engages in lateral violence, people can unknowingly be either or both victim and perpetrator. It seemed that before the workshop many people sided with victimhood with less insight into their role as perpetrators of lateral violence (as evidenced from pre- and post-evaluations). After the workshop, participants appeared more comfortable in admitting they had perpetrated lateral violence and were willing to reflect on this and make the necessary changes. Furthermore in most of the extracts above, participants alluded to self-reflection which appears central for change. This is consistent with information from phase one (qualitative themes in post and three months post questionnaire) where participants became self-aware of their behaviours and those of others. Although participants have made various changes in their lives, as a result of a one-day workshop, longer workshops or follow-up sessions can assist in strengthening action and continue to empower participants to address lateral violence.

Discussion and conclusions

Overview

The aim of this study was to increase the literature on lateral violence, evaluate the effectiveness of the PLV workshop, listen to participants' recommendations for improving the workshops and in particular, understand participant's implementation strategies for preventing lateral violence. This qualitative aspect (phase 2) of the research has been able to identify some of the issues faced by participants when dealing with lateral violence on a daily basis. The interviews have shed light on many personal and procedural strategies to prevent lateral violence in their everyday lives and how to influence others. Those interviewed had experienced lateral violence as either recipients or perpetrators, or both in various contexts, and were therefore qualified to tell their stories and provide valuable advice and direction for improvement of the workshops.

In summary, the themes highlight the need for a broader audience for lateral violence training in particular non-Aboriginal work colleagues and supervisors, and that options should be made available for further training beyond a one-day workshop program. Given that Aboriginal people are considered vulnerable from intergenerational layers of trauma and racism, general and workplace support is vital. Participants in this study noted the lack of adequate support for Aboriginal people's experiences of lateral violence from supervisors and colleagues in the workplace. Silencing or a bystander effect may account for the lack of Aboriginal collegial support when most needed. Finally, the notion of *rights* and *freedom of speech* appears to warrant some people behaving in a laterally violent manner.

Much of the information provided by participants was instrumental in suggesting directions and recommendations for the progression and improvement of PLV workshops. These include: workshops need to be open to non-Aboriginal people; accessible and affordable for the Aboriginal community; offered for longer than one day; negotiated with the employer or community; and further support be provided for lateral violence after the workshops. In accordance with participants' central concerns about the sensitivity and vulnerability of the topic, support needs to be taken more seriously and cultural safety needs to be implemented to protect Aboriginal workers from lateral violence and discrimination. It is difficult to assess beforehand the level of vulnerability of those who attend the workshops and how they will respond to, or be affected by, the material presented and ensuing discussions. Hence more care and communication will need to take place to alleviate the potential stress and apprehension of participants. At present, careful consideration is given to participants' emotional safety during discussions and debriefing in the workshops. They are informed about trauma triggers throughout the day as well as information provided about counselling services and EAP. Sometimes a counsellor is present (if negotiated with the employer) and the facilitator is always prepared to debrief participants outside of the room.

It is also challenging to know how many Aboriginal people are deterred from attending due to their vulnerability or fear. As many workshops are conducted in a work setting, the contact person (usually a senior staff member) is usually responsible for disseminating the information and recruiting participants. Despite this initiative, new considerations are to increase the dialogue between the facilitators and the contact person for enquiries and to enhance reassurance to participants. To assist with this initiative a depository (website) where participants can download information prior to the workshops could be made available. This may help to alleviate fears and to answer any initial questions.

Limitations of the study

Although one of the strengths of the evaluation of the PLV workshop is that it utilised a mixed methods approach, despite rigorous efforts to recruit participants; the limited number of participants for both the quantitative evaluation and qualitative interviews is a clear limitation of the current study. As the number of evaluations increases, the results will become more robust over time. Although seven participants were adequate for the qualitative interviews, more volunteers might have produced richer data. Furthermore selection bias may have been at play, as those who volunteered appeared in support of the workshops and viewed it positively, whereas those who didn't benefit may have been deterred from volunteering. It would have been equally important to evaluate the information of those who potentially didn't benefit from the workshops.

Areas for further research

It is increasingly recognised that there is a significant lack of research in Australia for evaluating education and wellbeing interventions targeted toward Aboriginal people (Healing Foundation, 2012). Hence, it is important that programs and interventions are subject to evaluation for their effectiveness in order to build evidence based practices. This two-phase evaluation has been timely to ensure robustness of the outcomes from an insider approach. However, for further rigour, longevity and workshop improvements, it will be important to continue to evaluate these workshops to ensure a large pool of information over time. Such continued evaluation and feedback is important for any new programs developed, including the current PLV one-day workshop.

Chapter 8: Overall conclusions

Overview of research

For this concluding chapter I will provide an overview of the research and reiterate how the overall aims of the thesis have been met. I will also discuss the core findings and implications of the research across the five analytic chapters as well as limitations and areas for further research.

The behaviours associated with lateral violence can be found in populations worldwide. However, within oppressed minority groups lateral violence can become intractable and normalised which can be destructive and hamper solutions for change. Lateral violence has been identified as being an issue within Indigenous communities, work organisations and institutions in Australia. Therefore it was important to focus on a topic that can be unmasked, and where there is potential for solutions for change and increased empowerment of Indigenous people.

The present research consisted of two major studies utilising an Indigenous methodology as a guiding framework. A mixed methods approach was applied to the data utilising both qualitative and quantitative approaches. Overall there were 102 voluntary participants involved across the two studies.

Study 1 was an exploratory study in order to better understand and report on lateral violence from Aboriginal people in Adelaide. This study primarily utilised qualitative methods to capture themes within the interviews with 30 Aboriginal participants. Overall 16 themes were drawn upon and can be grouped into three broad recurring themes that included: the labelling

of lateral violence (see chapter 3); detrimental effects of lateral violence on one's wellbeing and identity (see chapter 4); and coping strategies and prevention of lateral violence (see chapter 5).

A quantitative component comprised the administration of two wellbeing scales, the Kessler-5 (K-5) and the negative life events scale (NLES) in which 21 of the 30 participants responded. The results from the wellbeing scales indicated that participants' distress was at a moderate level (K-5), with just under a third (29%) of the participants scoring in the high to very high distress level. Furthermore the main overall stressors (NLES) identified by participants included racism and discrimination, drugs and alcohol, serious illness and violence. Those who scored high on psychological distress corresponded with a high number of stressors. These results are generally consistent with a national sample undertaken as part of the National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health (NATSIH) survey (AIHW, 2015) (see chapters 3 to 5). These are discussed along with other qualitative themes in Table 8.1.

The second study was an evaluation of six lateral violence workshops conducted in five organisations predominately in Adelaide (one workshop was held in a semi-rural area in SA). The evaluation of workshops was a testament to the organisations that participated in the program to ensure many of their staff were aware of lateral violence. In phase one, 72 participants completed a quantitative time-series survey (pre, post and three months post) (see chapter 6). The results of the survey demonstrated a significant increase in the short term and maintenance in the long term of participants' knowledge, understanding and prevention of lateral violence. Phase 2 of this study, consisted of qualitative interviews with seven Aboriginal participants who attended one of the six workshops. The results of a thematic analysis provided in-depth information towards improvement of the workshops in that they need to be longer and

regular (i.e. follow up) in duration as well as be presented to a broader audience including Aboriginal, non-Aboriginal, young and old participants. The themes also elicited information on prevention strategies for lateral violence that applied in participants' lives post workshops such as education and self-reflection (see chapter 7). These are discussed along with other qualitative themes in Table 8.1.

The overall number of themes from interviews in both studies was 21. Some of the themes were replicated across both studies. The themes provided much insight into lateral violence in Adelaide and may have broader implications for understanding other Aboriginal communities in Australia, and potentially have "transferability" (see Braun & Clarke, 2013, p. 281). The themes can be grouped into four broad categories that relate to the following: the perception and labelling of lateral violence; the characteristics and detrimental effects of lateral violence; coping, strategizing and actioning to prevent lateral violence; and recommendations for workshop improvements (see Table 8.1).

Overall, the findings from both quantitative and qualitative aspects of the research in studies 1 and 2 revealed that the term *lateral violence* was considered useful in understanding and describing general violence, or infighting by Aboriginal people within various contexts. The concept of lateral violence as described and discussed in the literature appeared to resonate with the majority of participants. By providing a concrete label to what previously had been largely unnamed, but normalised, the issue of lateral violence could be made tangible and visible and thus open to challenge and prevention.

Table 8.1. Overall qualitative themes from studies 1 and 2

	Theme	Study	Chapter
Perception and understandings of lateral violence			
1.	Understanding the concept of lateral violence before a label	1	3
2.	The label of lateral violence fits our experiences	1	3
3.	Bringing it out in to the open to start dealing with it	1	3
4.	We had our own labels before lateral violence	1	3
Characteristics and detrimental effects of lateral violence			
5.	No it doesn't fit, we need a proper label other than lateral	1	3
	violence		
6.	The covert and insidious nature of lateral violence	1	4
7.	The relationship between racism and lateral violence	1	4
8.	Challenges to identity as acts of lateral violence	1	4
9.	The destructive effects of lateral violence on wellbeing	1	4
Coping, strategizing and actioning to prevent lateral violence			
10.	Education is central	1&2	5, 6&7
11.	Self- awareness is necessary	2	6&7
12.	Support is vital and provides unity	1&2	5&7
13.	Champions and role models are essential	1	5
14.	Culture and identity are empowering	1	5
15.	Avoidance of Aboriginal spaces can be protective	1	5
16.	Lateral violence can be challenged	1&2	5&6
17.	Lateral violence can be positively reinterpreted	1	5
Recommendations for workshop improvements			
18.	The PLV workshops need to encapsulate a broad audience	2	6&7
19.	Vulnerability of the lateral violence topic	2	7
20.	It's my right to say what I like	2	7
21.	I have made changes post workshop to prevent lateral	2	6&7
	violence		

The detrimental effects of lateral violence on Aboriginal people's wellbeing and identity were highlighted in both studies (1 and 2), particularly in relation to oppression, trauma, identity and

mental health. Much of the literature states that Aboriginal people have the capacity and capability to work on their own issues to achieve successful outcomes. This is often described alongside a need for empowerment, education and healing to address such issues. Thus studies 1 and 2 highlighted a number of strategies for coping with detrimental effects, prevention and combating lateral violence in various contexts. Participants reported that many of the preventative strategies discussed in the workshops were initiated after attending the PLV workshops.

Findings and outcomes in relation to the research aims and hypotheses

There were five aims and a number of hypotheses for the research which have all been achieved and are highlighted below.

Aim 1: to expand and review the literature on lateral violence, particularly in the SA context. As part of this it was important to ensure that Aboriginal voices were privileged as part of the process. As part of the Indigenous framework, Indigenous researchers and authors were prominent in the reviewed literature. They provided insight and an insider approach to knowledge. Expansion of the literature on lateral violence has progressed significantly with two chapters already published, one chapter submitted for publication and two in the pipeline in the near future. The expanded literature will not only be accessible for educational purposes but it can potentially assist with attracting resources and further research interest.

Aim 2: to examine how Aboriginal people themselves orient to the topic of lateral violence and understand the meaning of this concept and relationship to other concepts. The importance of listening to Indigenous people themselves was vital rather than focusing solely on *expert*

knowledge in this area. As already emphasised, the study attracted many highly educated Aboriginal females in the mature age category (41-55 years of age). These demographics mirror the researchers' profile and it is an age of responsibility when many Aboriginal women are in the *grandmother* age taking on an overseeing role within the family and Aboriginal community. The similarity in profile of the researcher and participants may have provided a sense of comfort and safety among this cohort to be interviewed. Therefore it should be emphasised that this research does not make any claims to generalisability of the findings.

Initially it was uncertain whether lateral violence was an accepted term within the Aboriginal community given it may have been applied with little consultation. There was some opposition to the label of lateral violence that corresponded with the word violence which is a word that can attract scrutiny and victim blaming from the broader population. Despite this issue there was resounding agreement and verification of the acceptance of the label of lateral violence in both studies. This makes it consistent with other labels such as domestic, family and community violence which are readily used within the Aboriginal community. Lateral violence serves as an overarching label that is broader than other labels in that it can be perpetrated amongst any Aboriginal person whether they be in the family or local or national Aboriginal community. It is not only found in the community but also in other places such as the workplace and institutions. The study also revealed that whilst lateral violence can be perpetrated via physical behaviours, it is primarily described as being covert in nature. This is similar to modern or institutional forms of racism which are primarily covert and therefore easier to hide, deny or silence. If lateral violence remains an overarching term there is nothing to stop local labels being used, particularly those associated with prevention and healing initiatives. The examples of alternative terms, such as lateral love and lateral healing, have

provided positive ideals to move towards preventing lateral violence within Indigenous communities.

This framework also suggests there can be use of both insider and outsider approaches depending on the aims of the study. This study utilised primarily an insider approach undertaken by the primary researcher which advocated for the engagement, connection, exchange and deeper understanding of participants' contexts. This approach may have also facilitated a process of comfort and safety, and a possible factor for participants' motivations to be part of the study. As part of the Indigenous framework Aboriginal personnel were involved in the current research (first researcher, research assistant, workshop facilitators in study 2). Further the number of local Aboriginal participants who volunteered to be interviewed or attended a PLV workshop was both surprising and pleasing and says something about the willingness for voices to be heard, despite lateral violence appearing to be a sensitive and perhaps a hidden/difficult topic to disclose within Indigenous Islander communities. Like Martin (2003), I was amazed at the level of trust established with participants in both studies. I also attribute this trust to using a research framework informed by a relational ontology, epistemology and methodology. These have been identified as necessary conditions in the conduct of culturally sensitive and appropriate research with Aboriginal communities.

Aim 3: to explore a potential relationship between experiences of lateral violence with psychological distress and wellbeing. Firstly, the literature identifies how oppressive processes affect social and emotional wellbeing and mental health in the Aboriginal community.

Oppression which utilises processes of power and privilege to dominate is found in various settings, groups and professions worldwide. The literature indicates that concepts that derive via oppression will manifest similar destructive within-group behaviours. A parallel is the

example of lateral violence within an oppressed nursing profession. Oppression, in the form of racism towards Aboriginal people in Australia, has been prominent from colonisation and continues today along with intergenerational or collective trauma. It was well recognised by participants that racism and lateral violence were entwined. For example, the theme of *racism being at the heart of lateral violence* suggested a systemic process of *divide and conquer*. This is about dividing Aboriginal people, mainly through the dispersion of limited resources, which fosters competition and conflict. Hence the oppressed become the oppressors.

It has already been established that racism affects Aboriginal people's mental health as well as Aboriginal identity. In the past, identity was part of policies and procedures that categorised Aboriginal people's blood quantum from being full-blood Aboriginal to octaroons (nearly white). Today, identity is still based on notions of blood quantum, acculturation and/or acting white and affected by the questioning of authenticity by Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people. This has been shown in various forums such as academia, the media and the mainstream community (see chapter 4).

Intergenerational and collective trauma is intrinsically linked to ongoing oppression from colonisation. In study 1, those who scored high on the wellbeing scales (with high psychological distress and/ or a large number of stressors) also reported traumatic experiences of lateral violence. Given the discussions above, there appears a relational nature amongst racism, trauma, identity, wellbeing and lateral violence. This initially supports the hypothesis that lateral violence is a major impediment to identity and wellbeing in similar ways to trauma and racism.

Aim 4: to identify the need for an evaluation of the PLV workshops in the Aboriginal community in order to understand an evidence base of best practice, effective intervention strategies and the usefulness of the workshop as an intervention tool to prevent lateral violence over time. The importance of healing and educational intervention programs for Aboriginal people's wellbeing was highlighted in the literature. It was also specified that such Aboriginal intervention programs are rarely evaluated let alone published. Furthermore there are only a few workshops or interventions that specifically focus on lateral violence in the Aboriginal community in Australia, and no published evaluations were found in the literature in a systematic search. In South Australia, one-day PLV workshops have assisted many Aboriginal people to understand the complexities associated with lateral violence and its effects over time, as well as empower people to take action to prevent lateral violence. Consistent positive and constructive feedback from 2007 onwards has ensured its refinement, progression and continuation.

The evaluation of the PLV workshops incorporated two phases and the results from phase 1 supports the hypothesis that the PLV intervention was successful in changing participants' knowledge, attitudes and understanding of lateral violence. Across the two phases, the qualitative investigation into preventative measures identified that education, either formally or informally, was seen as key to change. Education which also incorporated self-awareness was viewed as an important change agent for responsibility and accountability of one's actions. It was also recommended that further awareness and community education beyond workshops take place to ensure a broader audience understand lateral violence through various mediums. Within the workplace it was emphasised that non-Aboriginal work colleagues and/or supervisors and managers may not understand lateral violence, take a hands-off approach and therefore not manage it well and/ or inadvertently perpetrate it.

Aim 5: to highlight resilience and strength from within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, in particular successful strategies to prevent the pervasiveness of lateral violence. Aboriginal people are often viewed in terms of a deficit discourse. This discourse and negative stereotypes are often reinforced by the multiple layers of disadvantage and disempowerment which in turn act as a source to maintain the stereotypes. Hence, awareness and education need to focus on the resilience of Aboriginal people with a recognition that Aboriginal people have the capability and capacity to prevent lateral violence within their communities, despite the continual forms of oppression which underpin lateral violence.

Information in relation to strategies for the prevention of lateral violence was a feature of both studies. Study 1 participants drew on potential prevention strategies and ways of coping to deal with lateral violence on a daily basis. Some examples include cultural connections, standing up to lateral violence, positive re-framing and avoiding lateral violence. Study 2 asked participants to draw on strategies after completing the PLV workshops. These included education, self-awareness and monitoring of the self, and challenging lateral violence to name a few. The strategies were practical and participants appeared to tap into their skills and abilities to actively tackle both lateral violence and racism (see Table 8.1).

Major implications and recommendations of the research

Several implications and recommendations can be drawn from the findings of this study which are summarised below.

First, it needs to be recognised and respected that Aboriginal participants predominately volunteered as a means to educate others about lateral violence across the two studies. As part

of the process there has been an endorsement of lateral violence as a label that represents infighting and/or broad based violence within the Aboriginal community. Further, lateral violence can be placed within a broader healing framework along with racism, trauma and wellbeing. This suggests that lateral violence can be tackled from a holistic perspective rather than by itself. Hopefully this means that it can be included in some of the major Aboriginal wellbeing surveys, such as the NATSIH survey. This survey periodically monitors and reports on Aboriginal health and wellbeing.

Second, the present research has identified a range of coping skills and prevention strategies that can educate and empower others to deal with lateral violence. Further education has been suggested as a form of self-awareness which has been the starting point for accountability of one's role and behavioural change. A broader educational campaign has been suggested along with resource materials and educational and healing workshops to nurture both individual and collective strengths of Aboriginal people.

Cultural safety or respect frameworks were recommended with appropriate guidelines and processes to ensure lateral violence prevention is embedded in organisations to safeguard resilience, empowerment, and greater wellbeing for Aboriginal people, which in turn can greatly add to an increased service to the community.

There were many recommendations for the progression and improvement of PLV workshops. For example, the workshops need to be followed-up for participants to maintain and build of prevention strategies; open to both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people who work extensively with Aboriginal people; and accessible and affordable for the Aboriginal community. Improved communication is needed to increase the dialogue between the

facilitators and the contact person for enquiries and to reassure potential participants. The development of a depository (website) where participants can download information prior to the workshops was also recommended.

Lastly, it will be important to ensure that any future workshops have inbuilt evaluation to continue to monitor quality and make any necessary changes to the workshops in the short and long term. This will provide a much needed evidence base which can potentially attract future and ongoing resources to ensure the Aboriginal community has access to resources.

In conclusion, this research adds to the clarification and understanding of lateral violence and substantially adds to the scant literature in this area. It is hoped that by further increasing awareness of lateral violence and its detrimental effects, effective intervention strategies and resources, such as the lateral violence workshops reported in this thesis, can be put in place to assist in empowering Aboriginal people and reduce the incidence of lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide and elsewhere.

Limitations

Several limitations associated with the research reported in this thesis should be emphasised. The broad-based exploratory research reported in study 1 constituted a first attempt to generate an in-depth dialogue with the Aboriginal community in Adelaide about a potentially sensitive topic. The participants who volunteered their time for this project were primarily female, between the ages of 41 to 50 years and well educated. Therefore further research, exploration and replication is needed on the topic of lateral violence with a more representative sample of Aboriginal people. Nonetheless the fact that 30 participants volunteered to take part in study 1 is indicative of the level of importance this issue has in the lives of Aboriginal people.

However, English was a second language for some participants which limited their full engagement with the project. For example, some were unable to fill out the wellbeing questionnaires. Therefore interpreters could be provided in future research to ensure wider participation.

There were rigorous efforts to recruit participants for the workshops by organisations but there were less participants than originally anticipated. The average number per workshop was 12, well below the 15 to 25 aimed for. Despite this, the overall number was sufficient for the study and surprisingly the smaller group arrangement appeared to bestow intimacy and comfort, which may have facilitated learning.

Although seven participants were adequate for the qualitative interviews in study 2, more volunteers might have produced richer data. Furthermore there may have been a self-selection bias as those who volunteered may have been those who mostly benefited and were positive about the workshops, as opposed to those who didn't benefit and therefore may have been deterred from volunteering. It would have been equally important to evaluate the information of those who potentially didn't benefit from the workshops in order to make necessary changes.

Further research

It can be argued that many of the findings and themes in this research about lateral violence will have some level of transferability to other Aboriginal communities in Australia outside of Adelaide. However, additional research and replication are required with supplementary documentation to determine this. Further discussion on the topic of lateral violence could serve to encourage conversations, attract resources, and empower Aboriginal people to develop

additional approaches towards the prevention of lateral violence within their families, workplaces and communities.

Currently, there is a scarcity of evaluation research in Australia that determines the benefits, impact and outcomes of healing and education interventions targeted toward Aboriginal people. The Productivity Commission has been critical of the fact that there are very few evaluations of Aboriginal policy and programs. The commission indicated that in Australian "of 1000 Indigenous specific initiatives, the commission – backed by all governments – could only find 34 properly evaluated and effective case studies and that these need to be released publically" (Hunter, p. 3). It may be that "properly" evaluated programs constitute an evidence based practice which is often linked to quantitative evaluations (see Day & Francisco, 2013). It seems that for evaluations of Aboriginal programs a preference for holistic approaches by Aboriginal people appear prominent and may not be deemed proper or evidence based. Hence it is important that evidence based practices are culturally appropriate and integrated into Indigenous research and evaluation methods to ensure there is a baseline to measure improvements and needs over time. An evidence based approach means different things to different people or communities.

Evaluation research needs to be part of a holistic and relational process and considered within an Indigenous methodology. This means that such an approach must ensure that participants are the subjects of their experiences and not the objects of research. It needs to be an inclusive process that integrates participants' knowledge into the research so that it is useful and not taken out of cultural context. It needs to also be a process that focuses on the positive aspects of Aboriginal culture and resiliency. It may also need to be considered along with other forms of empowerment evaluation research such as *community oriented research*, *collaborative*

research (e.g. Healing foundation, 2012) and post-colonial research (e.g. Baker2012; Ramone, 2011).

Nevertheless, the current two-phase evaluation used in this study has provided a robust approach to program evaluation including both objective and insider (subjective) approaches to validate outcomes. However, in order to ensure rigour and quality assurance, the evaluation needs to be an ongoing process with a large pool of information over time. Furthermore a questionnaire with standardised and validated questions could be developed to capture aspects of lateral violence. This can be used to ensure a baseline to determine changes over time and across organisations, communities and other settings that promote an evidence based focus. A good starting point could be to use some of the items within the evaluation survey, information from the themes, particularly on coping and resiliency, as well as to explore other surveys such as the standardised LVNS (developed by Stanley et al., 2007b) in order to develop a survey to use within the Aboriginal community in Australia.

References

Aboriginal Male Health Summit. (2008). The INTEYERRKWE statement. *Indigenous Law Bulletin*, 7 (7), 1-4. Retrieved from http://www.ilc.unsw.edu.au/publicationsfilb

Amery, R. (2016). Warraparna Kaurna! Reclaiming an Australian language. Adelaide: University of Adelaide Press.

Arbon, V. (2008). Arlathirnda ngurkarnda ityirnda: being-knowing doing: de-colonising Indigenous tertiary education. Teneriffe, Qld: Post Pressed.

Atkinson, J. (2002). Trauma trails, recreating song lines. Chicago: Spinifex.

Atkinson, J., Nelson, J., & Atkinson, C. (2010). Trauma, transgenerational transfer and effects on community wellbeing. In Purdie, Dudgeon and Walker (Eds.), *Working together:*Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander mental health and wellbeing principles and practice (first edition) (pp.135-144). Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

Augoustinos, M., Tuffin, K., & Every, D. (2005). New racism, meritocracy & individualism. *Discourse in Society*, 16(3), 315-340. doi: 10.1177/10957926505051168

Augoustinos, M., Walker, I. & Donaghue, N. (2014). *Social cognition: An integrated introduction*, 3rd edition. London: Sage.

Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). (2008, Oct 01). *National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Survey*. Canberra: AGPS.

Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). (2009, June 30) Experimental life tables for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians, 2005–2007: New estimates of Indigenous life expectancy released. Canberra: ABS. Retrieved from http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/Previousproducts/3302.0.55.003Media%20Rele ase120052007?opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=3302.0.55.003&issue=20052007 & num=&view=

Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). (2016, May 09). *Australian Aboriginal and Torres*Strait Islander health survey: First results, Australia, 2012-13. Retrieved from

http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/9F3C9BDE98B3C5F1CA257C2F00145721

?opendocument

Australian Government: Department of Prime Minister and Cabinet (2015, March 10). Indigenous advancement strategy. Retrieved from https://www.dpmc.gov.au/indigenous-affairs/indigenous-advancement-strategy

Australian Human Rights Commission (AHRC). (2006). *Ending family violence and abuse in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities – Key issues*. Canberra: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner.

Australian Human Rights Commission (AHRC). (2011a). Towards a reconciled Australia: An agenda of hope. *Social Justice Report 2010*. Canberra: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner.

Australian Human Rights Commission (AHRC). (2011b). *Social Justice Report 2011*. Canberra: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner.

Australian Human Rights Commission (AHRC). (2012). *Social Justice Report 2012*. Canberra: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner.

Australian Indigenous Psychologists Association (AIPA) (2016, June 1) *Cultural competence workshops*. Retrieved from http://www.indigenouspsychology.com.au

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2009, Sept 19). *Measuring the social and emotional wellbeing of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples*. Retrieved from http://www.ahhw.gov.au

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2015, Oct 01). *The health and welfare of Australia's Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples*. Retrieved from http://www.aihw.gov.au/publication-detail/?id=60129550168

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2016, June 01). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health organisations: Online services report – key results 2014-2015. Retrieved from http://www.aihw.gov.au/publication-detail/?id=60129554783

Awofeso, N. (2011). Racism: a major impediment to optimal Indigenous health and health care in Australia. *Australian Indigenous Health Bulletin*, 11(3). Retrieved from http://healthbulletin.org.au/articles/racism-a-major-impediment-to-optimal-indigenous-health-and-health-care-in-australia

Babacan, H. (2008). *Addressing denial: the first step in responding to racism*. Proceedings of the Second International Conference on Racisms in the New World Order, 6-7 December 2007, Pelican Waters, QLD, Australia.

Baker, J. (2012). Theorising survival. Brisbane: Post Pressed.

Bakker, A., & Costa, P. (2014). Chronic job burnout and daily functioning: A theoretical analysis. *Burnout Research*, 1, 112-119. doi: 10.1016j.burn.2014.04.003

BearPaw Media Productions (2006, Oct 1). *Lateral violence [DVD]*. Alberta Law Foundation and Native Counselling Services of Alberta. Retrieved from http://www.bearpaweducation.ca/videos/lateral-violence

Bennett, B. (2014). How do light-skinned Aboriginal Australians experience racism?

Implications for social work. *Alternative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*10(2), 180-192. Retrieved from

http://web.a.ebscohost.com.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/ehost/detail/sid=41b7a6e4-1ba4-44e9-9e93-

e3304809f196%40sessionmgr4007&vid=0&hid=4201&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZSZ zY29wZT1zaXRl#AN=96263349&db=anh

Bennett-Levy, J., Wilson, S., Nelson, J., Stirling, J., Ryan, K. Rotumah, D., Budden, W., & Beale, D. (2014). Can CBT be effective for Aboriginal Australians? Perspectives of Aboriginal practitioners trained in CBT. *Australian Psychologist*, 49(1), 1-7. doi: 10.1111/ap.12025

Biglan, A., Ary, D., & Wagenaar, A. (2000). The value of interrupted time-series experiments for community intervention research. *Prevention Science*, 1(1), 31-49. doi: 10.1023/A:1010024016308

Bin-Sallik, M. (2003). Cultural safety: let's name it! *Australian Journal of Indigenous Education*; 32, 21-28. Retrieved from

http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=135740;res=AEIPT> ISSN: 1326-0111.

Blair, P. (2013). Lateral violence in nursing. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 39(5), e75-78. doi: 10.1177/0894318414558614

Bolt, A. (2009, August 21). The new tribe of white blacks [Column]. *Herald Sun*. Retrieved from http://www.heraldsun.com.au/blogs/andrew-bolt/column--the-new-tribe-of-white-blacks/news-story/2084e333d698f20fafd8b0a3f88c77b4

Bombay, A. (2014). Origins of lateral violence in Aboriginal communities: A preliminary study of student-to-student abuse in residential schools. Canada: Aboriginal Healing Foundation.

Botha, L. (2011). Mixing methods as a process towards Indigenous methodologies. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 14(4), 313-325. doi: 10.1080/13645579.2010

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research* in *Psychology*, *3*, 77-101. doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners. London: Sage.

Brooks, S. (2015, March 13) Federal government funding cuts 'possibly and oversight': NT Indigenous group. *ABC News*. Retrieved from http://www.abc.net.au/news/2015-03-13/funding-cuts-for-youth-must-be-an-oversight-indigenous-group/6315114

Brough, M., Bond, C., Shannon, C., & Schubert, L. (2006). Social capital meets identity: Aboriginality in an urban setting. *Journal of Sociology*, 42 (4), 396-411. doi: 10.1177/1440783306069996

Bulman, J., & Hayes, R. (2011). Mibbinbah and spirit healing: Fostering safe, friendly spaces for Indigenous males in Australia. *International Journal of Men's Health*, 10(1), 6-25. doi: 10.3149/jmh.1001.6

Burrell, J., Winston, C., & Freeman, K. (2012). Race-acting: The varied and complex affirmative meaning of "acting Black" for African-American adolescents. *Culture and Psychology*, 19(1), 95-116. doi: 10.1177/1354067X12464981

Cameron, L. (2010). Using the arts as a therapeutic tool for counselling – an Australian Aboriginal perspective. *Procedia Social and Behavioural Sciences*, 5, 4013-407. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.07.112

Cameron, M., Andersson, N., McDowell, I., & Ledogar, R. J. (2010). Culturally safe epidemiology: Oxymoron of scientific imperative. Pimatisiwin: *A Journal of Aboriginal and Indigenous Community Health*, 8(2), 89-116. Retrieved from http://www.pimatisiwin.com/online/?page_id=773

Carpenter, C. (2010). Phenomenology and rehabilitation research. In P. Liamputtong (Ed.), *Research methods in health: Foundations in evidence-based practice* (pp.123-139). Australia: Oxford University Press.

Ceravolo, D., Schwartz, D., Foltz-Ramos, K., & Castner, J. (2012). Strengthening communication to overcome lateral violence. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 20, 599-606. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2834.2012.01402

Chameleon strategies. (2016, May 12). *Lateral violence in Aboriginal communities*. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3Tg_Jt3lNdM

Chun, C., Moos, R. H., & Cronkite, R. C. (2006). Culture: A fundamental context for the stress and coping paradigm. *Handbook on multicultural perspectives on stress and coping*. Dordrech: Springer.

Clark, Y. (2000). The construction of Aboriginal identity in people separated from their families, community and culture: pieces of a jigsaw. *Australian Psychologist*, 35(2), 150-157. doi:10.1080/00050060008260337

Clark, Y., Glover, K. and Butler, S. (2014). *Preventing Lateral Violence* [Workshop Flyer]. Adelaide.

Clark, Y., & Augoustinos, M. (2015). What's in a name? Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia. *The Australian Community Psychologist*, 27(2), 27-42. Retrieved from https://groups.psychology.org.au/Assets/Files/ACP-27-2-2015-ClarkandAugoustinos.pdf

Clark, Y., Augoustinos, M., & Malin, M. (2016). Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide: It affects our identity and wellbeing. *Journal of Indigenous Wellbeing, Te Mauri-Pimatisiwin*, 1(1), 43-52. Retrieved from http://journalindigenouswellbeing.com/category/volume/issue1/

Clark, Y., Augoustinos, M., & Malin, M. (in press). Coping and prevention of lateral violence in the Aboriginal community in Adelaide.

Coffin, J., Larson, A., & Cross, D. (2010). Bullying in an Aboriginal context. *Australian Journal of Indigenous Education*, 39, 77-87. doi: 10.1375/S1326011100000934

Cook, S. (2012). Lateral violence is an Indigenous Arts thing. *Artlink*, volume 32 (2). Retrieved from www.artlink.com.au

Coyne, D. (2011, November, 30). Violence is an issue we must address: Gooda. *Koori Mail*, 515, pp 11. Retrieved from https://www.koorimail.com

Cunningham, J., & Paradies, Y. (2012). Socio-demographic factors and psychological distress in Indigenous and non-Indigenous Australian adults aged 18-64 years: Analysis of national survey data. *BMC Public Health*, 12:95. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-95

Dahlby, M., & Henrich, L. (2014). Evaluating an educational intervention on lateral violence. The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing, 45(8), 344-350. doi:10.3928/00220124-20140724-15

Day, A., & Francisco, A. (2013). Social and emotional wellbeing in Indigenous Australians: Identifying promising interventions. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 37(4). doi: 10.1111/1753-6405.12083

Derrick, J. (2006). *Lateral violence* [handout]. Four Winds Wellness and Education Centre. British Columbia, Canada. Retrieved from http://www.4windswellness.ca/

Dobia, B., & O'Rourke, V. (2011). Promoting the mental health and wellbeing of Indigenous children in Australian primary schools. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

Dudgeon, P. (2000). Violence turned inwards. In Dudgeon, Garvey & Picket (Eds.) *Working with Indigenous Australians: A handbook for psychologists*, (pp. 69-84). Western Australia: Gunada Press.

Dudgeon, P. (2007). *Mothers of sin: Aboriginal women's perception of their identity and sexuality*. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation) School of Psychology, Murdoch University, WA.

Dudgeon, P., & Kelly, K. (2014). Contextual factors for research on psychological therapies for Aboriginal Australians. *Australian Psychologist*, 49(1), 8-13. doi: 10.1111/ap.12030

Dudgeon, P., Milroy, H., & Walker, R. (2014). The boatshed racism roundtable declaration. Working Together: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mental Health and Wellbeing principles and practice (2nd edition) (pp. 575-576). Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

Dudgeon, P., Walker, R., Scrine, C., Cox, K., D'Anna, D., Dunkley, C., Kelly, K., & Hams, K. (2014). Enhancing wellbeing, empowerment, healing and leadership. In P. Dudgeon, H. Milroy & R. Walker (Eds.), *Working Together: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mental Health and Wellbeing principles and practice* (2nd edition) (pp. 437-448). Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

Dudgeon, P., Rickwood, D., Garvey, D. & Gridley, H. (2014). A history of Indigenous psychology. In P. Dudgeon, H. Milroy & R. Walker (Eds.), *Working Together: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mental Health and Wellbeing Principles and Practice* (2nd edition) (pp. 39-55). Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

Dulaney, P., Jacobs, D., & Zager, L. (2010). Leaders-stopping lateral violence begins with you: lessons learned. *South Carolina Nurse*, 17 (1). Retrieved from

http://go.galegroup.com.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/ps/i.do?id=GALE%7CA241626838&v=2.1&u=adelaide&it=r&p=AONE&sw=w&asid=417692eff13902e1f5645087f3170be4>

Equay-Wuk. (2012, January 5) *What is lateral violence?* [Online handout]. Retrieved from http://www.equaywuk.ca/HFHNDVT/WhatIsLateralViolence.pdf

Evans-Campbell, T. (2008). Historical trauma in American/Indian Native Alaskan communities: A multilevel framework for exploring impacts on individuals, families and community. *Journal of Emotional Violence*, 23, 316-338. doi: 10.1177/0886260507312290

Fanon, F. (1963). The wretched of the earth. New York: Gove Press.

Fanon, F. (1967). Black skins white masks. New York: Grove Press

Fforde, C., Bamblett, R., Lovett, R., Gorringe, S., & Fogarty, B. (2013). Discourse, deficit and identity: Aboriginality, the race paradigm and the language of representation in contemporary Australia. *Media International Australia*, 149, 162-173. Retrieved from http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary

Finnane, M. (2001). Payback, customary law and criminal law in colonised Australia. *International Journal of the Sociology of Law*, 29, 293-310. doi:10.1006/ijsl.2001.0153

Fischer, P., Ai, A. L., Aydin, N., Frey, D., & Haslam, S. A. (2010). The relationship between religious identity and preferred coping strategies: An examination of the relative importance of

interpersonal and intrapersonal coping in Muslim and Christian faiths. *Review of General Psychology*, 14, 365-381. doi: 10.1037/a0021624

Fischer, P., Greitemeyer, T., Kastenmuller, A., Krueger, J., Vogrincic, C., & Frey, D. (2011). The Bystander-Effect: A meta-analytic review on bystander intervention in dangerous and non-dangerous emergencies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 137(4), 517-537. doi: 10.1037/a0023304

Fordham, S. and Ogbu, J. (1986). Black students school success: Copying with the burden of 'acting white'. *Urban Review*, 18(3), 176-206. doi: 10.1007/BF01112192

Frankland, R., Lewis, P., Trotter, R. (2010). *This is forever business: A framework for maintaining and restoring cultural safety in Aboriginal Victoria*. Victoria: Victorian Aboriginal Child Care Agency.

Fredericks, B. (2006). A counselling journey to health, healing and empowerment. *Aboriginal and Islander Health Worker Journal*, 30(3), 30-31. Retrieved from http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=227973810
557242;res=IELAPA ISSN: 1037-3403

Fredericks, B. (2007). Utilising the concept of pathways as a framework for Indigenous research. *The Australian Journal of Indigenous Education*, 36, 15-22. Retrieved from ">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au.fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au.fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au.fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au.fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search.informit.com.au.fullText;dn=166111;res=AEIPT>">http://search

Freire, P. (1970). *Pedagogy of the oppressed*. New York: Herder and Herder

Gallaher, G., Ziersch, A., Baum, F., Bentley, M., Palmer, C., Edmonson, W., & Winslow, L. (2009). *In our own backyard: Urban Health inequalities of Aboriginal experiences of neighbourhood life and social capital and racism*. Adelaide: Flinders University.

Gee, G., Dudgeon, P., Schultz, C., Hart, A., & Kelly, K. (2014). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social and Emotional Wellbeing. In P. Dudgeon, H. Milroy & R. Walker (Eds.), Working together: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander mental health and wellbeing principles and practice (2nd edition) (pp. 55-68). Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

Gelber, K., & McNamara, L. (2013). Freedom of speech and racial vilification in Australia: the Bolt case in public discourse. *Australian Journal of Political Science*, 48(4), 470-484. doi:10.1080/10361146.2013.842540

Georganta, K., Panagopoulou, F., & Montgomery, A. (2014). Talking behind their backs: Negative gossip and burnout in hospitals. *Burnout Research*, (1), 76-81. doi:10.1016/j.burn.2014.07.003

Glover, M., Dudgeon, P. & Huygens, I. (2005). Colonization and racism. In G. Nelson and I. Prilleltensky (Eds.). *Community Psychology: In Pursuit of Liberation and Well-being*, 330-344. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Gooda, M. (2011, June 2). Native title processes can pit groups against each other. *Australian Human Rights commission e-news*. Retrieved from http://wwwlhreoc.gov.au/about/media/news/2011/47_.html

Gooda, M. (2011, Oct 24) Indigenous communities must address lateral violence. *Australian Human Rights commission e-news*. Retrieved from http://humanrights.gov.au/about/media/2011/98_11.html

Gorringe, S., Ross, J., & Fforde, C. (2009). Will the real Aborigine please stand up?: Strategies for breaking the stereotypes and changing the conversation. *AIATSIS Research Discussion*Paper 28. Canberra: AITSIS.

Gottlieb, B. H., & Bergen, A. E. (2010) Social support concepts and measures. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 69, 511-520. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsycores.2009.10.001

Grantham, T., & Biddle, W. (2014). From bystander to up stander teacher for gifted black students accused of acting white. *Gifted Child Today*, 37(3), 178-187. doi: 10.1177/1076217514530117

Green, S., Davis, C., Karshmer, E., Marsh, P., & Straight, B. (2005). Living stigma: The impact of labelling, stereotyping, separation, status loss and discrimination in the lives of individuals with disabilities and their families. *Sociological Inquiry*, 75, 197-215. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-682X.2005.00119.x

Grey Literature Network Service. (2016, November 20). *Grey literature*. Retrieved from http://www.greynet.org/home.html

Healing Foundation. (2012). Why Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander healing services are a good investment for business and industry. Retrieved from http://healingfoundation.org.au/wordpress/wp- content/files mf/1377573582compressedwhyhealingservicesareagoodinvestment.pdf.

Hofstedt, G. (1980). *Culture's consequences: International differences in work related values.*London: Sage.

Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission (HREOC). (1997). *Bringing them Home:*National Inquiry into the Separation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Children from their Families. Sydney: Commonwealth of Australia.

Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission (HREOC). (2006). *Ending family violence* and abuse in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities – key issues. Canberra:

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Justice Commissioner. Retrieved from www.humanrights.gov.au/social_justice/familyviolence/

Hunter, F. (2016, November 17). Productivity Commission slams lack of policy evaluation as Indigenous incarceration sours. *The Sydney Morning Herald*. Retrieved from http://www.smh.com.au/federal-politics/political-news/productivity-commission-slams-lack-of-policy-evaluation-as-indigenous-incarceration-soars-20161116-gsqrtp.html

Hurworth, R., & Harvey, G. (2012, August 07). Indigenous evaluation: An editorial review. Evaluation Journal of Australasia, 12(1), 2-5. Retrieved from http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=188586858 119118;res=IELAPA

Jones, C. (2000). Levels of racism: A theoretical framework and a gardener's tale. *American Journal of Public Health*, 90(8), 1212-1215. Retrieved from http://ajph.aphapublications.org.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/doi/pdf/10.2105/AJPH.90.8.1212

Katz, I., Newton, B., Bates, S., & Raven, M. (2016). *Evaluation theories and approaches:*Relevance for Aboriginal contexts. Sydney: Social Policy Research Centre, UNSW Australia.

Kelly, K., Dudgeon, P., Gee, G., & Glaskin, B. (2009). Living on the Edge: Social and Emotional Wellbeing and Risk and Protective Factors for Serious Psychological Distress among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander People. *Discussion Paper No. 10*. Darwin: Cooperative Research Centre for Aboriginal Health.

Kerin, L. (2015, March 6). Too many Indigenous organisations have missed out on government funding: Labour. *ABC News*. Retrieved from http://www.abc.net.au/am/content/2015/s4192240.htm

Koorreen Enterprises. (2015, January 5). *Lateral violence*. Retrieved from http://koorreen.com.au/lateral-violence/

Kornar Winmil Yunti (2016, May 12). *Aboriginal lateral violence – pathways to healing*.

Retrieved from http://kwy.org.au/resource-list/aboriginal-lateral-violence-pathways-to-healing/

Kovach, M. (2009). *Indigenous methodologies: Characteristics, conversations and contexts*. Canada: University of Toronto Press.

Kowal, E., Gunthorpe, W., & Bailie, R. (2007). Measuring emotional and social wellbeing in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander populations: An analysis of the negative life events scale. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 6-18. doi: 10.1186/1475-9276-6-18

Krieg, A. (2009). The experience of collective trauma in Australian Indigenous communities. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 17(1), 28-32. doi: 10.1080/10398560902948621

Kuo, B. C. (2011). Culture's consequences on coping: Theories, evidences and dimensionalities. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 42(6), 1084-1100. doi: 10.1177/0022022110381126

Kuo, B. C. (2013). Collectivism and coping: Current theories, evidence and measurements of collective coping. *International Journal of Psychology*, 48(3), 374-388. doi: 10.1080/00207594.2011.640681

Kweykwayconsulting. (2016, May 12). *Building stronger, more connected first nations communities*. Retrieved fromhttp://www.kweykway.ca/

Langton, M. (2008). The end of 'big men' politics (essay). *Griffith Review 22*. Retrieved from http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=200812537;res=IELAPA

Lateral love. (2014, January 3). *Lateral love*. Retrieved from https://lateralloveaustralia.com/

Lawrie, W. (2010). *Shame* [educational handout]. Adelaide, South Australia. Unpublished raw data.

Link, B., & Phelan, J. (2001). Conceptualizing stigma. Annual. *Review of Sociology*, 27(1), 363-85. doi: 10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.363

Link, B., & Phelan, J. (2014). Stigma power, *Social Science & Medicine*, 103, 24-32. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.07.035

Lumby, B. (2010). Cyber-Indigeneity: Urban Indigenous identity on Facebook. *Australian Journal of Indigenous Education*, 39, 68-75. doi: 10.1375/S132601110000115075.

Lumby, B., & Farrelly, T. (2009). Family violence, help-seeking and the close-knit Aboriginal community: Lessons for mainstream service provision, *Issues paper 19*, Australian Domestic and Family Violence Clearinghouse.

Lundy, G. F. (2003). The myths of oppositional culture. *Journal of Black Studies*, 33(4), 450-467. doi: 10.1177/0021934702250024

McCalman, J., & James, M. (2006). *The Empowerment Research Program: An Overview*.

Queensland School of Indigenous Australian Studies and School of Public Health and Tropical University and School of Population Health, University of Queensland.

Machackova, H., Dedkova, L., & Mezulanikova, K. (2015). Brief report: The bystander effect in cyberbullying incidents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 43, 96-99. doi: doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2015.05.010

Mackean, Tamara. (2009). A healed and healthy country: Understanding healing for Indigenous Australians. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 190(10), 522-523. doi: 10.1.1.183.6134&rep=rep1&type=pdf.

McInerney, M. (2015, March 16). Unfair and arbitrary. Is the only thing new in the Indigenous Advancement Strategy a new round of massive funding cuts. *Croakey: the crikey health blog*. Retrieved from < http://blogs.crikey.com.au/croakey/2015/03/16/unfair-and-arbitrary-is-the-only-thing-new-in-the-indigenous-advancement-strategy-a-new-round-of-a-massive-funding-cuts/>

McKendrick, R., Hudson, J., Thorpe, M., & Bennett, P. (2013). *Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander healing programs: A literature review*. Canberra: Healing Foundation.

McMurray, A. (2011). Editorial: Naming and framing Indigenous health issues. *Contemporary Nurse* 37(1), 35-38. doi: 10.1080/10376178.2011.11002488

Malezer, L. (2012). Challenges in evaluating Indigenous policy. In Productivity Commission.

Better Indigenous policies: the role of evaluation- roundtable process (pp. 69-79).

Commonwealth of Australia. Retrieved from http://www.pc.gov.au/research/supporting/better-indigenous-policies/better-indigenous-policies.pdf

Markiewicz, A. (2012). Close the gap through respect, relevancy, reciprocity and responsibility: Issues in the evaluation progress for Indigenous communities in Australia.

Evaluation Journal of Australasia, 12(1), 19-25. Retrieved from

http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=188624124

061634;res=IELAPA

Martin, K. L. (2003). Ways of knowing, being and doing: A theoretical framework and methods for Indigenous and Indigenist research. *Journal of Australian Studies*, 27(76), 203-214. doi: 10.1080/14443050309387838

Mellor, D. (2003). Contemporary racism in Australia: The experience of Aborigines.

Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 29(4), 474-486. doi: 10.1177/0146167202250914

Mellor, D. (2004). Responses to racism: A taxonomy of coping styles used by Aboriginal Australians. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 74(1), 56-71. doi: 10.1037/0002-9432-74.1.56

Merritt, S. (2007). An Aboriginal perspective on resilience [online]. *Aboriginal and Islander Health Worker Journal*, 31(5), 10-12. Retrieved from http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=956392555 http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=956392555 <a href="https://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=956392555]

Milroy, H., Dudgeon, P., & Walker, R. (2014). Community life and development programs – pathways to healing. In P. Dudgeon, H. Milroy & R. Walker (Eds.), *Working together:*

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander mental health and wellbeing principles and practice (2nd edition) (pp. 419-436). Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

Montgomery, H. (2014). The internet: The benefits, problems and legal difficulties for Indigenous Australians. *Indigenous Law Bulletin*, 8(14), 19-23. Retrieved from http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=767446003
http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=767446003

Moore, T. (2008). Identity politics: The elephant in the room at the Cape York Institute's inaugural conference. *Australian Journal of Political Science*, 43(4), 649-665. doi: 10.1080/10361140802429262

Moore, T. (2009). Problematizing identity: Governance, politics and the 'making of the Aborigines'. *Journal of Australian Studies*, 27:80, 177-188. doi: 10.1080/14443050309387924

Morgan, M. (2015, March 10) Frustration as competitive Indigenous funding results released. SBS. Retrieved from < http://www.sbs.com.au/news/article/2015/03/10/frustration-competitive-indigenous-funding-results-released>

Moscovici, S. (1988) Notes towards a description of social representation. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 18, 211-250. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.2420180303

Nakata, M. (2007). The cultural interface. *Australian Journal of Indigenous Education*, 36(s), 7-14. Retrieved from

"> (http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/fullText;dn=166110;res=AEIPT>"> (http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au.proxy.library.a

ISSN: 1326-0111

National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (NACCHO). (2015, March 25). *NACCHO \$ funding update : #IAS Indigenous Advancement Strategy funding list revealed*. Retrieved from http://nacchocommunique.com/2015/03/25/naccho-funding-update-ias-indigenous-advancement-strategy-funding-list-revealed/

NACCHO. (2016, March 18). NACCHO Indigenous Advancement Strategy report: Abbott-era indigenous cuts went too far, Senate inquiry. Retrieved from

https://nacchocommunique.com/2016/03/18/naccho-indigenous-advancement-strategy-report-abbott-era-indigenous-cuts-went-too-far-senate-inquiry/

National Indigenous Unit of National Tertiary Education Union (NTEU). (2011) *I'm not racist but: Report on cultural respect, racial discrimination, lateral violence and related policy at Australia's Universities.* Victoria: NTEU.

Native Counselling Services of Alberta (NCSA). (2008, January 4). *Lateral violence*. Retrieved from http://www.ncsa.ca/

Native Women's Association of Canada (NWAC). (2015, January 4) *Aboriginal lateral violence*. Retrieved from www.nwac.ca

Neto, Y. F, & Pedersen, A. (2013). No time like the present: Determinants of intentions to engage in bystander anti-racism on behalf of Indigenous Australians. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology*, 7(1) 36-49. doi: 10.1017/prp.2013.4

Ngugi, Wa. Thiong'O. (1998). Decolonising the mind. *Dogenes*, 46(184), 101-104. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/039219219804618409

Office of the Registrar of Indigenous Corporations (ORIC). (2010). *Analysing key characteristics in Indigenous corporate failure:* Research Paper. Australian Government: Author.

Panzironi, F. (2013). *Hand-in-hand: Report on Aboriginal traditional medicine*. ANTAC. Retrieved from http://www.antac.org.au

Paradies, Y. (2006a). Beyond black and white: Essentialism, hybridity and Indigeneity. *Journal of Sociology*, 42(4), 355-367: doi: 10.1177/1440783306069993

Paradies, Y. (2006b). A systemic review of empirical research on self-reported racism and health. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 35(4), 888-90. doi:10.1093/ije/dyl056

Paradies, Y., & Cunningham, J. (2012). The DRUID study: Racism and self-assessed health status in an Indigenous population. *BMC Public Health*, 12(131), 1-12. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-131

Pedersen, A., & Walker, I. (1997). Prejudice against Australian Aborigines: Old fashioned and modern forms. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 27(5), 561-587.

doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-0992(199709/10)

Peeters, B. (2003). The tall poppy syndrome: On the re-emergence in contemporary Australia of an ancient Greek and Latin motive. *Classicvm*, vol. xx1x.2, 22-26.

Peeters, B. (2004). "Thou shalt not be a tall poppy": Describing an Australian communicative (and behavioural) norm. *Intercultural Pragmatics*, 1, 71-92.

Peterson, C. (2015, March 14) Tony Abbott shuts down Aboriginal legal service. *Green Left Weekly*. Retrieved from https://www.greenleft.org.au/node/58510

Phelan, J., Link, B., & Dovidio, J. (2008). Stigma and prejudice: One animal or two? *Social Science and Medicine* 67, 358-367. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.022

Phinney, J. S., & Chavira, V. (1992). Ethnic identity and self-esteem: An exploratory longitudinal study. *Journal of Adolescence*, 15(3), 271-281. doi: 10.1016/0140-1971(92)90030-9

Powell, T., Ross, R., Kickett, D., & Donnelly, J. (2014). Red Dust Healing: Acknowledging the past, changing the future. In P. Dudgeon, H. Milroy & R. Walker (Eds.), *Working Together: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mental Health and Wellbeing Principles and Practice* (2nd edition) (pp. 459-474). Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

Posner, E. Spier, K., & Vermeule, A. (2009). *Divide and conquer: Discussion paper no.639*. Harvard. Retrieved from

http://www.law.harvard.edu/programs/olin_center/papers/pdf/Vermeule_639.pdf

Pratt, G. (2007). Reflections of an Indigenous counsellor: Sharing the journey- therapist and person? *Australasian Psychiatry*, 15, 54-57. doi: 10.1080/10398560701701205

Price, B. (2009). I have seen violence toward women every day of my life. *Australian Feminist Law Journal*, 30, 149-150. doi:10.1080/13200968.2009.10854420

Price, M., McCoy, B. & Mafi, S. (2012). Progressing the dialogue about a framework for Aboriginal evaluations: Sharing methods and key learnings. *Evaluation Journal of Australia*. 12, 32-37. Retrieved from

http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=188661390 004151;res=IELNZC

Productivity Commission. (2012). *Better Indigenous policies: the role of evaluation-roundtable process*. Commonwealth of Australia. Retrieved from http://www.pc.gov.au/research/supporting/better-indigenous-policies/better-indigenous-policies.pdf

Quinn, K. (2011, September 28). Bolt loses high-profile race case. *The Age*, Victoria. Retrieved from http://www.theage.com.au/victoria/bolt-loses-highprofile-race-case-20110928-
http://www.theage.com.au/victoria/bolt-loses-highprofile-race-case-20110928-

Radoll, P. (2014). Cyber-safety and Indigenous youth. *Indigenous Law Bulletin*, 8(12), 11-14. Retrieved from

http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=398420008 048698;res=IELAPA> ISSN: 1328-5475.

Ramone, J. (2011). Postcolonial theories. New York: Palgrave MacMillan

Ratnavale, D. (2007). An understanding of Aboriginal experience in the context of collective trauma: A challenge for healing. Report to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mental Health Services. Adelaide: Central Northern area health service.

Reconciliation Australia. (2015a). *Australia Reconciliation Barometer 2014*. Sydney: Polity Press.

Reconciliation Australia. (2015b, July 13) *Five fast facts: the Aboriginal tent embassy*.

Retrieved from: https://www.reconciliation.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/Five-Fast-Facts-Tent-embassy.pdf

Riggs, D. (2007). *Taking up the challenge: Critical race and whiteness studies in a postcolonial nation*. Adelaide: Crawford House Publishing.

Rigney, L. (1999a). A first perspective of Indigenous Australian participation in science: Framing Indigenous research towards Indigenous Australian intellectual sovereignty. Paper presented at Chacmool Conference, University of Calgary, Alberta, Canada.

Rigney, L. (1999b). Internationalization of an Indigenous anticolonial cultural critique of research methodologies: A guide to Indigenist research methodology and its principles. *Wicazo Sa Review*, 14(2), 109-121. doi: 10.2307/1409555

Roberts, S., Demarco, R. & Griffin, M. (2009). The effect of oppressed group behaviours on the culture of the nursing workplace: A review of evidence and interventions for change. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 17, 288-293. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2834.2008.00959.x

Roche, A., Duraisingam, V., Trifonoff, A., & Tovell, A. (2013). The health and wellbeing of Indigenous drug and alcohol workers: Results from a national Australian survey. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 44, 17-26. .doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2012.01.009

Roe, Joe. (2010) Ngarlu: A cultural and spiritual strengthening model. In N. Purdie, P. Dudgeon and R. Walker (Eds.), *Working together: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander mental health and wellbeing principles and practice* (pp. 345-352). Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

Rogers, M. (2012). Contexualizing theories and practices of Bricolage research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(48), 1-17. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol17/iss48/3

Rosewarne, C. (2009). Finding your voice: Placing and sourcing an Aboriginal health organisation's published and grey literature. *Australian Aboriginal Studies*, (1), 42-53.

Retrieved

from:http://web.b.ebscohost.com.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/ehost/detail/vid=0&sid=a 8917e14-72c9-434e-ab52-

68f4dfb8182e%40sessionmgr1&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZSZzY29wZT1zaXRl#AN =43609780&db=a2h

Roy, A. (2014). Aboriginal worldviews and epidemiological survey methodology: Overcoming incongruence. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches*, 81(1), 117-128. doi:10.5172/mra.2014.8.1.117

Roy, J. (2007, Dec 06). Horizontal violence. *Advance for nurses*. Retrieved from http://nursing.advanceweb.com/Article/Horizontal-Violence.aspx

Ryan, F. (2015, March 16). Aboriginal people and lateral violence. Retrieved from http://felicityryan.com.au/portfolio_page/aboriginal-people-lateral-violence/

Schofield, M., & Knauss, C. (2010). Surveys and questionnaires in health research. In P. Liamputtong (Ed.), *Research methods in health: Foundations in evidence-based practice*, (pp. 213-236). Australia: Oxford University Press.

Schultz, C. (2013). *Aboriginal Shame* [worksheet Notes]. AIPA cultural competency workshop, Cairns 29-30th April 2013.

Schultz, C., Walker, R., Bessarab, D., McMillan, F., MacLeod, J. & Marriot, R. (2014). Inter-disciplinary care to enhance mental health and social and emotional wellbeing. In P. Dudgeon, H. Milroy & R. Walker (Eds.), *Working Together: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander*Mental Health and Wellbeing Principles and Practice (2nd edition) (221-242). Canberra:

Commonwealth of Australia.

Smallacombe, S. (2004). Speaking positions on Indigenous violence. *HECATE*, 30, 47-55. Retrieved from

http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=200408082 ;res=IELAPA

Smith, L T. (1999). *Decolonizing methodologies: Research and Indigenous peoples*. Dunedin, NZ: University of Otago Press.

Smith, L. T. (2005). On tricky ground: Research in the age of reason. In NK Denzin & YS Lincoln (Eds.), *Handbook of qualitative research* (pp. 85-107). London: Sage.

Smith, L. T. (2012). *Decolonizing methodologies: Research and Indigenous peoples*. (2nd edn.). London: Zed books.

Snell, R., & Small, C. (2009). Best practice family violence services for Aboriginal women:

Nunga Mi:Minar incorporated. *Parity*, 22 (10), 46-47. Retrieved from

http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=590150133

493865;res=IELFSC> ISSN: 1032-6170.

Snowball, L., & Weatherburn, D. (2008). Theories of Indigenous violence: A preliminary empirical assessment. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Criminology*, 4(2), 216-235. doi: 10.1375/acri.41.2.216

Social Health Reference group (SHRG). (2004). *National strategic framework for Aboriginal* and Torres Strait Islander people's mental health and social and emotional wellbeing 2004-2009, National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Council and National Mental Health Working Group. Canberra: Department of Health and Ageing.

Stanley, K., Dulaney, P., & Martin, M. (2007a). Nurses 'eating our young' – it has a name: Lateral violence. *South Carolina Nurse*, 14(1), 17-18. Retrieved from http://www.scnurses.org/displaycommon.cfm?an=1&subarticlenbr=41

Stanley, K., Martin, M., Michel, Y., Welton, J., & Nemeth, L. (2007b). Examining lateral violence in the nursing workforce. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 28, 1247-1265. doi: 10.1080/01612840701651470.

Strelan, P., & Covic, T. (2006). A review of forgiveness process models and a coping framework to guide future research. *Journal of Social & Clinical Psychology*, 25, 1059-1085. Retrieved from

http://web.a.ebscohost.com.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?sid=166c 4047-8ddb-49ba-a44a-19e67510fe24%40sessionmgr4003&vid=1&hid=4214

Strelan, P., and Wojtysiak, N. (2009). Strategies for coping with interpersonal hurt: Preliminary evidence for the relationship between coping and forgiveness. *Counselling and Values*, 53, 97-110. doi:10.1002/j.2161-007X.2009.tb00117.x

Strelan, P., McKee, I., Calic, D., Cook, L., & Shaw, L. (2013). For whom do we forgive? A functional analysis of forgiveness. *Personal Relationships*, 20, 124-130. doi:10.111/j.1475-6811.2012.01400.x

Strelan, P., & Van Prooijen, J. (2013). Retribution and forgiveness: The healing effects of punishing for just deserts. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 43, 544-553. doi:10.1002/ejsp.1964

Strelein, L., & Tran, T. (2013). Building Indigenous governance from native title: Moving away from 'fitting in' to creating a decolonized space. *Review of Constitutional Studies*, 18(1), 19-47. Retrieved from

http://go.galegroup.com.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/ps/i.do?&id=GALE|A358057435&v=2.1 &u=adelaide&it=r&p=AONE&sw=w&authCount=1

Stokes, P. (2010). Nurturing new nurses: Don't eat your young. *Oklahoma Nurse*, 55(4). Retrieved from https://www.highbeam.com/doc/1G1-247448549.html

Stolper, D., & Hammond, J. (2010). *Australian Reconciliation Barometer 2010*, Reconciliation Australia.

Sutton, P. (2001). The politics of suffering: Indigenous policy in Australia since the 1970s, *Anthropological Forum*, 11(2), 125-173. doi: 10.1080/00664670125674

Thomas, E., & Pedersen, A. (2015). What Psychology says about how you should respond to racist behaviour. *The conversation*. Retrieved from https://theconversation.com/what-psychology-says-about-how-you-should-respond-to-racist-behaviour-45599

Tyson, K., Darity, W., & Castellino, D. (2005). It's not "a Black Thing":

Understanding the burden of acting white and other dilemmas of high achievement. *American Sociological Review*, 70, 582-605. doi: 10.1177/000312240507000403

Ungunmerr-Baumann, Miriam-Rose. (2002). *Dadirri: Inner deep listening and quiet still awareness*. Retrieved from http://nextwave.org.au/wp-content/uploads/Dadirri-Inner-Deep-Listening-M-R-Ungunmerr-Bauman-Refl.pdf

Walrafen, N., Brewer, M. K., & Mulvenon, C. (2012). Sadly caught up in the moment. *Nursing Economics*, 30(1), 6-49. Retrieved from

http://web.b.ebscohost.com.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?sid=cd86 64d3-3f37-4c33-904e-da89a3d887cf%40sessionmgr120&vid=1&hid=124

Wanganeen, R. (2014). Seven phases to integrating loss and grief. In P. Dudgeon, H. Milroy & R. Walker (Eds.), *Working Together: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mental Health and Wellbeing Principles and Practice* (2nd edition) (pp. 475-492). Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

Waterworth, P., Rosenberg, M., Braham, R., Pescud, M., & Dimmock, J. (2014). The effect of social support on the health of Indigenous Australians in a metropolitan community. *Social Science and Medicine*, 119, 139-146. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.08.035

Waterworth, P., Pescud, M., Braham, R., Dimmock, J., & Rosenberg, M. (2015). Factors influencing the health behaviour of Indigenous Australians: Perspectives from support people. *PLoS ONE*, 10(11), e0142323.doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0142323

Watson, I. (2009). Aboriginality and the violence of colonialism, *Borderlands e-journal*, 8(1), 894-921. Retrieved from

http://go.galegroup.com.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/ps/i.do?id=GALE%7CA200917775&v= 2.1&u=adelaide&it=r&p=AONE&sw=w&asid=9d3a5a9140eba56db85f850b415b3dca>

Weber-Pillwax, C. (2001). What is Indigenous research? *Canadian Journal of Native Education*, 25(2), 166-174. Retrieved from

http://proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/login?url=http://search.proquest.com.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/docview/62286541?accountid=8203

Wells, M. (2000). Beyond cultural competence: A model for individual and institutional development. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, 17(4), 189-199. doi: 10.1207/S15327655JCHN1704_1

Willmon-Haque, S., & BigFoot, S. D. (2008). Violence and the effects of trauma on American Indian and Alaskan Native populations. *Journal of Emotional Abuse*, 8, 51-66. doi.org/10.1080/10926790801982410

Wilson, S. (2008). *Research is ceremony: Indigenous research methods*. Canada: Fernwood Publishing.

Wingard, B. (2010). A conversation with lateral violence. *International Journal of Narrative Therapy & Community Work*, 2010(1), 13-17. Retrieved from http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=020944441
308237;res=IELHEA

Winsor, J. (2001). Workplace bullying: From health worker to health worker across Australia. *Aboriginal and Islander Health Worker Journal*, 25(3), 4-8. Retrieved from

http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=192384835

454080;res=IELAPA

World Health Organisation (WHO). (2002). World report on violence and health. Geneva: WHO. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/world report/chapters/en/index.html

World Health Organisation (WHO). (2014) Global status report on violence prevention.

Geneva: WHO. Retrieved from

http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/status_report/2014/en/

Worth, R., & Squelch, J. (2015). Stop the bullying: The anti-bullying provisions in the fair work act and restoring the employment relationship. *University of New South Wales Law Journal*, 38(3), 1015-1045. Retrieved from

http://search.informit.com.au.proxy.library.adelaide.edu.au/documentSummary;dn=429717713
572339;res=IELFSC> ISSN: 0313-0096.

Yeh, C. J., Arora, A. K., & Wu, K. A. (2006). A new theoretical model of collectivist coping. Handbook on multicultural perspectives on stress and coping. Dordrech: Springer.

Young, H., Campbell, M., Spears, B., Butler, D., Cross, D., & Slee, P. (2016). Cyberbullying and the role of the law in Australian Schools. View of senior officials. *Australian Journal of Education*, 60(1), 86-101. doi: 10.1177/0004944115627557

Weisz, J. Rothbaum, F., & Blackburn, T. (1984). Standing out and standing in: The psychology of control in America and Japan. *American Psychologist*, 39(9), 955-969.

Ziersch, A., Gallaher, G., & Bentley, M. (2011). Responding to racism: Insights on how racism can damage health from an urban study of Australian Aboriginal people. *Social Science & Medicine*, 73, 1045-1053. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.06.058

Zubrick, S., Shepard, C., Dudgeon, P., Gee, G., Paradies, Y., Scrine, C., & Walker, R. (2014). Social determinants of social and emotional wellbeing. In P. Dudgeon, H. Milroy & R. Walker (Eds.), *Working Together: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Mental Health and Wellbeing Principles and Practice* (2nd edition) (pp. 93-112). Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Study 1. Invitation flyer to participants



You are invited to participate in a research project on

'Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia: From dilemmas to strategies'

If you are:

for your time.

- Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander;
- Aged between 18-75 years;
- Willing to give informed consent



Have a chat with you about lateral violence in the Aboriginal community, at a location that is convenient for you in Adelaide. For this project we want to explore what you know about lateral violence and how it affects you and those around you and how you might deal with it.

If you choose to be involved we will offer you a \$50 gift shopping voucher

If you are interested in participating or would like more information please contact Yvonne Clark on (08) 83137464 or email: yvonne.clark@adelaide.edu.au

This research has been approved by the Aboriginal Health Research Ethics Committee and the University of Adelaide Human Research Ethics Committee





Appendix 2: Study 1. Information sheet



You are invited to participate in the research project: Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia: From dilemmas to strategies

Who is involved in the research project?

My name is Yvonne Clark and the project will form part of my PhD at the University of Adelaide. I am of Kokatha/Wirangu descent from the West Coast of SA and have lived in Adelaide for approximately 37 years. I am a Clinical Psychologist who has had extensive experience working with local Aboriginal people. I am passionate about this topic and want to make sure the research is being conducted by someone experienced on the topic.

My supervisors for the research project are Professor Martha Augoustinos, School of Psychology, University of Adelaide and Associate Professor Jenny Baker, Yaitya Purruna Indigenous Health Unit, School of Population Health, Faculty of Health Sciences.

What the research project is about

The research project is about lateral violence, a term that was coined by Indigenous Canadians. It is used to describe how Indigenous people direct their dissatisfaction inward, such as toward themselves and toward each other. There has been very little research on lateral violence within the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in Australia. Thus the aims of the current study are to:

- Expand knowledge on lateral violence;
- Have a better understanding how the issue of lateral violence is perceived in the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia (SA);
- Explore its effects on individuals and communities; and explore the resilience and successful strategies
 participants have implemented to curb lateral violence; and
- Ensure there are sufficient resources available to assist people in preventing lateral violence in SA in the future

Moreover this study aims to understand lateral violence from your perspective; your perceptions and understandings and your views about strategies to curb lateral violence. In short we are interested in whatever you have to say about lateral violence and we would like to do this by having a yarn with you. The talk will be audio taped and then transcribed.

Benefits of the study

Understandings about lateral violence in the Aboriginal community appear to be unclear. It is hoped that the outcomes of the research will result in more guidance, talk, reading materials, resources, and community willingness to prevent and stop lateral violence in communities.

Confidentiality and privacy

Please be reassured that all interview material will be anonymous and your identity or personal information will be kept strictly confidential and not be made available to anyone other than myself as the researcher. If examples from the interviews are used in the published thesis we will ensure that no one will be able to identify you by using pseudonyms and deleting any personal information that may identify you.

The only time confidentiality maybe breached is if you tell me about any illegal or abusive activities, in regard to children and young people, that you know of or have been part of. I will then be obligated to inform the relevant child

protection authorities as a mandatory reporter. You need to also be aware that any information gathered from you could be obtained by court order. However this is very unlikely and will be further explained prior to commencing the research.

Your rights

Your participation in this study is totally voluntary, you are not obliged in any way to participate and you have the right to withdraw from the research at any stage, for any reason without penalty or loss of benefits to which you would otherwise be entitled. You can refuse to answer any questions and you can stop participating at any time if you choose not to participate anymore.

Potential risks

There are no potential risks to the study. However given that lateral violence is a sensitive topic and people may have experienced such violence you may become a little uncomfortable or distressed. As a qualified psychologist I will ensure that I am sensitive to your feelings and if required, will provide you with the names and contacts of appropriate counsellors

Incentives

We understand that everyone's time is valuable and we would like to offer a gift of \$50 Coles/Myer voucher for your time and effort. This is a gift of our appreciation for allowing me to talk to you to gain your valuable insight, thoughts and ideas about this sensitive topic of lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in South Australia.

Outcomes of the study

Much of the information gained from the research project will be used to further develop workshops about lateral violence; to produce resources and information to assist people with strategies to curb lateral violence. A journal or book article will be written and a number of presentations about the project will take place. You will be invited to attend

Approval

Before I can conduct the interviews, approval must be sought from the relevant ethics committees. The researchers have gone to great lengths to ensure that participants' wellbeing and dignity is respected. This research project has been approved by the Aboriginal Health Research Ethics Committee (AHREC) and the University of Adelaide Human Research Ethics Committee. If you have any queries, complaints, ethical concerns about the project, or questions about your rights as a participant please contact the executive officer of the committee(s)

- Ms Sabine Schreiber, Secretary Human Research Ethics Committee, University of Adelaide. Ph. 83136028.
 Email: sabine.schreiber@adelaide.edu.au
- Dr Rosie King, Senior Research and ethics officer, Aboriginal Health Council of SA, (08) 82737261, email: rosie.king@ahcsa.org.au

How to contact the researchers

- Ms Yvonne Clark: yvonne.clark@adelaide.edu.au
- Professor Martha Augoustinos: martha.augoustinos@adelaide.edu.au
- Associate Professor Jenny Baker: jenny.baker@adelaide.edu.au

Appendix 3: Study 1. Wellbeing scales

Kessler Psychological Distress Scale - K5

Kessler Psyc					
For all questions, please fill in the	e appropria 1	ate respor	nse circle.	4	5
In the past 4 weeks:	None of the time	A little of the time	Some of the time	Most of the time	All of the time
1.About how often did you feel nervous?	0	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	—o
2. About how often did you feel without hope?	0—	- O	-0-	_0_	<u></u>
3. About how often did you feel restless or jumpy?	0—	-0-		_0_	_
About how often did you feel everything is an effort?	0—	-0-	- O-	-0-	<u></u>
5. About how often did you feel so sad that nothing could cheer you up?	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		-0-	_
T Total Score:_					

Scoring for K5

Minimum score 5, indicates no distress.

Low / moderate distress 5 - 11

High / very high distress 12 - 25

Maximum score 25, indicates severe distress.

Negative Life Events Scale

Negative Life Events Scale	Yes	No
Have any of these things been a worn else in your family during the last year		r anyone
Serious Iliness		
Serious accident		
Death of family member or close friend		
Divorce or separation		
Not able to get a Job		
Lost Job		
Alcohol related problems		
Drug related problems		
Seeing fights or people beaten up		
Abuse or violent crime		
Trouble with the police		
Gambling problem		
Member of family sent to Jail		
Overcrowding at home		
Discrimination/Racism		
Total		

Appendix 4: Study 2. Invitation letter to Organisations

Date



Title of Addressee

SCHOOL OF PSYCHOLOGY FACULTY OF HEALTH SDIENCES THE UNIVERSITY OF ADELAIDE 8A 5005 AUSTRALIA TELEPHONE +41 8 8313 5003 FACEBILLE +61 8 8313 3770

Re: 1 day workshop on 'preventing lateral violence' with Aboriginal staff/community

Dear

I write to seek your interest and support to convene a 1 day workshop on lateral violence with Aboriginal staff/community with your organisation. The purpose of the workshop, is to provide an understanding of it and to work towards preventing lateral violence' within the Aboriginal sector in SA. We would like to provide the training to approximately 20 participants

Our training consortium has been running information sessions and workshops on the topic of lateral violence within the Aboriginal community since 2007. The workshops have been requested by various Aboriginal employment and community sectors within SA. The workshops have in general been well received with positive feedback. See attachment 1 & 2 for biographies and background information about the workshops.

Because of my passion for the topic of lateral violence, I have taken leave from my employment to undertake my PhD at the School of Psychology, University of Adelaide. This is my second study in which I am seeking to evaluate the 'preventing lateral violence' workshops and determine whether participants have an increased understanding of lateral violence and have put in place some strategies within their contexts. This research component will require participants of the workshops to fill out short questionnaires which will take about 15 minutes in all. The research component has been approved by the relevant ethics committees. Please see research design and information sheet for study 2 in attachments 3 & 4.

The cost of delivering the work including facilitators, materials etc will be covered by the research institution (Adelaide University). However, an in-kind contribution by your organisation to cover training venue, lunch is welcomed and I am happy to discuss this further with you.

In the attachments I have also provided some background information about lateral violence and a draft outline of a one day schedule for your perusal.

If you would like to consider having a workshop with the small research component within your organisation, please contact me to discuss further via email or phone numbers below.

Yours sincerely

Yvonne Clark
PhD candidate (Lecturer and Clinical psychologist)
School of Psychology, University of Adelaide
(08) 83137484,
Email: yvonne.clark@adelaide.edu.au

Appendix 5: Study 2. Information sheet



You are invited to participate in the research project: Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia: From dilemmas to strategies

Who is involved in the research project?

My name is Yvonne Clark and the project will form part of my PhD at the University of Adelaide. I am of Kokatha/Wirangu descent from the West Coast of SA and have lived in Adelaide for approximately 37 years. I am a Clinical Psychologist who has had extensive experience working with local Aboriginal people and community. I am passionate about this topic and want to make sure the research is being conducted by someone experienced on the topic.

My supervisors for the research project are Professor Martha Augoustinos, School of Psychology, University of Adelaide and Associate Professor Jenny Baker, Yaitya Purruna Indigenous Health Unit, School of Population Health, Faculty of Health Sciences. The Research assistant is Joanne O'Connor, Honours student, University of Adelaide.

What the research project is about

The research project is about lateral violence which is a term used to describe how people in positions of powerlessness (i.e. Indigenous people) direct their dissatisfaction inward, such as toward themselves, toward each other and toward those less powerful than themselves. There is a lot of unknown information about lateral violence within Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in Australia. Thus the aims of the current study are to:

- Expand the knowledge on lateral violence;
- Have a better understanding how the issue of lateral violence is perceived in the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia (SA);
- Explore the effects on individuals and community; explore the resilience and successful strategies of participants in curbing lateral violence; and
- . Ensure there are sufficient resources available to assist people in preventing lateral violence in SA in the future.

This study will evaluate the current workshops that myself and colleagues have been involved in and co-developed as well as see if the workshops have made a different to your understanding, knowledge and actions toward preventing lateral violence. If you are involved in a workshop and agree to be part of this study you would be asked to fill out a number of questionnaires before and after the workshops which will take about 15 minutes in all to complete. We will also require a few volunteers to also talk to us about their experiences of the workshops and about strategies that they have utilised to prevent lateral violence.

Benefits of the study

Understandings about lateral violence in the Aboriginal community appear to be unclear. It is hoped that the outcomes of the research will result in improved workshops, more guidance, talk, reading materials, resources, and community willingness to prevent and stop lateral violence in communities.

Confidentiality and privacy

Please be reassured that all material will be anonymous and your identity or personal information will be kept strictly confidential and not be made available to anyone other than myself as the researcher. The evaluation design requires that I match your responses over 3 time periods and will therefore need to identify you for matching purposes. Further if examples from the interviews are used in the published thesis we will ensure that no one will be able to identify you by using pseudonyms and deleting any personal information that may identify you. The only time confidentiality maybe breached is if you reveal any illegal or abusive activities, in regard to children and young people, that you know of or have been part of. I will then be obligated to inform the relevant child protection authorities as a mandatory reporter. You need also to be aware

that any information gathered from you could be obtained by court order. However, this is very unlikely and can be further explained prior to commencing the research.

Your rights

Your participation in this study is totally voluntary, you are not obliged in any way to participate and you have the right to withdraw from the research at any stage, for any reason without penalty or loss of benefits to which you would otherwise be entitled. You can refuse to answer any questions and you can stop participating at any time if you choose not to participate anymore.

Potential risks

There are no potential risks to the study. However given that lateral violence is a sensitive topic and people may have experienced such violence you may become a little uncomfortable or distressed. As a qualified psychologist I will ensure that I am sensitive to your feelings and if required, will provide you with the names and contacts of appropriate counsellors

Incentives

If you volunteer to do a follow up interview (approximately 3 months after the workshop) we would like to offer a gift of \$50 Coles/Myer voucher for your time and effort. This is a gift of our appreciation for allowing me to talk to you to continue to gain your valuable insight, thoughts and ideas about this sensitive topic of lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in South Australia.

Outcomes of the study

Much of the information gained from the research project will be used to further develop workshops about lateral violence; to produce resources and information to assist people with strategies to curb lateral violence. A journal or book article will be written and a number of presentations about the project will take place. You will be invited to attend.

Approval

Before I can conduct the interviews, approval must be sought from the relevant ethics committees. The researchers have gone to great lengths to ensure that participants' wellbeing and dignity is respected. This research project has been approved by the Aboriginal Health Research Ethics Committee (AHREC) and the University of Adelaide Human Research Ethics Committee. If you have any queries, complaints, ethical concerns about the project, or questions about your rights as a participant please contact the executive officer of the committee(s)

- Ms Sabine Schreiber, Secretary Human Research Ethics Committee, University of Adelaide. Ph: 83136028. Email: sabine.schreiber@adelaide.edu.au
- Dr Rosie King, Senior Research and ethics officer, Aboriginal Health Council of SA, (08) 82737261, email: rosie.king@ahcsa.org.au

How to contact the researchers

- Ms Yvonne Clark: yvonne.clark@adelaide.edu.au
- Professor Martha Augoustinos: martha.augoustinos@adelaide.edu.au
- Associate Professor Jenny Baker: <u>jenny.baker@adelaide.edu.au</u>

Appendix 6: Study 2. Pre questionnaire

Pre-Workshop evaluation for 'Preventing Lateral Violence'

We are interested in your understanding, knowledge and activities around lateral violence in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community prior to completing the 1 day workshop on lateral violence. For each statement, please tick if you agree or disagree using a rating scale from "1" to "5".

- A rating of "1" indicates that you strongly disagree with the statement;
 A rating of "5" indicates that you strongly agree, and
- A rating of "3" is the level where you neither agree nor disagree.

	Categories	Strongl	Tick y y Disagree	our res	ponse Strongl	y Agree
	Training, motivation and expectations	1	2	3	4	5
1.	The objectives of the training were clearly defined prior to attending the workshop					
2.	I expect the training to equip me with the understanding and knowledge of lateral violence.					
3.	I expect to learn lots of and develop strategies to deal with lateral violence.					
4.	I am doing this training because I thought it would be useful in my work or community					
5.	My employer made me do the training					
6.	I had heard about this training from others who have done it					
7.	I knew about the training from the flyer					
S.	The training information was NOT provided in sufficient time for me to organize to attend training					
	Experiences, impact and attributes					
9.	I have never heard of lateral violence before undertaking the training					
10.	Lateral violence is a useful term in understanding violence in the Aboriginal community					
11.	Lateral violence DOES NOT adequately describe violence experienced by Aboriginal people					
	Lateral violence is a confusing term					
13.	Lateral violence describes my experiences of violence as an Aboriginal person/non-Aboriginal person					
14.	There are better ways of understanding Aboriginal violence than the concept of lateral violence					
15.	I know what lateral violence is all about					
16.	I have witnessed lateral violence					
17.	I have NOT seen lateral violence when it occurs in the workplace					
18.	I have NOT seen lateral violence when it occurs in the community					

PTO

19.	I understand the impact of lateral violence on individuals			
20.	I understand the impact of lateral violence in the workplace			
21.	I understand the impact of lateral violence in the community			
22.	I realize that I have been a victim of lateral violence at least once			
	(it happened to me).			
23.	I realize that I have been a perpetrator of lateral violence at least			
	once (I have committed lateral violence)			
24.	recognize are importance of preventing fateral violence from re-			
	occurring in various contexts			
25.	I am aware of a range of strategies to address lateral violence			
26.	I currently have some skills and strategies to address lateral			
	violence			

Can you please fill out the demographic information. This is for research purposes only and not used to identify you.

Are you: Aboriginal both Aboriginal a	Torres Stra	it Islander 🗆 der 🗀	Non-Aborig	inal 🗆	
Age category: 18-2	25□ 26-30□	31-35□	36-40□	41-45	
46-50□ 51-5	55□ 56-60□	61-65	66+□		
**For matching pu	rposes only- specif	y day and mo	onth of birth	ı (i.e. 19/09/)	/
Gender: Male	Female \square				
Education and/or tra	ining level reached:				
Primary School \Box	Secondary School	□if yes, yea	r level		
Apprenticeship 🗆	University	TAFE□	Other		

Thank You for your participation

Note: there will be another 2 short questionnaires which will assist us for research purposes. One will be at the end of the day and another will be provided for filling out in about 3 months time

Note: If you would like to volunteer to be interviewed in about 6 months time to see how you have dealt with lateral violence and to further discuss what strategies were successful please let one of the facilitators know.

[Type text]

Appendix 7: Study 2. Post questionnaire

Evaluation of the 1 day workshop 'Preventing lateral violence'

Workshop Objectives:

- To have a better understanding of lateral violence in Aboriginal communities and within the workplace
- To recognize how it is defined and where it has come from
- To understand how it is characterized and the forms it takes
- . To begin to realize the effects on the community
- To share stories and care for and support each other
- To enhance the connections between each other
- To work towards strategies to effectively deal with lateral violence and to help others
- To ensure participants feel emotionally and culturally safe.

We are interested in your assessment of the training provided and would like to ask you to complete the form. For each statement, please check if you agree or disagree using a rating scale & rating of "1" indicates that you strongly disagree with the statement and a rating of "5" indicates that you strongly agree and "3" is the level where you neither agree nor disagree.

Categories			ır resp gree - S		Agree
	1	2	3	4	5
The delivery of the Lateral Violence workshop					\vdash
The objectives of the training were clearly defined					Т
The topics covered were relevant					\vdash
The training was too technical and difficult to understand					
There was sufficient opportunity for interactive participation					
I did NOT get my questions answered during the training					
The materials were pitched at the right level					\vdash
The handouts for the training were helpful					\vdash
The schedule for the training provided sufficient time to cover all of					\vdash
the proposed activities in the program					
Facilitators					
The facilitators were knowledgeable about the topic					
The facilitators were well prepared for the session					\Box
The facilitators encouraged active participation					
The facilitators did NOT answer questions in a complete and clear					\vdash
manner					
The facilitators used variety of training methods					
The facilitators were respectful of the different skills and values					
presented by the participants					
The facilitators ensured that participants felt comfortable and safe					
Facility					

room and facilities provided a comfortable and safe e training				
_		- 1	3	1
A A		-	<u> </u>	
for the training was convenient for me	\sqcup			
ents and food provided were of good quality				
nt used during the sessions worked well				
iolence training will be useful in my work or				
es of the training have been met				
tisfied with my increased understanding of the topic				
lly very satisfied with all aspects of this training				
e the strategies I received during the training with		\neg		
as helpful to understand lateral violence in the	\vdash	\neg		
-				
-	\vdash	\neg		
provided me an opportunity to understand the values				
s will help me to build and maintain positive	\vdash			
-				
	\vdash			
	\vdash	-		
	\vdash			
Experiences, impact and attributes			Υ	
	\vdash		+-	_
_				
-	\vdash		+-	_
	\vdash		+-	-
	\vdash		+-	_
	\vdash		+-	_
	\vdash		+-	
	\vdash		₩	
cognise lateral violence when it occurs in the				
			Щ.	
cognise lateral violence when it occurs in the				
	1 1	- 1		I
	Ceneral Satisfaction: iolence training will be useful in my work or ses of the training have been met stisfied with my increased understanding of the topic lly very satisfied with all aspects of this training re the strategies I received during the training with as helpful to understand lateral violence in the community tion in the DVD on lateral violence in Canada relates to nce in Adelaide. provided me an opportunity to understand the values are will help me to build and maintain positive within the Aboriginal community ang was adequate mend this training to others Experiences, impact and attributes mace is a useful term in understanding violence in the community mace DOES NOT adequately describe violence by Aboriginal people mace is a confusing term mace describes my experiences of violence as an herson/non-Aboriginal person ter ways of understanding Aboriginal violence than the teral violence lateral violence is all about accognise lateral violence when it occurs in the	General Satisfaction: iolence training will be useful in my work or es of the training have been met stisfied with my increased understanding of the topic lly very satisfied with all aspects of this training re the strategies I received during the training with as helpful to understand lateral violence in the ommunity tion in the DVD on lateral violence in Canada relates to note in Adelaide. provided me an opportunity to understand the values arts of others es will help me to build and maintain positive within the Aboriginal community ing was adequate mend this training to others Experiences, impact and attributes ince is a useful term in understanding violence in the ommunity mee DOES NOT adequately describe violence by Aboriginal people mee is a confusing term mee describes my experiences of violence as an ierson/non-Aboriginal person tter ways of understanding Aboriginal violence than the uteral violence lateral violence is all about ecognise lateral violence when it occurs in the	Ceneral Satisfaction: iolence training will be useful in my work or es of the training have been met stisfied with my increased understanding of the topic lly very satisfied with all aspects of this training re the strategies I received during the training with as helpful to understand lateral violence in the community tion in the DVD on lateral violence in Canada relates to note in Adelaide. provided me an opportunity to understand the values arts of others es will help me to build and maintain positive es within the Aboriginal community ing was adequate mend this training to others Experiences, impact and attributes ence is a useful term in understanding violence in the community ence DOES NOT adequately describe violence by Aboriginal people ence is a confusing term ence describes my experiences of violence as an erson/non-Aboriginal person etter ways of understanding Aboriginal violence than the enteral violence lateral violence is all about ecognise lateral violence when it occurs in the	General Satisfaction: iolence training will be useful in my work or es of the training have been met titisfied with my increased understanding of the topic lly very satisfied with all aspects of this training re the strategies I received during the training with as helpful to understand lateral violence in the community tion in the DVD on lateral violence in Canada relates to noce in Adelaide. provided me an opportunity to understand the values are sof others es will help me to build and maintain positive within the Aboriginal community ing was adequate mend this training to others Experiences, impact and attributes more is a useful term in understanding violence in the community more DOES NOT adequately describe violence by Aboriginal people more is a confusing term more describes my experiences of violence as an erson/non-Aboriginal person tter ways of understanding Aboriginal violence than the steral violence lateral violence is all about ecognise lateral violence when it occurs in the

I understand the impact of lateral violence in the workplace I understand the impact of lateral violence in the community I have witnessed lateral violence			
I understand the impact of lateral violence in the community		\perp	
-		$\overline{}$	
I have witnessed lateral violence		- 1	T
		\top	+
I realize that I have been a victim of lateral violence at least once.		\top	+
I realize that I have been a perpetrator of lateral violence at least		\top	+
once.			
I recognize the importance of preventing lateral violence from re-		\top	+
occurring in various contexts			
I am <u>aware</u> of a range of strategies to address lateral violence		\top	+-+
I have some skills and strategies to address lateral violence		\top	+
			+
S			L
an you please fill out the demographic information (tick categories), Th	18 18 10r	researci	1
urposes only and not to identity you in anyway.			

Are you: Aboriginal Torre	es Strait Islander 🗆 Both Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 🗖 non-
Aboriginal	
Age category: 18-25 ☐ 26	-30 31-35 36-40 41-45 46-50 51-55 56-60
61-65 66+	
**For matching purpos	es only- specify day and month of birth (i.e. 19/09/)//
Gender: Male	Female
Education and/or training	level reached:
Primary School \square	Secondary School \square if yes, specify year level
Apprenticeship 🗆	University □ TAFE□ Other□

PTO

	How do you hope to make any changes in your life or your practice as a result of this training?
	Any additional comments?
]	Note: there will be another very short questionnaire coming out in about 3 months time which we would like you to complete. Note: If you would like to volunteer to be interviewed in about 6 months time to see how you have dealt with lateral violence please let one of the facilitators know. For the interviews participants will be given a \$50 Coles/Myer gift voucher.
	Thank You for your participation
	4

Appendix 8: Study 2. Three months post questionnaire

3 month Post-workshop evaluation for 'Preventing Lateral Violence'

We are interested in any skills and strategies you may have developed or put in place after your training on lateral violence (3 months ago).

We would like to ask you to complete the form. For each statement, please tick if you agree or disagree using a rating scale from "1" to "5".

A rating of "1" indicates that you strongly disagree with the statement and a rating of "5" indicates that you strongly agree and "3" is the level where you neither agree nor disagree.

Categories			ır resp		æ
	1	2	3	4	5
The delivery of the Lateral Violence workshop					
The objectives of the previous training on lateral violence were clearly defined					
The topics covered were relevant during training					
The training experience was useful and has helped me in my workplace					
The training experience has been useful and has helped me with community					
relationships					
I got most of my questions answered during the training					
The schedule for the training provided sufficient time to cover all of the					
proposed activities in the program					
I have read the training material provided					
The handouts for the training were useful for my understanding of lateral					
violence in the Aboriginal community					
the training material was easy to understand					
General Satisfaction:					
I am satisfied with my increased knowledge and understanding of the topic					
I was satisfied with all aspects of the training					
I have shared skills and strategies that I learnt during the training with others					
I have NOT been able to integrate my knowledge and understanding of lateral					
violence into my workplace					
I have NOT been able to integrate my knowledge and understanding of lateral					
violence into my community					
The training provided me an opportunity to understand the values and					
behaviours of others					
I have needed further debriefing, support or counseling since learning about					
lateral violence.					
Experiences, impact and attributes					
Lateral violence is a useful term in understanding violence in the Aboriginal					
community					
Lateral violence DOES NOT adequately describe violence experienced by					
Aboriginal people					
Adorrgman people					

Lateral violence is a confusing term Lateral violence describes my experiences of violence as an Aboriginal person			$\overline{}$
Lateral violence describes my experiences of violence as an Aboriginal person			+
There are better ways of understanding Aboriginal violence than the concept of			+
lateral violence			
I Do Not recognise lateral violence when lateral violence occurs in the			\top
workplace			
I Do Not recognise lateral violence when it occurs in the community			
I understand the impact of lateral violence on individuals			
I understand the impact of lateral violence in the workplace			
I understand the impact of lateral violence in the community			
I realize that I have been a victim of lateral violence at least once.			\top
I realize that I have been a perpetrator of lateral violence at least once.			
I recognize the importance of preventing lateral violence from occurring and re- occurring			
I am now aware of a range of strategies to address lateral violence	_		+
I have used the strategies that I learned to prevent lateral violence			+
I realize that I already had many strategies to prevent lateral violence	_		+
I have developed some new skills and strategies to address lateral violence (on	_		+-
your own after the workshop)			
I have recommended this training to others	_		+
re you: Aboriginal 🗆 Torres Strait Islander 🗀 Both Aboriginal and T	owner Str	ait Islanda	
	orres Str	ait isiande	r
_			
_	51-55 🗆 :	56-60□	
on-Aboriginal 🗆	51-55□	56-60□	
on-Aboriginal Age category: 18-25 26-30 31-35 36-40 41-45 46-50			
Age category: 18-25 26-30 31-35 36-40 41-45 46-50 61-65 66+ For matching purposes only- specify day and month of birth (i.e. 19			
on-Aboriginal Age category: 18-25 26-30 31-35 36-40 41-45 46-50 61-65 66+ For matching purposes only- specify day and month of birth (i.e. 19	/09/)	/	ear
Age category: 18-25 26-30 31-35 36-40 41-45 46-50 61-65 66+ For matching purposes only- specify day and month of birth (i.e. 19 fender: Male Female	/09/)	/	ear

Wha	at are the 3 main behaviours that you see as lateral violence?
	at changes (if any) have you made in your life or your practice as a result of the ral violence training?
	at additional training would you like to have or see developed in the future about al violence?
Any	additional Comments?
	Thank You for your participation
Note: If you would like to volunteer to be interviewed in the near future to discuss how you have used or developed strategies to deal with lateral violence, <u>please email Yvonne Clark</u> (<u>yvonne.clark@adelaide.edu.au</u>) or ring on 83137464	
	3

Appendix 9: Study 1 and 2. List of counsellors.

Counselling, Psychological Services and Resources for Mental health and Social and Emotional Wellbeing of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander People in Adelaide

Note: This is a comprehensive but not complete list of counselling services that Aboriginal people can utilise. It is up to date at the time of issue.

ALCOHOL AND DRUGS

<u>Alcohol and Drug Information Service (ADIS)</u> –Ph: 1300 131 340 (24hrs 7 days pw (24/7)) - Information, counselling and referral service for the general public, concerning family and friends, students and health professionals.

<u>Aboriginal sobriety group mobile assistance team.</u> - Ph: 82234204, mobile: 0411474368. Assists Aboriginal people who are under the influence of drugs and alcohol (24/7).

CHILDREN AND YOUTH SERVICES

Child Abuse Report Line - Ph: 131 478- To report child abuse, call the Child Abuse Report Line

Child Abuse Prevention Services - Ph: 1800 688 009 - Supportive, non-judgemental counselling for parents and carers who are afraid of hurting a child.

Crisis Care After hours service- Ph: 131 611

<u>Kids Help Line</u>- Ph: 1800 551 800 Free, confidential and anonymous, telephone and online counselling service specifically for young people aged between 5 and 18 years.

Youth Healthline. Ph: 1300 13 17 19. Confidential telephone health information and referral (i.e. physical health, mental health, relationships. Stress, sexuality, identity, drugs and alcohol)

<u>Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS).</u> Provides a range of therapeutic counselling services for children and adolescents from birth to 18 years of age and their families. Located in various locations in Adelaide (West (83411222), North (82520133), East (73214500), South (Onkaparinga: 83261234) (Marion 74258600), as well as the country (86 325 304, Toll Free: 1800 819 089). For these services Aboriginal families are given priority access

Ngartunna Patpangga (Children of the South)

This Aboriginal Child and Family Program, established within Southern CAMHS, provides a assessment and therapy service to Aboriginal children, young people and their families in the southern metropolitan regions of Adelaide. Ph: 8298774.

Headstart e-counselling services; Eheadspace provides online and telephone counselling you young people from 12-25 years old. Phone: 1800650890, web: https://www.eheadspace.org.au/

General web address for headspace is: http://www.headspace.org.au/about-headspace

DOMESTIC AND FAMILY VIOLENCE

National Sexual Assault Domestic Violence Counselling service Ph: 1800RESPECT (1800737732)

Domestic Violence Helpline- 1800 800 098 (24 hrs)

Telephone counselling for victims of domestic violence and their concerned friends & information about

services for those affected by domestic violence or who are troubled by their own behaviour. Gateway for Aboriginal services.

<u>Domestic Violence Crisis Service</u> 1300 782 200 (24 hours) Crisis counselling, support, referral to safe accommodation

Nungar Miminar Inc. Ph: 1300782200. Provides support, referral and accommodation to Aboriginal women and families in family violence situations.

Ninko Kurtangga Patpangga (Southern region domestic violence service) Ph: 82979644

CRISIS COUNSELLING

<u>Lifeline</u> -13 11 14 – The service offers a counselling service that respects everyone's right to be heard, understood and cared for. They also provide information about other support services that are available in communities around Australia. From 8pm to midnight 7 days per week.

GENERAL COUNSELLING

<u>NADA counselling, consulting and training</u> Ph: 83402240 Located at 1 Mary Street, Hindmarsh, 5007. A range of counsellors, from Psychologists and social workers, who provide a range of therapy, interventions and training. Many of the counsellors are experienced at working with Aboriginal clients.

<u>Nunkurwarrin Yunti</u>, Ph: 84061600. Nunkuwarrin Yunti provides a number of services. They provide a free and confidential service that assists Aboriginal people and their families to deal with many issues including grief & loss, depression, domestic & family violence, family and/or relationship matters and any other issues which impact on social and emotional wellbeing.

<u>Community Health Services.</u> The community health services provide a number of services. Many of them provide a counselling service. Information about local services can be located via the "SA community connect website" http://sacommunity.org/az/13768-Community Health Services?gclid=CKjl57b7nblCFfBUpgod1hQA-A

GAMBLING SERVICES

<u>Gambling Helpline</u> - 1800 858 858 - 24/7 - Counselling, information and referral for people who are concerned about their own, or another person's gambling.

LATERAL VIOLENCE

Lateral love: Website: http://www.lateralloveaustralia.com; Facebook: http://www.facebook.com/brian.butler.549

Twitter: http://twitter.com/DirectorButler;

LinkedIn: http://au.linkedin.com/pub/brian-butler/55/117/38a

LOSS AND GRIEF

AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE FOR LOSS & GRIEF: Rosemary Kudnarto Wanganeen - Counsellor/Educator Ph: 08 8341 5557, Mob: 0438 203032. E: rosemary@lossandgrief.com.au, W: www.lossandgrief.com.au

Other Websites:

Grieving Aboriginal way: http://www.indigenouspsychservices.com.au/publications.php

<u>Aboriginal grief and loss in SA (Murraylands).</u> A series of brochures was produced by The Rainbow Project - Helping with Grief and Trauma.

View leaflet: grief and loss in children:

http://www.adac.org.au/siteF/resources/l_children_gt.pdf

View leaflet: telling your story

http://www.adac.org.au/siteF/resources/L telling story gt.pdf

View leaflet: sorry business

http://www.adac.org.au/siteF/resources/l sorry business gt.pdf

MENS SERVICES

Mensline. Ph: 1300789978 (24 hour counselling and referral). Mensline Australia is a professional telephone and online support, information and referral service, helping men to deal with relationship problems in a practical and effective way. W: http://www.mensline.org.au

Mibbinbah- Ph: 07 4778 5818, mobile (CEO) 0416 173 975. Mibbinbah exists to create safe spaces for spirit healing, empowerment, celebration and education and training for Indigenous Men... W: .http://mibbinbah.org/

MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES

Mental Health Services in South Australia are provided through the public hospital system, and are made up of:

- Emergency & crisis services
- · Treatment services for people with mental illness
- Rehabilitation & recovery services
- Services for people with severe & persistent needs.

Emergency Services: -Ph: 13 1465- Statewide - South Australia, 24-hour Mental Health Telephone, Emergency & Crisis Intervention Service-

<u>Mental health review boards</u> – are legal government bodies established to conduct reviews, hear appeals and look after the legal rights of people with mental disorders being treated against their will as hospital patients or on community orders. The review boards are used after a person is admitted to hospital with a mental illness or mental disorder.

South Australia phone: 1800 800 501/ 08 83685600. Northern Territory- Phone 08 89991474

SANE Helpline: Ph: 1800187236- 9am to 5pm, Monday to Friday – Information and advice- Web: SANE Help line

Internet and website services for mental health

For Depression: Beyond blue- www.beyondblue.org.au/,

For schizophrenia, psychosis and other mental health disorders: www.sane.org, or www.eppic.org.au

PARENT SUPPORT

Parent Helpline: Ph: 1300 384 100 - 24/7 – Information, counselling and support for parents and carers of children including teachers. Information and support on health, behaviour, development and parenting for parents and carers of 0–25 year olds. W: http://www.cyh.com/subcontent.aspx?p=102

PSYCHOLOGY SERVICES

Indigenous Psychological Services: Ph: 08 93622036. IPS provides a number of services from training in cultural competency and mental health to community intervention programs http://www.indigenouspsychservices.com.au

<u>Find a Psychologist:</u> The Australian Psychology Association (APS) 'Find a Psychologist' service assists you to find a psychologist to suit your needs. Referrals are drawn from a data base of more than 2,600 APS registered psychologists around Australia. APS provide an online search, telephone service and email referral service to the general public, GPS and other health professions. http://www.psychology.org.au/FindaPsychologist/Default.aspx?ID=1204

RAPE AND SEXUAL ASSAULT/ABUSE

Yarrow Place Rape and Sexual Assault Service - 8226 8787 or (rural) 1800 817 421 Emergency medical and counselling services for people who have been raped or sexually assaulted. This is for individuals and families in any type of crisis.

Respond SA- Ph: 84192042 or free call from regional areas on 1800 182 325 or relationships Australia on 1300364277. Provides support to adults who have been subjected to childhood sexual abuse.

STOLEN GENERATION

<u>Link-Up services SA-</u> provides a national network of services supporting and assisting Indigenous people affected by past removal policies in tracing their genealogy and family history and potentially reuniting them with their families. Located at Nunkuwarrin Yunti of South Australia. Address: 182-190 Wakefield Street, Adelaide SA 5000. Phone: (08) 8223 5217

SUICIDE, AT RISK AND PREVENTION OF SUICIDE

<u>Suicide Helpline Call Back Service</u> - 1300 659 467 – (24/7) - Support for people at risk of suicide, people caring for someone who is suicidal or people bereaved by suicide. Service offers six sessions of 50 minute telephone counselling over a period of up to six m/0onths. http://www.suicideprevention.com.au/main/?id=5

WOMEN'S SERVICES

Women's Health Statewide

<u>Women's Health Statewide</u> is staffed by administrative workers, bi-cultural and bi-lingual workers, community health nurses, a medical practitioner, project workers and social workers.

Health and information service-Ph: 82399600; Women's Healthline-1300882880 (toll free within SA) and (Rural) 1800182098; Counselling service-(08) 82399600, Free call 1800182098

Women's Health Service Ph: 1800022222

Appendix 10: Study 1. Published article 1

19

What's in a name? Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia

Yvonne Clark Martha Augoustinos University of Adelaide

This article presents a thematic analysis of the naming and framing of lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide, South Australia. Lateral violence is a relatively under researched area within the Aboriginal community, yet this term has been applied with little consultation. Interviews with 30 Aboriginal participants examining their understandings of lateral violence identified five themes relevant to the labelling and acceptance of the term 'lateral violence'. By drawing on theories of oppression, social representations, stigma and racism many of the themes indicate the importance and relevance of an overarching label of lateral violence to describe the "infighting" behaviours that have been normalised within the Aboriginal community. Assurance of a label makes the concept of lateral violence tangible and therefore able to be addressed. Despite this labelling, awareness of the concept of lateral violence in Adelaide appears relatively low. Resistance and opposition from the Aboriginal community to lateral violence appear to be associated with the stigma and prejudice attached to 'violence'. Such a word can potentially render all Aboriginal people as intrinsically violent and therefore blameworthy, which can alleviate any responsibility for dealing with this chronic problem in broader society.

Recent understandings of lateral violence in Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities have been influenced largely by Canadian Indigenous interpretations and experiences of lateral violence (Australian Human Rights Commission, 2011b). In a Canadian context lateral violence is believed to exist within many Indigenous communities worldwide with the common causal explanation as oppression, colonisation, racism and intergenerational trauma (Bombay, 2014; Derrick, 2006; Native Women's Association Canada [NWAC] 2015). According to the Native Counselling Services of Alberta (NCSA) (2008) lateral violence is described as the way powerless people covertly and overtly direct their dissatisfaction inward, toward each other, toward themselves and toward those less powerful than themselves.

Some of the behavioural manifestations of lateral violence include gossip, jealousy, shaming others, verbal and physical attacks, sabotage and bullying (BearPaw Media, 2006; Derrick, 2006; Equay-Wuk, 2012; NWAC, 2015).

Accordingly such behaviours can be

triggered by differing levels of money, social status and education within communities, one's 'blood quantum' and links to culture and physical characteristics such as skin, eye and hair colour. The effects include feelings of shame, blaming mentality, lack of trust in others, and judgments within communities (Derrick, 2006) as well as physiological signs such as sleep disorders, weight loss or gain, and depression (NWAC, 2015).

In the Australian context this inward dissatisfaction and "infighting" within Aboriginal communities in South Australia (SA) is now also referred to as lateral violence. The literature on lateral violence also signifies colonisation and oppression as contributory factors for lateral violence in the Aboriginal community (AHRC, 2011b; Gorringe, Ross, & Fforde, 2009; Langton, 2008; Wingard, 2010). Colonisation in mainland Australia has been and arguably still is a process whereby Aboriginal peoples and their cultures are fragmented and disenfranchised. Australia's history of colonisation was founded upon draconian and racist laws and policies which acted to

The Australian Community Psychologist

The Australian Psychological Society Ltd

Volume 27 No 2 December 2015

Appendix 11: Study 1. Published article 2

Volume 1 | Issue 1 | Article 5 - Clark, Augoustinos, & Malin



Lateral violence within the Aboriginal community in Adelaide: "It affects our identity and wellbeing"

Volume 1 | Issue 1

Article 5, August 2016

Yvonne Clark (Kokatha and Wirangu) University of Adelaide

Martha Augoustinos University of Adelaide

Merridy Malin Retired

Abstract

The term "lateral violence" describes how members of an oppressed group direct their dissatisfaction inward. This paper reports on qualitative interviews with 30 local Aboriginal participants in Adelaide, South Australia. The purpose was to explore understandings, awareness, experiences, and effects of lateral violence. Most participants completed two questionnaires (the Kessler-5 and negative life events scales) in order to gain further insight into their wellbeing and its association with experiences of lateral violence. Overall, four major interpretative themes emerged from interviews: the predominantly covert and insidious nature of lateral violence; the

relationship between racism and lateral violence; challenges to identity as acts of lateral violence; and the destructive effects of lateral violence on wellbeing. The wellbeing scales indicated overall that participants' psychological distress was in the moderate range, with 29% scoring in the high/very high psychological distress range. Many of the participants with high distress levels relayed traumatic narratives of lateral violence and were exposed to a number of negative life events. It is hoped that by increasing awareness of lateral violence and its effects, this will assist in preventing lateral violence incidences within Indigenous communities.

Keywords: Lateral violence, racism, oppression, identity, wellbeing, trauma.

Acknowledgements. This research was supported by the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) for a grant for "Building capacity in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health research" which was awarded to the first author as a stipend. The second author was also one of the members named on the grant.

Introduction

Lateral violence (LV) refers to the ways oppressed and powerless people covertly and